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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the proxy statement related to thestegits 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders are incotpdray reference into P
Il of this annual report.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STA TEMENTS

We are including the following discussion to infowar existing and potential security holders gelheraf some of the risks ai
uncertainties that can affect our company and ke tdvantage of the “safe harbor” protection fomirdlooking statements that applica
federal securities law affords.

From time to time, our management or persons aaimgur behalf may make forwaloleking statements to inform existing
potential security holders about our company. gifitements other than statements of historicak famtluded in this report regarding
financial position, business strategy, plans ane@atives of management for future operations, itrgusonditions, and indebtedness cove
compliance are forward-looking statements. Whesdus this report, forwartboking statements are generally accompanied lmgster phrase
such as “estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “believe'expect,” “anticipate,” “target,” “plan,” “inteng “seek,” “goal,” “will,” “should,” “may” or
other words and similar expressions that conveytieertainty of future events or outcomes. Ilteor#@&mplating or making assumptions ak
actual or potential future sales, market size atxtations, and trends or operating results alsstitote such forward-looking statements.

LI} " ou ” o ” oW " u " ou "o, " o

Forward-looking statements involve inherent riske ancertainties, and important factors (many ofctvlare beyond our comparsy’
control) that could cause actual results to diffeterially from those set forth in the forwdabking statements, including the following: cr
oil and natural gas prices, our ability to raiseaocess capital, general economic or industry ¢iomdi, nationally and/or in the communitie:
which our company conducts business, changes iimtéiest rate environment, legislation or regulatequirements, conditions of the secur
markets, changes in accounting principles, policdeguidelines, financial or political instabilitygcts of war or terrorism, other econor
competitive, governmental, regulatory and techrii@etiors affecting our company’s operations, prasland prices.

We have based any forwalabking statements on our current expectationsamsdmptions about future events. While our managi
considers these expectations and assumptions teasmnable, they are inherently subject to sigmificbhusiness, economic, competit
regulatory and other risks, contingencies and uaitgies, most of which are difficult to predict carmany of which are beyond ¢
control. Accordingly, results actually achievedyndiffer materially from expected results in thesatements. Forwatddoking statements spe
only as of the date they are made. You shouldidengarefully the statements in “ltem 1A. Risk tas” and other sections of this rep
which describe factors that could cause our actallts to differ from those set forth in the forddooking statements. Our company does
undertake, and specifically disclaims, any obligatio update any forwarddoking statements to reflect events or circumstaraccurring afti
the date of such statements.

Readers are urged not to place undue reliancease forwardeoking statements, which speak only as of the datéis report. W
assume no obligation to update any forwkmaking statements in order to reflect any eventimmumstance that may arise after the date o
report, other than as may be required by appliciwleor regulation. Readers are urged to carefeljew and consider the various disclos
made by us in our reports filed with the Unitedt&eSecurities and Exchange Commission (the “SE@i¢h attempt to advise interested pa
of the risks and factors that may affect our bussndinancial condition, results of operation amgicflows. If one or more of these risk:
uncertainties materialize, or if the underlying Lamptions prove incorrect, our actual results mayy vaaterially from those expected
projected.




GLOSSARY OF TERMS
Unless otherwise indicated in this report, natges volumes are stated at the legal pressure b#se state or geographic area in wi
the reserves are located at 60 degrees Fahrer@reitle oil and natural gas equivalents are deteunirsing the ratio of six Mcf of natural ga
one barrel of crude oil, condensate or naturaligagis.
The following definitions shall apply to the tecbal terms used in this report.

Terms used to describe guantities of crude oil andatural gas:

“ Bbl.” One stock tank barrel of 42 U.S. gallons liqualume used herein in reference to crude oil, eosdte or NGLs.

“ Boe.” A barrel of oil equivalent and is a standard comienused to express oil, NGL and natural gas velsion a comparable
l(chguli_valent basis. Gas equivalents are determinddrithe relative energy content method by usingatie of 6.0 Mcf of gas to 1.0 Bbl of oil

“ Boepd.” Boe per day.

“ Btu or British Thermal Unit” The quantity of heat required to raise the terapure of one pound of water by one degree Fahienh

“ MBbl.” One thousand barrels of crude oil, condensatéG@Ls.

“ MBoe.” One thousand Boes.

“ Mcf.” One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

“ MMBDbI.” One million barrels of crude oil, condensateN@sLs.

“ MMBoe.” One million Boes.

“ MMBtu.” One million British Thermal Units.

“ MMcf.” One million cubic feet of natural gas.

“ NGLs.” Natural gas liquids. Hydrocarbons found inurat gas that may be extracted as liquefied patrolgas and natural gasoline.

Terms used to describe our interests in wells andceeage:

“ Basin.” A large natural depression on the earth’s sigfia which sediments generally brought by wateuawlate.

“ Completion.” The process of treating a drilled well followed tne installation of permanent equipment for thedpdion of crud
oil, NGLs, and/or natural gas.

“ Conventional play” An area that is believed to be capable of producingle oil, NGLs, and natural gas occurring in it
accumulations in structural and stratigraphic traps

“ Developed acreagé. Acreage consisting of leased acres spaced or afd@yto productive wells. Acreage included in spgainits
of infill wells is classified as developed acreagehe time production commences from the initiallin the spacing unit. As such, the addi
of an infill well does not have any impact on a gamy’s amount of developed acreage.




“ Development well: A well drilled within the proved area of a crudé, dGL, or natural gas reservoir to the depth ohtigraphic
horizon (rock layer or formation) noted to be praiilee for the purpose of extracting proved crudeMGL, or natural gas reserves.

“ Dry hole.” A well found to be incapable of producing hydro@arb in sufficient quantities such that proceedmftbe sale of sut
production exceed production expenses and taxes.

“ Exploratory well” A well drilled to find and produce crude oil, NGla, natural gas in an unproved area, to find a resgrvoir in
field previously found to be producing crude oilGNs, or natural gas in another reservoir, or t@esdta known reservoir.

“ Field .” An area consisting of a single reservoir or muitiptservoirs all grouped on, or related to, theesardividual geologici
structural feature or stratigraphic condition. Theld name refers to the surface area, althougmay refer to both the surface and
underground productive formations.

“ Formation.” A layer of rock which has distinct charactedstthat differs from nearby rock.

“ Gross acres or Gross wells.The total acres or wells, as the case may bahich a working interest is owned.

“ Held by operations. A provision in an oil and gas lease that extendsstiated term of the lease as long as drilling atjmers ar
ongoing on the property.

“ Held by production’ A provision in an oil and gas lease that extendsstiated term of the lease as long as the propestjuces
minimum quantity of crude oil, NGLs, and naturatga

“ Hydraulic fracturing.” The technique of improving a wedl’production or injection rates by pumping a migtaf fluids into th
formation and rupturing the rock, creating an mitif channel. As part of this technique, sand threo material may also be injected into
formation to keep the channel open, so that floidsatural gases may more easily flow through cnmétion.

“ Infill well. ” A subsequent well drilled in an established spacinifj to the addition of an already establisheddpobive well in th
spacing unit. Acreage on which infill wells arélldd is considered developed commencing with thigal productive well established in 1
spacing unit. As such, the addition of an infiglhdoes not have any impact on a company’s amofutiéveloped acreage.

“ Net acres” The percentage ownership of gross acres. Net aceedeemed to exist when the sum of fractionalevship working
interests in gross acres equals one (e.g., a 10%ingdnterest in a lease covering 640 gross asrequivalent to 64 net acres).

“ Net well.” A well that is deemed to exist when the sumratfional ownership working interests in gross s/etjuals one.
“NYMEX.” The New York Mercantile Exchange.
“ OPEC.” The Organization of Petroleum Exporting Courdrie

“ Productive well.” A well that is found to be capable of producing flogdirbons in sufficient quantities such that proseiom th
sale of the production exceed production expensesaxes.

“ Recompletion” The process of treating a drilled well followed thy installation of permanent equipment for thedpiion of crud
oil, NGLs or natural gas or, in the case of a drlehthe reporting of abandonment to the appropagency.




“ Reservoir.” A porous and permeable underground formation coimgia natural accumulation of producible crude WiELs and/c
natural gas that is confined by impermeable rockater barriers and is separate from other resexvoi

“ Spacing.” The distance between wells producing from tame reservoir. Spacing is often expressed in tefmasres, e.g., 4@e¢re
spacing, and is often established by regulatorycigs.

“ Unconventional play. An area believed to be capable of producing cruld&N&Ls, and/or natural gas occurring in cumulagigha
are regionally extensive but require recently depetl technologies to achieve profitability. Thaseas tend to have low permeability and
be closely associated with source rock as thiséschse with crude oil and natural gas shale, tigide oil and natural gas sands and coa
methane.

“ Undeveloped acreagé Leased acreage on which wells have not been doletmpleted to a point that would permit the prcitbr
of economic quantities of crude oil, NGLs, and naltgas, regardless of whether such acreage cerpagved reserves. Undeveloped acr
includes net acres held by operations until a pctidel well is established in the spacing unit.

“ Unit.” The joining of all or substantially all interestsa reservoir or field, rather than a single traztprovide for development a
operation without regard to separate property @stisr  Also, the area covered by a unitizationexgent.

“ Wellbore.” The hole drilled by the bit that is equipped f@atural gas production on a completed well. Alatbed well or borehole.
“ West Texas Intermediate or WTIA light, sweet blend of oil produced from thelfis in West Texas.

“ Working interest” The right granted to the lessee of a property maeg for and to produce and own crude oil, NGlatural gas ¢
other minerals. The working interest owners bearetkploration, development, and operating costsither a cash, penalty, or carried basis.

Terms used to assign a present value to or to cl#ysour reserves:

“ Possible reserves. The additional reserves which analysis of geoseiemzl engineering data suggest are less likelg retoverab
than probable reserves.

“ Pre-tax PV-10% or PV-10. The estimated future net revenue, discounted ateaaf 10% per annum, before income taxes anc
no price or cost escalation or de-escalation im@amnce with guidelines promulgated by the SEC.

“ Probable reserves. The additional reserves which analysis of geoseiemd engineering data indicate are less likelyetoecovere
than proved reserves but which together with praesdrves, are as likely as not to be recovered.

“ Proved developed producing reserves (PDP’sReserves that can be expected to be recoveredgthisting wells with existir
equipment and operating methods. Additional crmitieNGLs, and natural gas expected to be obtathemligh the application of fluid injecti
or other improved recovery techniques for suppleémgnthe natural forces and mechanisms of primagovery are included inpfovec
developed reservesly after testing by a pilot project or after thygeration of an installed program has confirmedugh production respor
that increased recovery will be achieved.

“ Proved developed non-producing reserves (PDNP’sProved crude oil, NGLs, and natural gas reservaisdte developed behi
pipe, shutin or that can be recovered through improved regowaly after the necessary equipment has beealledt or when the costs to dc
are relatively minor. Shut: reserves are expected to be recovered fromofhptetion intervals which are open at the timehaf éstimate b
which have not started producing, (2) wells thatenghutin for market conditions or pipeline connections(3) wells not capable of producti
for mechanical reasons. Behipipe reserves are expected to be recovered fromszionexisting wells that will require additionalnapletior
work or future recompletion prior to the start ebguction.




“ Proved reserves The quantities of crude oil, NGLs and natural gelsich, by analysis of geosciences and engineeratg, ¢an t
estimated with reasonable certainty to be econdipigmoducible, from a given date forward, from kwmo reservoirs, and under exist
economic conditions, operating methods, and govemmegulations, prior to the time at which consguroviding the right to operate exp
unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasprnadtain, regardless of whether deterministic orbpbilistic methods are used for
estimation. The project to extract the hydrocagbemust have commenced or the operator must bernaalgocertain that it will commence 1
project within a reasonable time.

“ Proved undeveloped drilling locatioh. A site on which a development well can be drillessistent with spacing rules for purpc
of recovering proved undeveloped reserves.

“ Proved undeveloped reservesr “ PUDs.” Reserves that are expected to be recovered fromwedie’on undrilled acreage, or fri
existing wells where a relatively major expenditiseequired for development. Reserves on undridlectage are limited to those drilling u
offsetting productive units that are reasonablyaierof production when drilled. Proved reservasditier undrilled units are claimed only wh
it can be demonstrated with certainty that theredatinuity of production from the existing prodet formation. Estimates for prov
undeveloped reserves will not be attributable tp @reage for which an application of fluid injectior other improved recovery techniqu
contemplated, unless such techniques have beeagsgdfective by actual tests in the area and irsétme reservoir.

0] The area of the reservoir considaggroved includes: (A) the area identified bylidigl and limited by fluid contaci
if any, and (B) adjacent undrilled portions of tleservoir that can, with reasonable certainty,usigéd to be continuous with it anc
contain economically producible crude oil, NGLsatural gas on the basis of available geosciendenagineering data.

(i) In the absence of data on fluid @ants, proved quantities in a reservoir are limtigdhe lowest known hydrocarbc
(“LKH") as seen in a well penetration unless geosciengimesting, or performance data and reliable teadgykstablishes a low
contact with reasonable certainty.

(iii) Where direct observation from wpknetrations has defined a highest known oil (“HKE&&vation and the potent
exists for an associated gas cap, proved oil resemay be assigned in the structurally higher @ostiof the reservoir only
geoscience, engineering or performance data amadbletechnology establish the higher contact wetisonable certainty.

(iv) Reserves which can be produced egdcelly through application of improved recoverghaiques (including, b
not limited to, fluid injection) are included inetproved classification when: (A) successful tegstiy a pilot project in an area of
reservoir with properties no more favorable thathi reservoir as a whole, the operation of arallest program in the reservoir or
analogous reservoir, or other evidence using fielisrhnology establishes the reasonable certafrttye engineering analysis on wr
the project or program was based; and (B) the prdjas been approved for development by all nepegsaties and entities, includi
governmental entities.

(v) Existing economic conditions inclugeces and costs at which economic producibilitynfra reservoir is to |
determined. The price shall be the average dutiegl®month period prior to the ending date of the perogered by the repa
determined as an unweighted arithmetic averaghkeofitst-day-of-thenonth price for each month within such period, sslprices ai
defined by contractual arrangements, excludinglasoas based on future conditions.

“ Standardized measurg& The estimated future net revenue, discounted ateaaf 10% per annum, after income taxes and wo
price or cost escalation, calculated in accordanith Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC932, formerly Statement of Financ
Accounting Standards No. 69 “Disclosures Aboutddil Gas Producing Activities.”
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012
PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview

We are an independent energy company engaged iactipgsition, exploration, development and productof oil and natural g
properties, primarily in the Bakken and Three Foftegnations within the Williston Basin in North Data and Montana. We believe
location, size and concentration of our acreagéipnsn one of North America’s leading unconvemiit oil-resource plays will provide drillir
and development opportunities that result in sigaift long-term value. Our primary focus is oilperation and production through non-
operated working interests in wells drilled and pteted in spacing units that include our acreay® a noneperator, we are able to diversify
investment exposure by participating in a large neinmof gross wells, as well as entering into maxgeet areas by partnering with numer
experienced operating partners. In addition, bezave can elect to participate on a wellviig# basis, we believe we have increased flexit
in the timing and amount of our capital expendiubecause we are not burdened with various contthdevelopment agreements or a |
operating support staff. Further, we are ablestiidaexploratory costs incurred by many oil and gasducers.

During 2012, we participated in the drilling andrgaetion of 563 gross (48.3 net) wells in the Btitin Basin. At December 31, 20
we owned working interests in 1,227 gross (106.9 peoducing wells, consisting of 1,222 wells tamgg the Bakken and Three Fo
formations and five exploratory wells targeting estiormations. As of December 31, 2012, we leagggroximately 179,131 net acres,
located in the Williston Basin, of which approxiralgt89,777 net acres were developed.

As of December 31, 2012, our proved reserves werg IMBoe (all of which were in the Williston Bagias estimated by our third-
party independent reservoir engineering firm, Ry8eott Company, LP, which represents 44% growtbuinproved reserves compared to
end 2011. The following table provides a summdrgestain information regarding our assets:

As of December 31, 201

Productive Wells

Average
Daily
Production Proved % Proved
Net Acres Gross Net @) Reserves % Oil Developec  PV-10©
(Boe per (in
day) (MBoe) thousands
North Dakote 138,49( 117: 97.¢ 10,40: 66,13 90% 44% $1,261,40:
Montana 40,64 54 8.2 462 1,461 91 77 25,99¢
Total 179,13: 122 106.2 10,86¢ 67,59 9C 45  $1,287,40

(1) Represents the average daily production over tte timonths ended December 31, 2(

(2) PV-10 is a no-GAAP financial measure. For further informatiordaeconciliation to the most directly comparable AAmeasures, s
“Item 2. Properties—Proved Reserveslie prices used to calculate this measure wer@3&er barrel of oil and $4.78 per Mcf of nat
gas, which includes an uplift factor of 1.7 to eeflliquids and condensates (natural gas liquidsremtuded with natural gas). The NYM|
benchmark used to calculate RU-was $94.71 per barrel of oil and $2.76 per Mdfas, translating to an average differential todbenarl
prices for us of $9.79 per barrel of oil and a premof $2.02 per Mcf of ga

Historically, we have acquired properties by pusth@ individual or small groups of leases diredtym mineral owners or from
landmen or lease brokers, as well as by purchdsase packages in identified project areas coetiolly specific operators. We have
increasingly focused our efforts on acquiring prtipe subject to specific drilling projects or inded in permitted or drilling spacing
units. We believe that our history of acquiring @nd gas interests in the Williston Basin, ourhyeaarticipation in the unconventional
development of the Bakken and Three Forks formatamd the relationships we have established wétvéiiious operators within the basin,
provide us a competitive advantage in our effartsegcure additional oil and gas properties withaWilliston Basin.




We seek to create value through strategic acreegeisitions and partnering with operators who haxperience in developing &

producing oil in our core areas. We have targesigetific prospects and have consistently partiegbam drilling programs in the Willistc
Basin. We have more than 25 experienced opergiartners that provide both technical capabilitiesl @dditional sources for acre:
acquisitions. Additionally, through our particijmat in 1,227 gross (106.2 net) producing wells, vewe assembled an extensive databa
information related to well performance for diffeteareas of the Williston Basin, which helps usleate acquisition opportunities and
drilling programs of our operating partners.

Business Strategy

Our business strategy is to create value for oarettolders by growing reserves, production and dashon a cosefficient basis. Ke
elements of our business strategies include:

« Continue Participation in the Development of Ouiisirg Properties in the Williston Basin as a I-Operator. Development of ot

existing position in the Williston Basin resourcéyp is our primary objective. We plan to contintee concentrate our capi
expenditures in the Williston Basin, where we badi@ur current acreage position provides an aiteaceturn on the capital employ
on our mult-year drilling inventory of o-focused propertie:

Diversify Our Risk Through N-Operated Participation in a Larger Number of Baklerd Three Forks Wel. As a no-operator, w
seek to diversify our investment and operatiorsd through participation in a large number of odll and with multiple operators.
of December 31, 2012, we have participated in 1@#®8s (106.2 net) producing wells in the Willist®asin with an average worki
interest of 8.7% in each gross well, with more tR&rexperienced operating partners. We expeabritirue partnering with numerc
experienced operators across our leasehold pasi

Make Strategic Acquisitions in the Williston Basih Attractive Prices. We generally seek to acquire small lease posit&ing
significant discount to the contiguous acreagetymos typically sought by larger producers. Astpdrthis strategy, we consider ar
that are actively being drilled and permitted arldere we have an understanding of the operatorsttaid drilling plans, capiti
requirements and well economics. Historically, veae acquired properties by purchasing individuaroall groups of leases direc
from mineral owners or from landmen or lease brekes well as purchasing lease packages in idshiifioject areas controlled
specific operators. We believe this acquisitiomtsgy will allow us to expand our operations dtaative prices. During 2012,
acquired 17,590 net acres at an average cost G@8&%lper acre, and earned an additional 6,450 nedsathrough farnin
arrangements. During 2011, we acquired approximd®239 net acres at an average price of $1,882aqe

« Maintain a Strong Balance Sheet and Actively Managemodity Price Risl Our goal is to remain financially strong, yetxflde, througl
the prudent management of our balance sheet aivé achnagement of commodity price volatility. Wamoy an active commodity pri
risk management program to better enable us touexemur business plan over the entire commoditgepdycle. Our current progri
includes a combination of swaps and costless colter a significant percentage of our expected ptimlu over a rolling 36nontt
horizon. The following table summarizes the oilidative contracts that we have entered into fahegear as of December 31, 20

Costless Collars

Average Average
Contract Period Volume (Bbl) Floor Ceiling
2013 2,153,26¢ $ 90.01 $ 104.17
2014 240,000 $ 90.0C $ 99.0¢




Swaps

Average
Contract Period Volume (Bbl) Price
2013 960,00( $ 91.8¢
2014 2,130,000 $ 91.6¢

Industry Operating Environment

The oil and natural gas industry is affected by ynfactors that we generally cannot control. Govezntiregulations, particularly in t
areas of taxation, energy, climate change andrikigomment, can have a significant impact on openatand profitability. Significant factc
that will impact oil prices in the current fiscatgr and future periods include: political and slodevelopments in the Middle East, deman
Asian and European markets, and the extent to winiembers of OPEC and other oil exporting nationsaga oil supply through exp
quotas. Daily WTI oil prices averaged $94.15 pamrdl in 2012 with a high of $109.77 per barreFebruary and a low of $77.69 per barre
June. Additionally, natural gas prices continubéaunder pressure due to concerns over excesly fipyatural gas due to the high producti
of emerging shale plays in the United States andimeed lower product demand caused by a weakepedoeny. Natural gas prices
generally determined by North American supply aethdnd and are also affected by imports of liquefiatural gas. Weather also he
significant impact on demand for natural gas sittea primary heating source.

Development

We primarily engage in oil and natural gas exploraand production by participating on a proporéitsmbasis alongside thighrty
interests in wells drilled and completed in spaaings that include our acreage. We typically ¢hepen drilling partners to propose, permit
initiate the drilling of wells. Prior to commengrilling, our partners are required to providecaners of oil, natural gas and mineral inter
within the designated spacing unit the opportutgtparticipate in the drilling costs and revenutthe well to the extent of their pmata share «
such interest within the spacing unit. We assash drilling opportunity on a case-logse basis and participate in wells that we exjoectee
our return thresholds based upon our estimateftiofate recoverable oil and natural gas, experfstne operator and completed well cost f
each project, as well as other factors. At thesgmetime we expect to participate pursuant toveorking interest in a majority of the we
proposed to us.

We do not manage our commodities marketing aativithternally, but our operating partners genenalrket and sell oil and natu
gas produced from wells in which we have an inter@ur operating partners coordinate the tranggiort of our oil production from our we
to appropriate pipelines or rail transport fa@ti pursuant to arrangements that such partnerdiaiegand maintain with various part
purchasing the production. We understand thatpauntners generally sell our production to a var@tyurchasers at prevailing market pr
under separately negotiated shtertm contracts. The price at which productioroisl gienerally is tied to the spot market for dillilliston Basir
Light Sweet Crude from the Bakken source rock isegally 4142 API crude oil and is readily accepted into thgefine infrastructure. Tt
weighted average differential reported to us by mneducers during 2012 was $9.79 per barrel bel&#IEX pricing. Our weighted avera
differential was approximately $2.17 per barrelopelNYMEX pricing during the fourth quarter of 201Zhis differential represents f
imbedded transportation costs in moving the oitfrevellhead to refinery and will fluctuate based arailability of pipeline, rail and oth
transportation methods.

Competition

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely catitige, and we compete with numerous other oil awadural gas exploration a
production companies. Some of these companiesduhatantially greater resources than we have.oNgtdo they explore for and produce
and natural gas, but also many carry on midstreadnrafining operations and market petroleum anerogimoducts on a regional, nationa
worldwide basis. The operations of other companiey be able to pay more for exploratory prospects productive oil and natural ¢
properties. They may also have more resourcegfine] evaluate, bid for and purchase a greaterbeurof properties and prospects than
financial or human resources permit.




Our larger or integrated competitors may have ¢iseurces to be better able to absorb the burdexigifng, and any changes to fede
state, and local laws and regulations more ealsdy twe can, which would adversely affect our coitipetposition. Our ability to discov
reserves and acquire additional properties in tieré will be dependent upon our ability and resesrto evaluate and select suitable propt
and to consummate transactions in this highly cditive environment. In addition, we may be at sagdivantage in producing oil and natural
properties and bidding for exploratory prospectscduse we have fewer financial and human resoutwas other companies in ¢
industry. Should a larger and better financed amyplecide to directly compete with us, and be esgfal in its efforts, our business coulc
adversely affected.

Marketing and Customers

The market for oil and natural gas that will bedarced from our properties depends on factors beponaontrol, including the exte
of domestic production and imports of oil and natgas, the proximity and capacity of natural ggelnes and other transportation facilit
demand for oil and natural gas, the marketing ofipetitive fuels and the effects of state and fddegulation. The oil and natural gas indu
also competes with other industries in supplyirggehergy and fuel requirements of industrial, coneciaéand individual consumers.

Our oil production is expected to be sold at prites to the spot oil markets. Our natural gagipotion is expected to be sold ur
shortterm contracts and priced based on first of thetmamdex prices or on daily spot market prices. ¥k on our operating partners
market and sell our production. Our operating rgag include a variety of exploration and produttemmpanies, from large publictyadec
companies to small, privatetywned companies. We do not believe the loss ofsamgle operator would have a material adverse effecou
company as a whole.

Title to Properties

Our properties are subject to customary royalteriggts, liens under indebtedness, liens incidemtptrating agreements, liens
current taxes and other burdens, including otherenal encumbrances and restrictions. Our credéesgent is also secured by a first lier
substantially all of our assets. We do not belithat any of these burdens materially interferénlite use of our properties or the operatic
our business.

We believe that we have satisfactory title to ghts in all of our producing properties. As istomsary in the oil and gas indust
minimal investigation of title is made at the tirokacquisition of undeveloped properties. In moastes, we investigate title only when
acquire producing properties or before commencewfethtilling operations.

Principal Agreements Affecting Our Ordinary Business

We do not own any physical real estate, but, imstear acreage is comprised of leasehold intesegifect to the terms and provisi
of lease agreements that provide our company tite to drill and maintain wells in specific geognap areas. All lease arrangements
comprise our acreage positions are establishedy usdustrystandard terms that have been established andimgbeé oil and natural g
industry for many years. Some of our leases maydzpiired from other parties that obtained the pabieasehold interest prior to «
acquisition of the leasehold interest.

In general, our lease agreements stipulate thrdvdoyear terms. Bonuses and royalty rates agotised on a case-lmase bas
consistent with industry standard pricing. Onosedl is drilled and production established, theskthacreage in the applicable spacing u
considered developed acreage and is held by ptiodudDther locations within the drilling unit cted for a well may also be drilled at any t
with no time limit as long as the lease is heldpbyduction. Given the current pace of drillingtlre Bakken play at this time, we do not bel
lease expiration issues will materially affect dlarth Dakota position.

Governmental Regulation and Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to various rules, reigms and limitations impacting the oil and natugals exploration and product
industry as whole.




Regulation of Oil and Natural Gas Producti

Our oil and natural gas exploration, production agldted operations, when developed, are subjeektiensive rules and regulatit
promulgated by federal, state, tribal and locaharities and agencies. For example, North Dakath Montana require permits for drilli
operations, drilling bonds and reports concernipgrations and impose other requirements relatirthecexploration and production of oil ¢
natural gas. Such states may also have statutegwlations addressing conservation matters, ifodugrovisions for the unitization or pooli
of oil and natural gas properties, the establishnoérmaximum rates of production from wells, an@ tegulation of spacing, plugging ¢
abandonment of such wells. Failure to comply vaitly such rules and regulations can result in snbatgenalties. The regulatory burder
the oil and natural gas industry will most likehcrease our cost of doing business and may aftegbmfitability. Although we believe we ¢
currently in substantial compliance with all applbte laws and regulations, because such rules egudations are frequently amendec
reinterpreted, we are unable to predict the futwst or impact of complying with such laws. Sigrdht expenditures may be required to cor
with governmental laws and regulations and may lzeweterial adverse effect on our financial conditind results of operations.

Environmental Matter

Our operations and properties are subject to extenand changing federal, state and local laws esgllations relating
environmental protection, including the generatistorage, handling, emission, transportation asdhgirge of materials into the environm
and relating to safety and health. The recent tremhvironmental legislation and regulation getigria toward stricter standards, and this tr
will likely continue. These laws and regulationsyma

e require the acquisition of a permit or other auittaiion before construction or drilling commenceas #or certain other activitie
e limit or prohibit construction, drilling and othactivities on certain lands lying within wildernessd other protected areas; :
e impose substantial liabilities for pollution resns from its operations

The permits required for our operations may beexibjo revocation, modification and renewal by iisguauthorities. Governmen
authorities have the power to enforce their regaiat and violations are subject to fines or injiorts, or both. In the opinion of managem
we are in substantial compliance with current ajgtlie environmental laws and regulations, and hevenaterial commitments for cap
expenditures to comply with existing environmemeduirements. Nevertheless, changes in existingr@mental laws and regulations ol
interpretations thereof could have a significanpaet on our company, as well as the oil and nagaslindustry in general.

The Comprehensive Environmental, Response, Compemsand Liability Act (‘“CERCLA”) and comparable state statutes im
strict, joint and several liability on owners angecators of sites and on persons who disposed afranged for the disposal ofidzardou
substancesfound at such sites. It is not uncommon for theyhledring landowners and other third parties to dlEms for personal injury a
property damage allegedly caused by the hazarddistasces released into the environment. The &eBesource Conservation and Reco
Act ("RCRA") and comparable state statutes govédra disposal of “solid waste” and “hazardous wastetl authorize the imposition
substantial fines and penalties for noncompliaAdaough CERCLA currently excludes petroleum framsdefinition of “hazardous substance,”
state laws affecting our operations may imposenelgaliability relating to petroleum and petroleuntated products. In addition, althot
RCRA classifies certain oil field wastes as “nomrzdraous,’such exploration and production wastes could bkssified as hazardous wa:
thereby making such wastes subject to more strirfgeamdling and disposal requirements.

The Endangered Species Act (“ESABeks to ensure that activities do not jeopardiziamegered or threatened animal, fish and
species, nor destroy or modify the critical habaétsuch species. Under ESA, exploration and ol operations, as well as actions
federal agencies, may not significantly impairewgardize the species or its habitat. ESA providesriminal penalties for willful violations
ESA. Other statutes that provide protection taraiand plant species and that may apply to ouradipas include, but are not necess:
limited to, the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Adhe Fishery Conservation and Management Act, thgrdtbry Bird Treaty Act and ti
National Historic Preservation Act. Although weibee that our operations will be in substantiamgdiance with such statutes, any chang
these statutes or any reclassification of a spesemndangered could subject our company (directigdirectly through our operating partne
to significant expenses to modify our operationsauld force discontinuation of certain operatiaitegether.




On April 17, 2012, EPA finalized rules proposed &iy 28, 2011 that establish new air emission asitfor oil and natural g
production and natural gas processing operatiopscifically, the EPAS rule package includes New Source Performanced&tds to addre
emissions of sulfur dioxide and volatile organienpmunds (“VOCs"and a separate set of emission standards to addrezasdous air pollutar
frequently associated with oil and natural gas potion and processing activities. The rules esthbtipecific new requirements regart
emissions from compressors, dehydrators, storame tand other production equipment. In additior, riiles revise leak detection requirem
for natural gas processing plants. These rules ragyire a number of modifications to the operatioh®ur thirdparty operating partne
including the installation of new equipment to gohemissions from compressors. Although we capnedict the cost to comply with these t
requirements at this point, compliance with them& rules could result in significant costs, inchglincreased capital expenditures and oper
costs, and could adversely impact our business.

These new regulations and proposals and any otherragulations requiring the installation of mooplsisticated pollution contr
equipment could have a material adverse impactuomasiness, results of operations and financiatitimn.

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972,tbe Clean Water Act (the “CWA”)imposes restrictions and controls on
discharge of produced waters and other pollutarits navigable waters. Permits must be obtainedsichdrge pollutants into state and fec
waters and to conduct construction activities inemaand wetlands. The CWA and certain state régakprohibit the discharge of produ
water, sand, drilling fluids, drill cuttings, sedamt and certain other substances related to trendilgas industry into certain coastal and offs
waters without an individual or general Nationallitant Discharge Elimination System discharge perim addition, the Clean Water Act &
analogous state laws require individual permitc@rerage under general permits for dischargesavistvater runoff from certain types
facilities. Some states also maintain groundwatetegtion programs that require permits for disgkar or operations that may img
groundwater conditions. Costs may be associated thé treatment of wastewater and/or developingiammementing storm water polluti
prevention plans. The CWA and comparable statetsgprovide for civil, criminal and administratipenalties for unauthorized discharge
oil and other pollutants and impose liability orrtfes responsible for those discharges, for théscokcleaning up any environmental darn
caused by the release and for natural resourcegimmasulting from the release.

The underground injection of oil and natural gastes are regulated by the Underground Injectionti@bprogram authorized by t
Safe Drinking Water Act. The primary objectiveinfection well operating requirements is to ensiine mechanical integrity of the inject
apparatus and to prevent migration of fluids fréva injection zone into underground sources of dinigkvater. Substantially all of the oil ai
natural gas production in which we have interestléseloped from unconventional sources that regoymraulic fracturing as part of t
completion process. Hydraulic fracturing involtbe injection of water, sand and chemicals undessure into the formation to stimulate
production. Legislation to amend the Safe DrinkiMater Act to repeal the exemption for hydrauliacturing from the definition
“underground injection’and require federal permitting and regulatory aantf hydraulic fracturing, as well as legislatipeoposals to requi
disclosure of the chemical constituents of thedBuused in the fracturing process, were propose@dant sessions of Congress. The
Congress continues to consider legislation to anlee®afe Drinking Water Act to subject hydrauliacturing operations to regulation under
Act’'s Underground Injection Control Program to requdisclosure of chemicals used in the hydraubcturing process.

Scrutiny of hydraulic fracturing activities contiesiin other ways. The federal government is ctiramdertaking several studies
hydraulic fracturingd potential impacts. Several states, including tdioa and North Dakota where our properties aretddgcahave als
proposed or adopted legislative or regulatory ig&ins on hydraulic fracturing. We cannot predidtether any other legislation will ever
enacted and if so, what its provisions would Headtlitional levels of regulation and permits wegquired through the adoption of new laws
regulations at the federal or state level, whichld¢dead to delays, increased operating costs aodeps prohibitions that would materi
adversely affect our revenue and results of operati




The National Environmental Policy Act, or NEPA,asdishes a national environmental policy and gémishe protection, maintenar
and enhancement of the environment and providesaesgs for implementing these goals within fedagagncies. A major federal agency ac
having the potential to significantly impact theveanment requires review under NEPA. Many of Hutivities of our thirdearty operatin
partners are covered under categorical exclusidrishwesults in a shorter NEPA review process. Thencil on Environmental Quality t
announced an intention to reinvigorate NEPA reviewd on March 12, 2012, issued final guidance ithay result in longer review proces
that could lead to delays and increased costcthadl materially adversely affect our revenues rasalts of operations.

Climate Change

Significant studies and research have been deuotetimate change and global warming, and climdtange has developed int
major political issue in the United States and gligh Certain research suggests that greenhousergissions contribute to climate change
pose a threat to the environment. Recent sciemdBearch and political debate has focused ingmadarbon dioxide and methane incident
oil and natural gas exploration and production.

In the United States, legislative and regulatorijigtives are underway to limit greenhouse gas simis. The U.S. Congress
considered legislation that would control GHG elfoigs through a “cap and tradgfogram and several states have already implen
programs to reduce GHG emissions. The U.S. Supfemnet determined that GHG emissions fall withie faderal Clean Air Act, or the CA
definition of an “air pollutant,’and in response the EPA promulgated an endangefindintg paving the way for regulation of GHG eniiges
under the CAA. In 2010, the EPA issued a final rileown as the “Tailoring Rulethat makes certain large stationary sources andficettbn
projects subject to permitting requirements foregteouse gas emissions under the Clean Air Act.

In addition, in September 2009, the EPA issuedhal fiule requiring the reporting of GHGs from sfiied large GHG emission sourt
in the United States beginning in 2011 for emission2010. On November 30, 2010, the EPA publishédal rule expanding its existing Gt
emissions reporting to include onshore and offsldrand natural gas systems beginning in 2012r thitd party operating partners are requ
to report their greenhouse gas emissions undee tiss. Because regulation of GHG emissionslégively new, further regulatory, legislati
and judicial developments are likely to occur. Isdevelopments may affect how these GHG initiativélsmpact us. Moreover, while the U
Supreme Court held in its June 2011 decision AraariElectric Power Co. v. Connecticut that, withpeegt to claims concerning Gt
emissions, the federal common law of nuisance wsadated by the federal Clean Air Act, the Couft ¢gen the question of whether tort cla
against sources of GHG emissions alleging propdstpage may proceed under state common law. Theserémains some litigation risk
such claims. Due to the uncertainties surroundive regulation of and other risks associated withGGemissions, we cannot predict
financial impact of related developments on us.

Legislation or regulations that may be adoptedddress climate change could also affect the mafketsur products by making ¢
products more or less desirable than competingcesunf energy. To the extent that our productscarepeting with higher greenhouse
emitting energy sources, our products would beconwe desirable in the market with more stringentithtions on greenhouse |
emissions. To the extent that our products arepedimg with lower greenhouse gas emitting energycas such as solar and wind, our proc
would become less desirable in the market with nstniegent limitations on greenhouse gas emissitds.cannot predict with any certainty
this time how these possibilities may affect ouverggpions.

The majority of scientific studies on climate charsyggest that stronger storms may occur in thedub the areas where we opel
although the scientific studies are not unanimoAithough operators may take steps to mitigate jolaysisks from storms, no assurance ca
given that future storms will not have a materlerse effect on our business.




Employees

We currently have 19 full time employees. As drdl production activities continue to increase, may hire additional technical
administrative personnel as appropriate. We doerpect a significant change in the number of tinle employees over the next 12 mo
based upon our currentpyrojected drilling plan. We are using and will tooe to use the services of independent consslemd contractors
perform various professional services. We belithag this use of thirgharty service providers enhances our ability tot@iongeneral ar
administrative expenses.

Office Locations

Our executive offices are located at 315 Manitob&rle, Suite 200, Wayzata, Minnesota 55391. Ouceofpace consists of 4,¢
square feet of leased space. We believe our dufiice space is sufficient to meet our needdlierforeseeable future.

Organizational Background

Our company took its present form on March 20, 20@¥en Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (“Northerrd) Nevada corporation engage
our current business, merged with and into our ididyy, with Northern remaining as the survivingoration (the “Merger”)Northern the
merged into us, and we were the surviving corponatiVe then changed our name to Northern Oil angl, G&. As a result of the Merg
Northern was deemed to be the acquiring companyfif@ncial reporting purposes and the transactias veccounted for as a reve
merger. Our primary operations are now those fdsnuperated by Northern as well as other busiaessities since March 2007.

On June 30, 2010, we reincorporated in the StaMimfiesota from the State of Nevada pursuant taa @f merger between Northi
Oil and Gas, Inc., a Nevada corporation, and Nontl@il and Gas, Inc., a Minnesota corporation ammblly-owned subsidiary of the Neve
corporation. Upon the reincorporation, each outitaq certificate representing shares of the Nevatporations common stock was deerr
without any action by the holders thereof, to reprg the same number and class of shares of oysasgrs common stock. As of June
2010, the rights of our shareholders began to berged by Minnesota corporation law and our curagtitles of incorporation and bylaws.

Available Information — Reports to Security Holders

Our website address is www.northernoil.corVe make available on this website under “InveBtelations,free of charge, our annt
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form@,Oeurrent reports on FormK-and amendments to those reports as soon as ey
practicable after we electronically file those mials with, or furnish those materials to, the SEXhese filings are also available to the publ
the SECS Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Rds80,1Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtafarimation on the operati
of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEQ-800-SECO330. Electronic filings with the SEC are alsoiklide on the SEC interr
website at www.sec.gav

We have also posted to our website our Audit CotemiCharter, Compensation Committee Charter, Namm&ommittee Chart
and our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, iitiaddo all pertinent company contact information.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to our Business

Oil and natural gas prices are volatile. A protra period of depressed oil and natural gas pricesld adversely affect our financial positio
results of operations and cash flow.

The oil and natural gas markets are very volatite] we cannot predict future oil and natural gésepr The prices we receive for
oil and natural gas production heavily influences i@venue, profitability, access to capital antifel rate of growth. The prices we receive
our production and the levels of our productionet@pon numerous factors beyond our control. TFeders include, but are not limited to,
following:




- changes in global supply and demand for oil andrahgas

« the actions of OPEC and other major oil produciogntries;

« the price and quantity of imports of foreign oildamatural gas

« political and economic conditions, including emlmseg, in oi-producing countries or affecting other-producing activity
« the level of global oil and natural gas exploratéo production activity

« the level of global oil and natural gas inventar

» weather conditions

« technological advances affecting energy consump

« domestic and foreign governmental regulatic

« proximity and capacity of oil and natural gas pipe$ and other transportation facilitir

« the price and availability of competit’ supplies of oil and natural gas in captive markeas; anc
« the price and availability of alternative fue

Lower oil and natural gas prices may not only daseeour revenues but also may reduce the amouwit afd natural gas that ¢
operators can produce economically and thereforengially lower our reserve bookings. A substdrdiaextended decline in oil or natural
prices may result in impairments of our proved anld natural gas properties and may materially aheraely affect our future busine
financial condition, results of operations, liguydbr ability to finance planned capital expendisir To the extent commodity prices rece
from production are insufficient to fund plannegital expenditures, we may be required to redueading or borrow or issue additional eq
to cover any such shortfall. Lower oil and natugak prices may also reduce the amount of our Waorgpbase under our revolving cre
facility, which is determined at the discretiontbé lenders based on the collateral value of ooveat reserves that have been mortgaged
lenders and is subject to redetermination from tionéme as provided in our credit agreement.

Our estimated reserves are based on many assumgtibat may prove to be inaccurate. Any material @caracies in these reserve estime
or underlying assumptions will materially affect éhquantities and present value of our reserves.

Determining the amount of oil and natural gas recable from various formations involves significantcertainty. No one can meas
underground accumulations of oil or natural gasainexact way. Oil and natural gas reserve engimgeequires subjective estimates
underground accumulations of oil and/or natural gad assumptions concerning future oil and natges prices, production levels, i
operating and development costs. Some of ourvesstimates are made without the benefit of athgngroduction history, and are less reli
than estimates based on a lengthy production kistas a result, estimated quantities of proveemess and projections of future produc
rates and the timing of development expenditures pnave to be inaccurate.

We routinely make estimates of oil and natural gaserves in connection with managing our businesspreparing reports to ¢
lenders and investors. We make these reserveagsmsing various assumptions, including assumpts to oil and natural gas prices, dril
and operating expenses, capital expenditures, tardsavailability of funds. Some of these assuomgtiare inherently subjective, and
accuracy of our reserve estimates relies in parthenability of our management team, reserve eeginand other advisors to make accl
assumptions. Any significant variance from thessuaptions by actual figures could greatly affaat estimates of reserves, the economi
recoverable quantities of oil, natural gas and N@ttsbutable to any particular group of propertigm® classifications of reserves based or
of recovery, and estimates of the future net chstst Numerous changes over time to the assumptionghich our reserve estimates are b
as described above, often result in the actual tifienof oil, natural gas and NGLs we ultimateBcover being different from our rese
estimates.
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Drilling for and producing oil, natural gas and NGk are high risk activities with many uncertaintig¢hat could adversely affect our financi
condition or results of operations.

Our operators'drilling activities are subject to many risks, ding the risk that they will not discover commatigi productive
reservoirs. Drilling for oil or natural gas can beeconomical, not only from dry holes, but alsonfrproductive wells that do not prodi
sufficient revenues to be commercially viable.attdition, drilling and producing operations on aareage may be curtailed, delayed or can
by our operators as a result of other factorspuutio:

« the high cost, shortages or delivery delays ofmgent and service

« shortages of or delays in obtaining water for hyticafracturing operations
« unexpected operational ever

« adverse weather conditior

« facility or equipment malfunction:

« title problems

« pipeline ruptures or spill:

- compliance with environmental and other governmeaetguirements

« unusual or unexpected geological formatic

« loss of drilling fluid circulation

» formations with abnormal pressur

« environmental hazards, such as oil, natural gagetirfluids spills or releases, pipeline or tanktures and discharges of toxic g
« fires;

« blowouts, craterings and explosio

« uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or wellifis; anc

« pipeline capacity curtailment

Any of these events can cause substantial logselading personal injury or loss of life, damageotodestruction of property, natu
resources and equipment, pollution, environmeratamination, loss of wells and regulatory pensltie

We ordinarily maintain insurance against varioussés and liabilities arising from our operationswéver, insurance against
operational risks is not available to us. Additityy, we may elect not to obtain insurance if wédidwe that the cost of available insuranc
excessive relative to the perceived risks preseritedses could therefore occur for uninsurabl@rinsured risks or in amounts in exces
existing insurance coverage. The occurrence oéwamt that is not fully covered by insurance coudtve a material adverse impact on
business activities, financial condition and resoltoperations.

If oil or natural gas prices decrease or drillingflerts are unsuccessful, we may be required to netavritedowns of our oil and natural ge
properties.

We could be required to write down the carryingueabf certain of our oil and natural gas properti&itedowns may occur when
and natural gas prices are low, or if we have doamvadjustments to our estimated proved resermesgdses in our estimates of operatir
development costs, deterioration in drilling resut mechanical problems with wells where the ¢osedrill or repair is not supported by
expected economics.
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Accounting rules require that the carrying valueodfand natural gas properties be periodicallyieeed for possible impairme
Impairment is recognized for the excess of bookivalver fair value when the book value of a propeaberty is greater than the expe:
undiscounted future net cash flows from that priypand on acreage when conditions indicate theyicgyvalue is not recoverable. We may
required to write down the carrying value of a pndp based on oil and natural gas prices at the tfrthe impairment review, or as a resu
continuing evaluation of drilling results, prodwstidata, economics, divestiture activity, and ofaetors. While an impairment charge refli
our longterm ability to recover an investment, reduces reported earnings and increases our leverage rétidses not impact cash or ¢
flow from operating activities.

Our future success depends on our ability to re@aeserves that our operators produce.

Because the rate of production from oil and natgaal properties generally declines as reservedegieted, our future success dep:
upon our ability to economically find or acquiredaproduce additional oil and natural gas reseréesept to the extent that we acq
additional properties containing proved reservesidact successful exploration and development iiesvor, through engineering stud
identify additional behingdipe zones or secondary recovery reserves, ouegroserves will decline as our reserves are peatluEuture o
and natural gas production, therefore, is highlpeselent upon our level of success in acquiringindifig additional reserves that
economically recoverable. We cannot assure yduatbawill be able to find or acquire and developliidnal reserves at an acceptable cost.

We may acquire significant amounts of unproved ertypto further our development efforts. Developiregnd exploratory drilling ar
production activities are subject to many risksjuding the risk that no commercially productiveesoirs will be discovered. We acquire t
proved and producing properties as well as undpeelacreage that we believe will enhance growtlergal and increase our earnings ¢
time. However, we cannot assure you that all e§¢hproperties will contain economically viableeress or that we will not abandon our ini
investments. Additionally, we cannot assure yai tmproved reserves or undeveloped acreage thatauére will be profitably developed, t
new wells drilled on our properties will be produetor that we will recover all or any portion airinvestments in our properties and reserves.

As a nor-operator, our development of successful operatioalies extensively on thirgharties, which could have a material adverse effen
our results of operation.

We have only participated in wells operated byddpiarties. Our current ability to develop succesbfidiness operations depend:
the success of our operators. If our operatormarsuccessful in the development, exploitationdpction and exploration activities relating
our leasehold interests, or are unable or unwiltmgerform, our financial condition and resultsagferation would be materially advers
affected.

Our operators will make decisions in connectiorhvtiteir operations (subject to their contractual begal obligations to other own
of working interests), which may not be in our biestrests.

Additionally, we may have virtually no ability toxercise influence over the operational decisionsusfoperators, including the sett
of capital expenditure budgets and drilling locaticand schedules. Dependence on our operators poedént us from realizing our tar

returns for those locations. The success and timirgvelopment activities by our operators wilpdad on a number of factors that will larg
be outside of our control, including:

« the timing and amount of capital expenditul
« their expertise and financial resourc

« approval of other participants in drilling wel
« selection of technology; ar

- the rate of production of reserves, if a
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We could experience periods of higher costs as\igtiin the Williston Basin accelerates or if commity prices rise. These increases ca
reduce our profitability, cash flow, and ability toomplete development activities as planned .

Recently, major international oil and gas compahige publicly announced significant acquisition gwint venture transactions witt
the Williston Basin. This has resulted in increaaetivity and investment in the region. As activitythe Williston Basin increases, competi
for equipment, labor and supplies is also expetiédcrease. Likewise, higher oil, natural gas Bi@L prices generally increase the deman
equipment, labor and supplies, and can lead tdages of, and increasing costs for, drilling equépmservices and personnel. Shortages
increasing costs for, experienced drilling crewd aquipment and services could restrict our opggapiartners’ability to drill the wells an
conduct the operations that we currently expect.

In addition, capital and operating costs in theamitl natural gas industry have generally risenndupieriods of increasing commaoc
prices as producers seek to increase productimrder to capitalize on higher commodity prices.situations where cost inflation exce
commodity price inflation, our profitability and sla flow, and our operatorgbility to complete development activities as scied and o
budget, may be negatively impacted. Any delayhedrilling of new wells or significant increasedrilling costs could reduce our revenues
cash available to make payments on our debt oldiggmt

Our lack of industry and geographical diversificath may increase the risk of an investment in oumepany.

Our business focus is on the oil and natural gdssiny in a limited number of properties that arengrily in the areas of the Willist
Basin located in Montana and North Dakota. Whilleeo companies may have the ability to manage tiighkrby diversification, the narrc
focus of our business, in terms of both the induidcus and geographic scope of our business, misansve will likely be impacted mc
acutely by factors affecting our industry or thgioa in which we operate than we would if our besiwere more diversified. As a result of
narrow industry focus of our business, we may leprdiportionately exposed to the effects of regiangdply and demand factors, delay
interruptions of production from wells in this areaused by governmental regulation, processingamsportation capacity constraints, ma
limitations, weather events or interruption of fiv@cessing or transportation of oil or natural gadditionally, we may be exposed to furt
risks, such as changes in field-wide rules andlatigms that could cause us to permanently or tearpp shutin all of our wells within th
Williston Basin. We do not currently intend to hden either the nature or geographic scope of usinéss.

Locations that the operators of our properties daeito drill may not yield oil or natural gas in camercially viable quantities

The cost of drilling, completing and operating dlvigoften uncertain, and cost factors can advgraiect the economics of a well. C
efforts will be uneconomical if the operators ofr quoperties drill dry holes or wells that are protive but do not produce enough tc
commercially viable after drilling, operating anther costs. If the operators of our propertied flriure wells that are identified as dry holes
drilling success rate would decline and may adweis#ect our results of operations.

Our derivatives activities could result in finandidosses or could reduce our cash flow.

We enter into swaps, collars or other derivativearggements from time to time to hedge our expegt@diuction depending
projected production levels and expected marketlitions. While intended to mitigate the effectsvofatile oil and natural gas prices, s
transactions may limit our potential gains and éase our potential losses if oil and natural gaeprwere to rise substantially over the f
established by the hedge.

Our actual future production may be significantighter or lower than we estimate at the time werente derivative contracts for su
period. If the actual amount of production is higtiean we estimate, we will have greater commogiige exposure than we intended. If
actual amount of production is lower than the nmlcamount that is subject to our derivative firiahimstruments, we might be forced to sa
all or a portion of our derivative transactionshaitit the benefit of the cash flow from our saléhaf underlying physical commodity, resulting
a substantial diminution of our liquidity. As a uétsof these factors, our hedging activities may e as effective as we intend in reducing
volatility of our cash flows, and in certain circatances may actually increase the volatility of cash flows. In addition, such transactions
expose us to the risk of loss in certain circunmstanincluding instances in which:
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» a counterparty to our derivative contracts is uaablsatisfy its obligations under the contra
« our production is less than expected

« there is a widening of price differentials betwagtivery points for our production and the delivegint assumed in the derivat
arrangemen

The present value of future net cash flows from oproved reserves is not necessarily the same astineent market value of our estimat:
proved reserve:

We base the estimated discounted future net cesls from our proved reserves using am@nth average price and costs in effec
the day of the estimate. However, actual futurecash flows from our oil and natural gas propentdsbe affected by factors such as:

« the volume, pricing and duration of our oil andunal gas hedging contrac
« actual prices we receive for oil, natural gas H@GLs;

« our actual operating costs in producing oil, na@tgas and NGLs

- the amount and timing of our capital expenditu

» the amount and timing of actual production; .

« changes in governmental regulations or taxa

The timing of both our production and our incurrerd expenses in connection with the developmedtpraduction of oil and natul
gas properties will affect the timing of actualuré net cash flows from proved reserves, and theis &ctual present value. In addition, the :
discount factor we use when calculating discoufiiagre net cash flows may not be the most apprtsdescount factor based on interest rat
effect from time to time and risks associated withor the oil and natural gas industry in genekaly material inaccuracies in these res
estimates or underlying assumptions will materiaffect the quantities and present value of ouernes, which could adversely affect
business, results of operations and financial ¢mrdi

Our business depends on oil and natural gas trangption and processing facilities and other ass#igst are owned by third parties.

The marketability of our oil and natural gas depeimdpart on the availability, proximity and capggadf pipeline systems, process
facilities, oil trucking fleets and rail transpditan assets owned by third parties. The lack @ilakle capacity on these systems and facil
whether as a result of proration, physical damagkeduled maintenance or other reasons, could iastile shutin of producing wells or tt
delay or discontinuance of development plans forpsaperties. The curtailments arising from thasd similar circumstances may last fro
few days to several months. In many cases, opgerate provided only with limited, if any, notice # when these circumstances will arise
their duration. In addition, many of our wells amdled in locations in the Williston Basin thateaserviced only to a limited extent, if at all,
gathering and transportation pipelines, which magnay not have sufficient capacity to transportduation from all of the wells in the area.
a result, we rely on third party oil trucking tamisport a significant portion of our productiorthird party transportation pipelines, rail loac
facilities and other market access points. Anyificant curtailment in gathering system or pipelicapacity, or the unavailability of sufficir
third party trucking or rail capacity, could advagsaffect our business, results of operationsfarahcial condition.
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Certain of our undeveloped leasehold acreage isjsabto leases that will expire over the next salgrears unless production is establishec
operations are commenced on units containing theeage or the leases are extended.

A significant portion of our acreage is not curherteld by production or held by operations. Uslpsoduction in paying quantities
established or operations are commenced on unitgicing these leases during their terms, the seadeexpire. If our leases expire and we
unable to renew the leases, we will lose our rightevelop the related properties. Drilling plémisthese areas are generally in the discreti
third party operators and are subject to changedban various factors that are beyond our constath as: the availability and cost of cap
equipment, services and personnel; seasonal comgtitiegulatory and third party approvals; oil, N&id natural gas prices; results of title w
gathering system and other transportation conssaiinilling costs and results; and production so#s of December 31, 2012, we estimate
we had leases that were not developed that repiees20,915 net acres potentially expiring in 208364 net acres potentially expiring in 2
and 22,744 net acres potentially expiring in 2015.

Seasonal weather conditions adversely affect opens’ ability to conduct drilling activities in the aras where our properties are located.

Seasonal weather conditions can limit drilling grdducing activities and other operations in ouerating areas and as a resu
majority of the drilling on our properties is geaky performed during the summer and fall monthke§e seasonal constraints can
challenges for meeting well drilling objectives aimtrease competition for equipment, supplies aedsgnnel during the summer and
months, which could lead to shortages and increasts or delay operations. Additionally, many mipdtities impose weight restrictions on
paved roads that lead to jobsites due to the maddglitions caused by spring thaws. This could lmeitess to jobsites and operateaisility to
service wells in these areas.

Significant capital expenditures are required topkace our reserves

Our exploration, development and acquisition atiéigirequire substantial capital expenditures.diically, we have funded our cap
expenditures through a combination of cash flownfroperations, our credit facility and equity isstes We have also engaged in asset
from time to time. If our access to capital weraited due to numerous factors, which could incladdecrease in operating cash flow du
lower oil and natural gas prices or decreased ptomhuor deterioration of the credit and capitalrkess, we would have a reduced abilit
replace our reserves. We may not be able to indditianal bank debt, issue debt or equity, engagasiset sales or access other metha
financing on acceptable terms to meet our res@placement requirements.

The amount available for borrowing under our créaliflity is subject to a borrowing base which etetmined by our lenders, at tt
discretion, taking into account our estimated ptbreserves and is subject to periodic redeterntinatbased on pricing models determine
the lenders at such time. The decline in oil andinah gas prices in 2008 adversely impacted theevaf our estimated proved reserves an
turn, the market values used by our lenders torahte our borrowing base. If commodity prices (fattrly oil prices) decline, it will hay
similar adverse effects on our reserves and bongWwase and reduce our ability to replace our veser

We may be unable to obtain additional capital thaé will require to implement our business plan, whicould restrict our ability to grow.

Future acquisitions and future exploration, develept, production and marketing activities, will ugég a substantial amount
capital. Cash reserves, cash from operations amdwings under our revolving credit facility magtrbe sufficient to fund both our continu
operations and our planned growth. We may reqadiditional capital to continue to grow our busings®ugh acquisitions and to furtl
expand our exploration and development programe.méy be unable to obtain additional capital if eunen required.

We may pursue sources of additional capital throughous financing transactions or arrangementsluding joint venturing c
projects, debt financing, equity financing or othegans. We may not be successful in consummatiitegote financing transactions in the ti
period required or at all, and we may not be ablgbtain the capital we require by other meanshdfamount of capital we are able to raise"
financing activities, together with our cash fropeaations, is not sufficient to satisfy our capieduirements, we may not be able to implel
our business plan and may be required to scale dac@perations, sell assets at unattractive pocebtain financing on unattractive terms,
of which could adversely affect our business, itesefl operations and financial condition.
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Our acquisition strategy will subject us to certaiisks associated with the inherent uncertainty @valuating properties for which we ha
limited information.

We have expanded our operations in part throughisitigns. Our decision to acquire a property wipend in part on the evalual
of data obtained from production reports and ergging studies, geophysical and geological analgsesseismic and other information,
results of which are often inconclusive and subjectarious interpretations. Also, our reviewsacfjuired properties are inherently incomg
because it generally is not feasible to perfornmagtepth review of the individual properties invohiedeach acquisition. Even a detailed re\
of records and properties may not necessarily tesasting or potential problems, nor will it petmis to become sufficiently familiar with t
properties to assess fully their deficiencies aotkmtial. Inspections may not always be performedaeery well, and environmental proble
such as ground water contamination, are not neglysshservable even when an inspection is undertak

Any acquisition involves other potential risks, linting, among other things:
« the validity of our assumptions about reservesireuproduction, revenues and co
- adecrease in our liquidity by using a significpattion of our cash from operations or borrowingagity to finance acquisition
- a significant increase in our interest expensénamtial leverage if we incur additional debt tasfince acquisition:
« the assumption of unknown liabilities, losses atsdor which we are not indemnified or for whialr indemnity is inadequat
« an inability to hire, train or retain qualified gennel to manage and operate our growing busimesassets; ar
« an increase in our costs or a decrease in our negesssociated with any potential royalty owndandowner claims or dispute

The loss of any member of our management team, updrose knowledge, relationships with industry paitiants, leadership and technic
expertise we rely could diminish our ability to cdact our operations, and harm our ability to exeeubur business plan.

Our success depends heavily upon the continuedrilcotidns of those members of our management tedmsg knowledg
relationships with industry participants, leadegpsaind technical expertise would be difficult tolese. In particular, our ability to successf
acquire additional properties, to increase our ruese to participate in drilling opportunities anad identify and enter into commerc
arrangements depends on developing and maintadhisg working relationships with industry partiaipg In addition, our ability to select ¢
evaluate suitable properties and to consummatesdcdions in a highly competitive environment is efggent on our management team’
knowledge and expertise in the industry. To carito develop our business, we rely on our manageteams knowledge and expertise in
industry and will use our management tesainglationships with industry participants, speeifly those of Mr. Reger our Chief Executive Offi
to enter into strategic relationships, which magetthe form of joint ventures with other privatetjs and contractual arrangements with ¢
oil and natural gas companies.

Although all of the members of our management téawve entered into employment agreements with &y, thay terminate the
employment with our company at any time. If we vy lose members of our management team, we ntayenable to replace the knowle
that they possess. In addition, we may not be tabdstablish or maintain strategic relationshijith wdustry participants. If we were to lose
services of the members of our management teanahilitly to conduct our operations and executeluginess plan could be materially harn
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Deficiencies of title to our leased interests codlignificantly affect our financial condition.

We typically do not incur the expense of a titl@eination prior to acquiring oil and natural gaaskes or undivided interests in oil
natural gas leases or other developed rights. Examination of the title history of a property eals that an oil or natural gas lease or «
developed rights have been purchased in error &@arson who is not the owner of the mineral irstedesired, our interest would substant
decline in value or be eliminated. In such cadesamount paid for such oil or natural gas leadeasres or other developed rights may be Ic
is generally our practice not to incur the expeokeetaining lawyers to examine the title to theneral interest to be acquired. Rather,
typically rely upon the judgment of oil and natugds lease brokers or landmen who perform thewiiglkl in examining records in t
appropriate governmental or county clerk’s offiegdre attempting to acquire a lease or other deeelaights in a specific mineral interest.

Prior to drilling an oil or natural gas well, howey it is the normal practice in the oil and naltgas industry for the person or comp
acting as the operator of the well to obtain aipielary title review of the spacing unit within vdhi the proposed oil or natural gas well is t
drilled to ensure there are no obvious deficientigile to the well. Frequently, as a result atls examinations, certain curative work mus
done to correct deficiencies in the marketabilityhe title, such as obtaining affidavits of heipsbr causing an estate to be administered.
curative work entails expense, and the operator ebagt to proceed with a well despite defects o titie identified in the preliminary tit
opinion. Our failure to obtain perfect title to deaseholds may adversely affect our current pridslu@nd reserves and our ability in the fu
to increase production and reserves.

Competition in obtaining rights to explore and ddep oil and natural gas reserves and to market qaroduction may impair our business.

The oil and natural gas industry is highly competit Other oil and natural gas companies may seekquire oil and natural gas lee
and other properties and services we will neederate our business in the areas in which we expegterate. This competition is increasit
intense as prices of oil and natural gas on thenoodities markets have risen in recent years. Aaitly, other companies engaged in our
of business may compete with us from time to timeobtaining capital from investors. Competitorslile larger companies which,
particular, may have access to greater resourashbmmore successful in the recruitment and rieteif qualified employees and may conc
their own refining and petroleum marketing operagiowhich may give them a competitive advantageaddition, actual or potent
competitors may be strengthened through the atipuisdf additional assets and interests. If we warable to compete effectively or resp
adequately to competitive pressures, our resultgefation and financial condition may be mateyialiversely affected.

Our hedging activities expose us to potential regfolry risks.

The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC"), Federal Ratguy Commission (“FERC"and the Commodities Futures Trading Commis
(“CFTC") have statutory authority to monitor certain segmeaitthe physical and futures energy commoditieskats. These agencies h
imposed broad regulations prohibiting fraud and ipalation of such markets. With regard to hedgaatjvities that we undertake with resg
to oil, natural gas, NGLs, or other energy commesijt we are required to observe the markétted regulations enforced by th
agencies. Failure to comply with such regulati@ssjnterpreted and enforced, could have a matadiegrse effect on our business, resul
operations and financial condition.
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The adoption of derivatives legislation by the Ustt States Congress could have an adverse effedwrability to use derivative instrumer
to reduce the effect of commodity price, intereata and other risks associated with our business

The United States Congress adopted comprehensiaecial reform legislation that establishes fedexadrsight and regulation of 1
over-theeounter derivatives market and entities, such aghat participate in that market. The new legistawas signed into law by t
President on July 21, 2010 and requires the CFR€,SEC and other regulators to promulgate rulesragdlations implementing the n
legislation. In December 2011, the CFTC extendetpteary exemptive relief for certain regulationplégable to swaps, until no later than .
16, 2012. The CFTC has issued final regulatiorsetgosition limits for certain futures and optmntracts in the major energy markets an
swaps that are their economic equivalents. Cebtaira fide hedging transactions would be exempt fiteese position limits. It is not possibl¢
this time to predict when the CFTC will make thesgulations effective. The financial reform legigla may also require us to comply w
margin requirements and with certain clearing aradle¢execution requirements in connection with our deire activities, although tl
application of those provisions to us is uncertdithis time. The financial reform legislation melgo require the counterparties to our derivi
instruments to spin off some of their derivativetivities to a separate entity, which may not beraslitworthy as the current counterparty.
legislation and any new regulations could signifibaincrease the cost of derivative contractslgding from swap recordkeeping and repor
requirements and through requirements to postteatlawhich could adversely affect our availablguldity), materially alter the terms
derivative contracts, reduce the availability ofidatives to protect against risks we encountetuce our ability to monetize or restructure
existing derivative contracts, and increase ouosMpe to less creditworthy counterparties. If weuce our use of derivatives as a result o
legislation and regulations, our results of operagimay become more volatile and our cash flows lpealess predictable, which could adver
affect our ability to plan for and fund capital exglitures or to make payments on our debt obligati&inally, the legislation was intendec
part, to reduce the volatility of oil and naturasgprices, which some legislators attributed taslagive trading in derivatives and commo
instruments related to oil and natural gas. Ouemees could therefore be adversely affected ifnseguence of the legislation and regulatio
to lower commodity prices. Any of these consequerzmuld have a material adverse effect on our kasinour financial condition, and
results of operations.

Our business is subject to complex federal, stdtmal and other laws and regulations that could agely affect the cost, manner
feasibility of doing business

Our operational interests, as operated by our-bartly operating partners, are regulated extensitetlie federal, state and local lev
Environmental andther governmental laws and regulations have isekahe costs to plan, design, drill, install, aperand abandon oil a
natural gas wells. Under these laws and regulagtimnscompany (either directly or indirectly thradugur operating partners) could also be li
for personal injuries, property and natural reseudtamage and other damages. Failure to complythdtbe laws and regulations may rest
the suspension or termination of our business arijest us to administrative, civil and criminal pdies. Moreover, public interest
environmental protection has increased in receatsyeand environmental organizations have opposét, some success, certain drill
projects.

Part of the regulatory environment in which we dsihess includes, in some cases, legal requirenfentsbtaining environment
assessments, environmental impact studies andios @f development before commencing drilling anetpction activities. In addition, ¢
activities are subject to the regulations regardiogservation practices and protection of cornedatights. These regulations affect our busi
and limit the quantity of natural gas we may pragand sell. A major risk inherent in the drillingups in which we participate is the need for
operators to obtain drilling permits from state dochl authorities. Delays in obtaining regulategyprovals or drilling permits, the failure
obtain a drilling permit for a well or the receipt a permit with unreasonable conditions or costsld have a material adverse effect or
development of our properties. Additionally, thearid natural gas regulatory environment could gkean ways that might substantially incre
the financial and managerial costs of compliandé tiese laws and regulations and, consequentigrsely affect our profitability. At this tim
we cannot predict the effect of this increase onresults of operations. Furthermore, we may begbwd competitive disadvantage to la
companies in our industry that can spread thesii@uil costs over a greater number of wells angeaoperating staff.

Environmental risks may adversely affect our busgse

All phases of the oil and natural gas businesseptesnvironmental risks and hazards and are sutjeetivironmental regulati
pursuant to a variety of federal, state and mualdgws and regulations. Environmental legislatiwavides for, among other things, restricti
and prohibitions on spills, releases or emissidnsadous substances produced in association viithnal natural gas operations. The legisle
also requires that wells and facility sites be aepst, maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to ttisfestion of applicable regulatc
authorities. There is risk of incurring significagnvironmental costs and liabilities as a restithe handling of petroleum hydrocarbons
wastes, air emissions and wastewater dischargatedeto our business, and historical operationssaasde disposal practices. Failure to cor
with these laws and regulations may result in thgeasment of administrative, civil and criminal gdées, loss of our leases, incurrenc
investigatory or remedial obligations and the inipas of injunctive relief.
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Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expect may result in stricter standards and eefoent, larger fines and liabil
and potentially increased capital expenditures @retating costs. The discharge of oil, natural@asther pollutants into the air, soil or ws
may give rise to liabilities to governments anddtparties and may require us to incur costs teetBnsuch discharge, regardless of whethe
were responsible for the release or contaminatimhragardless of whether our operating partnerspreatious standards in the industry at
time they were conducted. In addition, claims damages to persons, property or natural resouregsresult from environmental and ot
impacts of operations on our properties. The appiin of environmental laws to our business mayseaus to curtail production or increase
costs of our production, development or exploraotivities.

Federal and state legislative and regulatory initiees relating to hydraulic fracturing could resulin increased costs and additional operat
restrictions or delays.

The U.S. Congress is considering legislation thatilds amend the federal Safe Drinking Water Act gealing an exemption for 1
underground injection of hydraulic fracturing flsidear drinking water sources. Hydraulic fractyiisian important and commonly used pro
for the completion of oil and natural gas wellshale formations, and involves the pressurizectiige of water, sand and chemicals into |
formations to stimulate production. Sponsors efl#gislation have asserted that chemicals us#tkifracturing process could adversely a
drinking water supplies. If enacted, the legislaticould result in additional regulatory burdenshsas permitting, construction, finan
assurance, monitoring, recordkeeping, and pluggimg) abandonment requirements. The legislation glseposes requiring the disclosure
chemical constituents used in the fracturing predesstate or federal regulatory authorities, whmul then make such information publi
available. The availability of this information Wd make it easier for third parties opposing tlyerhulic fracturing process to initiate le
proceedings based on allegations that specific asnused in the fracturing process could advgraffect groundwater. In addition, sew
state and local governments are considering or hdopted legislative or regulatory restrictionshgdraulic fracturing through additional per
requirements, operational restrictions, and temypavapermanent bans on hydraulic fracturing intaierenvironmentally sensitive areas suc
watersheds. For example, Montana and North Dakawa both adopted regulations recently requirimgdisclosure of all fluids, additives, ¢
chemicals used in the hydraulic fracturing proceélse adoption of any federal or state legislat@nimplementing regulations impos
reporting obligations on, or otherwise limitingethydraulic fracturing process could lead to openal delays or increased operating costs
could result in additional regulatory burdens tbatild make it more difficult to perform hydraulia€turing and increase costs of compli
and doing business.

Climate change legislation or regulations restrinj emissions of “greenhouse gases” could resulirereased operating costs and reduced
demand for the oil and natural gas that we produce.

In December 2009, the U.S. Environmental Protecfigency (the “EPA”)determined that emissions of carbon dioxide, methrem
other “greenhouse gases” (“GHGJ)esent an endangerment to public health and thieoement because emissions of such gases aredaug
to the EPA, contributing to warming of the easthtmosphere and other climatic changes. Baséd findings, the EPA has begun adopting
implementing regulations to restrict emissions @femhouse gases under existing provisions of tearCAir Act (the “CAA”). On Septembi
22, 2009, the EPA issued a final rule requiringréyaorting of greenhouse gas emissions from spelcifirge greenhouse gas emission sourt
the U.S. beginning in 2011 for emissions occuriimg2010. On November 30, 2010, the EPA publishdiha rule expanding its existii
greenhouse gas emissions reporting rule to inahed®&in petroleum and natural gas facilities, whigle requires data collection beginning
2011 and reporting beginning in 2012. Our opegapiartners will be required to report certain afitlgreenhouse gas emissions under this
by September 28, 2012. On May 12, 2010, the EPéialgied a “tailoringtule, which makes certain large stationary souares modificatio
projects subject to permitting requirements foregteouse gas emissions under the CAA. In additloa,EPA has continued to adopt G
regulations of other industries, such as the M&@t2 proposed GHG rule restricting future developnoé coalfired power plants. As a res
of this continued regulatory focus, future GHG fagjons of the oil and gas industry remain a paksib However, several of the EP#&\’
greenhouse gas rules are being challenged in pgedint proceedings and, depending on the outcdmnsaah proceedings, such rules ma
modified or rescinded or the EPA could develop neles.

19




In addition, the U.S. Congress has from time teetoonsidered adopting legislation to reduce emissad greenhouse gases and ali
onehalf of the states have already taken legal meadoreeduce emissions of greenhouse gases printlrdygh the planned developmen
greenhouse gas emission inventories and/or reggmegnhouse gas cap and trade programs. Mosesé tbap and trade programs worl
requiring major sources of emissions, such asrégmbwer plants, or major producers of fuels, sashrefineries and gas processing plan
acquire and surrender emission allowances. Thebauwf allowances available for purchase is redwsth year in an effort to achieve
overall greenhouse gas emission reduction goa¢ &doption of legislation or regulatory programséduce emissions of greenhouse ¢
could require our thirgharty operating partners, and indirectly us, toumimcreased operating costs, such as costs tdgsecand oper:
emissions control systems, to acquire emissiomsvathces or comply with new regulatory or reportiequirements. Any such legislation
regulatory programs could also increase the costoosuming, and thereby reduce demand for, thearmil natural gas produced by
operational interests. Consequently, legislatioth @gulatory programs to reduce emissions of dn@ese gases could have an adverse effe
our business, financial condition and results arafions.

Decommissioning costs are unknown and may be sutséh Unplanned costs could divert resources frasther projects

We may become responsible for costs associatedplitiging, abandoning and reclaiming wells, pipedimnd other facilities that
use for production of oil and natural gas resenfdsandonment and reclamation of these facilitied the costs associated therewith is ¢
referred to as “decommissioningWe accrue a liability for decommissioning costsoagged with our wells, but have not establisheyl easi
reserve account for these potential costs in résgfeany of our properties. If decommissioningésjuired before economic depletion of
properties or if our estimates of the costs of denissioning exceed the value of the reserves rengaiet any particular time to cover si
decommissioning costs, we may have to draw on funmi® other sources to satisfy such costs. The afsether funds to satisfy su
decommissioning costs could impair our abilitydouds capital investment in other areas of our lassin
Our revolving credit agreement contains operatingcafinancial restrictions that may restrict our bursess and financing activities.

Our revolving credit agreement contains, and amyréuindebtedness we incur may contain, a numbeesifictive covenants that v
impose significant operating and financial resiwizs on us, including restrictions on our ability &mong other things:

« declare or pay any dividend or make any other itigfions on, purchase or redeem our equity interestpurchase or rede
subordinated deb

« make certain investment

« incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or issttain types of equity securitie
« create certain lien:

« sell assets

« consolidate, merge or transfer all or substantillyf our assets; ar

- engage in transactions with our affiliat

As a result of these covenants, we will be limitedhe manner in which we conduct our business,ve@manay be unable to engag:
favorable business activities or finance futurerapens or capital needs.
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Our ability to comply with some of the foregoingvemants and restrictions may be affected by evsmgsnd our control. If market
other economic conditions deteriorate, our abtlitgomply with these covenants may be impairedailtire to comply with the covenants, ra
or tests in our revolving credit agreement or anyrie indebtedness could result in an event ofullieéender our revolving credit agreemen
our future indebtedness, which, if not cured orwedj could have a material adverse effect on osinless, financial condition and result:
operations. If an event of default under our rewa credit agreement occurs and remains uncunedenders thereunder:

« would not be required to lend any additional amsuotus;

« could elect to declare all borrowings outstandtogether with accrued and unpaid interest and fedse due and payabl
« may have the ability to require us to apply albaf available cash to repay these borrowings;

« may prevent us from making debt service paymemdguour other agreemen

An event of default or an acceleration under ouoléng credit agreement could result in an evdrdefault and an acceleration un
other future indebtedness. Conversely, an evedéfafult or an acceleration under any future inelééss could result in an event of defauli
an acceleration under our revolving credit agreeémbn addition, our obligations under the revolyioredit agreement are collateralizec
perfected first priority liens and security intadsesn substantially all of our assets and if we @mable to repay our indebtedness unde
revolving credit agreement, the lenders could sed@reclose on our assets.

Our leverage and debt service obligations may adeér affect our financial condition, results of opegions and business prospects.
Our level of indebtedness could affect our openation several ways, including the following:

« require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofaagh flow from operations to service our existitedpt, thereby reducing the ¢
available to finance our operations and other kassiractivities and could limit our flexibility ingmning for or reacting to chan
in our business and the industry in which we oge

« increase our vulnerability to economic downturnd adverse developments in our busin

« limit our ability to access the capital marketsdtse capital on favorable terms or to obtain aolet financing for working capit:
capital expenditures or acquisitions or to refir@agisting indebtednes

« place restrictions on our ability to obtain addi&bfinancing, make investments, lease equipmeilitassets and engage in busi
combinations

« place us at a competitive disadvantage relativetopetitors with lower levels of indebtedness iatien to their overall size or le
restrictive terms governing their indebtedness;

- make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligens under our debt agreements and increase skehat we may default on ¢
debt obligations

Our ability to meet our expenses and debt obligatiwill depend on our future performance, whichl Wi affected by financie
business, economic, regulatory and other factdfs. will not be able to control many of these fastosuch as economic conditions
governmental regulation. We depend on our revgharedit facility for future capital needs, because use operating cash flows for inves
activities and borrow as needed. We cannot baicetthat our cash flow will be sufficient to allows to pay the principal and interest on
current and future debt and meet our other obbgati If we do not have enough money, we may beined|to refinance all or part of our de
sell assets, borrow more money or raise equity. nV& not be able to refinance our debt, sell asbetsow more money or raise equity on te
acceptable to us, if at all. Our ability to complith the financial and other restrictive covenantsur indebtedness will be affected by the le
of cash flow from our operations and future evemd circumstances beyond our control. Failureotoply with these covenants would resu
an event of default under our indebtedness, and ancevent of default could adversely affect owsifess, financial condition and result:
operations.
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Availability under our revolving credit facility isletermined semannually, as well as upon the occurrence of cemaints, by tF
lenders in their sole discretion, based primarity reserve reports that reflect our bangsbjections of future commodity prices at s
time. Significant declines in natural gas, NGlodrprices may result in a decrease in our borrgwiase. The lenders can unilaterally adjus
borrowing base and the borrowings permitted to ltstanding under the revolving credit facility. YAimcrease in the borrowing base reqt
the consent of all the lenders. If as a resuli bbrrowing base redetermination outstanding bdrrgsvare in excess of the borrowing base
must repay such excess borrowings immediately aeqgmal installments over six months, or we mustigeother properties as additic
collateral. We do not currently have any subsshntihpledged properties, and we may not have ttanéiial resources in the future to make
mandatory principal prepayments required underdhielving credit facility.

We may not be able to generate enough cash floméet our debt obligations.

We expect our earnings and cash flow to vary sicgnitly from year to year due to the cyclical natof our industry. As a result, 1
amount of debt that we can service in some penoag not be appropriate for us in other periodsdifi@hally, our future cash flow may
insufficient to meet our debt obligations and cotnmeints. Any insufficiency could negatively impaairdusiness. A range of econor
competitive, business and industry factors wilkeaffour future financial performance, and, as altesur ability to generate cash flow fr
operations and to pay our debt. Many of theseofacsuch as oil and natural gas prices, econonddiaancial conditions in our industry &
the global economy or competitive initiatives of aompetitors, are beyond our control.

If we do not generate enough cash flow from openatito satisfy our debt obligations, we may havertdertake alternative financi
plans, such as:

« refinancing or restructuring our de

« selling assets

« reducing or delaying capital investments
« seeking to raise additional capit

However, we cannot assure you that undertakingrnaitiee financing plans, if necessary, would allms to meet our de
obligations. Our inability to generate sufficierash flow to satisfy our debt obligations, or tdadb alternative financing, could materially
adversely affect our business, financial conditiesults of operations and prospects.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to iagrrate risk, which could cause our debt servitdigations to increase significantly.

Borrowings under our revolving credit facility beiaterest at variable rates and expose us to stteate risk. If interest rates incre
and we are unable to effectively hedge our inteagst risk, our debt service obligations on thaalde rate indebtedness would increase e\
the amount borrowed remained the same, and ounc@he and cash available for servicing our indeféss would decrease. A 1% increa:
interest rates on the debt outstanding under awoivimg credit facility as of December 31, 2012 Wwbgost us approximately $1.2 million
additional annual interest expense.

Despite our current level of indebtedness, we méil be able to incur substantially more debt. Thiould further exacerbate the ris|
associated with our substantial indebtedness.

We may be able to incur substantial additional lnteléness in the future, subject to certain linvtagi including under our revolvi
credit facility and under any future debt agreersemt new debt is added to our current debt levtls related risks that we now face ct
increase. Our level of indebtedness could, falaimse, prevent us from engaging in transactionsrtight otherwise be beneficial to us or fi
making desirable capital expenditures. This cquitlus at a competitive disadvantage relative heroless leveraged competitors that have
cash flow to devote to their operations. In additithe incurrence of additional indebtedness cowddte it more difficult to satisfy our existi
financial obligations.
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Item 1B. Un resol ved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Leasehold Properties
As of December 31, 2012, our principal assets deduapproximately 179,131 net acres located imtréhern region of the Unit

States. Net acreage represents our percentagestimef gross acreage. The following table sunimearour estimated gross and net devel
and undeveloped acreage by state at December 32, 20

Developed Acreage Undeveloped Acreage Total Acreage
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

North Dakota:

Mountrail County 109,64° 24.,61¢ 36,30¢ 9,49: 145,95: 34,101

Dunn County 47,53¢ 10,46 37,754 16,59t 85,24 27,06:

McKenzie County 47,58¢ 12,69¢ 38,13¢ 10,30¢ 85,72: 23,00z

Divide County 42,14° 12,81¢ 10,05: 5,15¢ 52,19¢ 17,97¢

Williams County 45,75t 12,47 20,39¢ 4,90¢ 66,15( 17,37¢

Other 52,04¢ 9,37t 62,95¢ 9,591 115,00¢ 18,967
North Dakote 344,71 82,44( 205,59° 56,05( 550,27 138,49(
Montana 28,04 7,33 100,94t 33,30« 128,35¢ 40,64

Total: 372,76. 89,77 306,54. 89,35¢ 678,63! 179,13:

At 2012 year end, approximately 50% of our totabage was developed. In addition, approximatebp @ our total acreage positi
was either developed, held by production, held pgrations or permitted as of December 31, 2012.0fAbur proved reserves are locate
North Dakota and Montan

Recent Acreage Acquisitions

In 2012, we acquired leasehold interests coverimgggregate of approximately 17,590 net acres mkey prospect areas, for
average cost of $1,788 per net acre. In additienearned approximately 6,450 net acres through-fiararrangements during 2012.

We generally assess acreage subject to near-tdtimgdactivities on a lease-by-lease basis becauséelieve each leasetontributiol
to a subject spacing unit is best assessed orbds# if development timing is sufficiently cleaConsistent with that approach, the majorit
our acreage acquisitions involve properties that“aand-picked” by us on a lease-lease basis for their contribution to a well expdcto b
spud in the near future, and the subject leasethareaggregated to complete one single closiniy thi¢ transferor. As such, we generally \
each acreage assignment from brokers, landmenthed parties as involving several separate aciprisittcombined into one closing with
common transferor for convenience. However, inaderinstances an acquisition may involve a langember of leases presented by
transferors as a single package without negotiatiom lease-by-lease basis. In those instancestilveeview each lease on a leasel&gst
basis to ensure that the package as a whole ma@esequisition criteria and drilling expectations.
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Acreage Expirations

As a noneperator, we are subject to lease expirations derator does not commence the development ofthpes within the agre:
terms of our leases. All of our leases for undepetl acreage summarized in the table below willrexgt the end of their respective primr
terms, unless we renew the existing leases, esttabimmercial production from the acreage or sotherd'savings clauseis exercised. |
addition, our leases typically provide that theskadoes not expire at the end of the primary tefrndrilling operations have be
commenced. While we generally expect to estalgliskluction from most of our acreage prior to expiraof the applicable lease terms, tt
can be no guarantee we can do so. The approxerpieation of our gross and net acres which argestibo expire between 2013 and 2017
thereafter, are set forth below:

Acreage Subject to Expiratior

Year Ended Gross Net
December 31, 201 66,13¢ 20,91¢
December 31, 201 74,62¢ 26,36¢
December 31, 201 100,11° 22,74«
December 31, 201 13,14: 7,90¢
December 31, 2017 and therea 4,881 2,14
Total 258,90¢ 80,07t

During 2012, we had leases expire in Montana, NewkYand North Dakota covering approximately 14,22 acres, of whic
approximately 12,991 net acres were prospectivahierBakken and Three Forks Formations in Montawsh Mdorth Dakota. The 2012 lei
expirations carried a $7.1 million cost that was$ferred to the costs subject to depletion. Wievsethat the expired acreage was not ma
to our capital deployed in these prospects. Weala@onsider the expiration of acreage during 2012 material.

Unproved Properties

All properties that are not classified as provedperties are considered unproved properties and, the costs associated with <
properties are not subject to depletion. Onceopenty is classified as proved, all associatedag@end drilling costs are subject to depletion.

We historically have acquired our properties bycpasing individual or small groups of leases diyefrom mineral owners or fro
landmen or lease brokers, which leases generaihg @t been subject to specified drilling proje@ad by purchasing lease package
identified project areas controlled by specific igters. We generally participate in drilling adi®s on a proportionate basis by electing whe
to participate in each well on a well-lyell basis at the time wells are proposed for iddll with the exception of three defined drillingpjects
with Slawson.

As of December 31, 2012, we were participatinghire¢ defined drilling projects with Slawson covgriapproximately 19,46%e!
acres. The Windsor project area includes appraein,063net acres, primarily located in Mountrail and surrding counties of Nor
Dakota. The South West Big Sky project includepragimately 5,44%otal net acres in Richland County, Montana. Tlaenhbert projec
includes approximately 11,955 total net acres thRind and Dawson Counties, Montana.

We believe that the majority of our unproved cosils become subject to depletion within the nextefiyears by proving up reser
relating to its acreage through exploration andettjpment activities, by impairing the acreage thiditexpire before we can explore or deve
it further or by determining that further explomatiand development activity will not occur. Thaitig by which all other properties will beco
subject to depletion will be dependent upon thentinof future drilling activities and delineatioh @ur reserves.

Production History

The following table presents information about punduced oil and natural gas volumes during the gealed December 31, 20
2011 and 2010. As of December 31, 2012, we wdliag®eil and natural gas from a total of 1,227 $8q106.2 net) wells. As of December
2011, we were selling oil and natural gas fromtaltof 664 gross (57.9 net) wells. As of Decentkier2010, we were selling oil and natural
from a total of 311 gross (26.0 net) wells. Alltbé foregoing wells were located within the Witltis Basin. All data presented below is der
from accrued revenue and production volumes forghevant period indicated.
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net Production:

Oil (Bbl) 3,465,31. 1,791,97! 849,84!
Natural Gas and NGLs (Mc 1,768,87. 800,20° 234,41
Barrels of Oil Equivalent (Boe 3,760,12: 1,925,34 888,91«
Average Sales Prices

Oil (per Bbl) $ 832 $ 86.01 $ 68.21
Effect of Loss on Settled Derivatives on Averageé(per Bbl) (0.1 (7.4¢) (0.55)
Qil Net of Settled Derivatives (per Bt 83.11 78.5% 67.7:
Natural Gas and NGLs (per Mc 4.67 6.6% 6.2€
Realized Price on a Boe Basis Including All Realipx®erivative Settlemen 78.7¢ 75.8¢ 66.3¢
Average Costs:

Production Expenses (per Bc $ 8.61 $ 6.77 $ 3.7C

Depletion of Oil and Natural Gas Properties

Our depletion expense is driven by many factorgiding certain exploration costs involved in thevelepment of producing reserv
production levels and estimates of proved resenantities and future developmental costs. Thevahg table presents our depletion expe
during 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Depletion of Oil and Natural Gas Propert $ 98,427,415 $ 40,81542 $ 16,884,56
Depletion Expense (per Bo $ 26.1¢  $ 21.2C % 18.9¢

Drilling and Development Activity

The following table sets forth the number of grass net productive and ngmeductive wells for all of our drilling and develmen
activity in the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012010. The following table does not includdisviat were awaiting completion, in -
process of completion or awaiting flowback subsetjte fracture stimulation. We have not partiogzhin any wells solely targeting natural
reserves. We have classified all wells drilleditte targeting the Bakken and Three Forks formataendevelopment wells. As of Decembe!
2012, we have had 100% success rate in our NotitbtBa@and Montana Bakken and Three Forks wells.
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Exploratory Wells:
0]] - - 1 - 2 0.4
Natural Gas - - - - - -
Nor-Productive - - 1 0.3 - -
Development Wells:
0]] 562 48.3 353 32.5 16¢ 16.4
Natural Gas - - - - - -
Nonr-Productive - - - - - -
Total Productive Exploratory ar

Development Wells 563 48.% 354 32.8 17C 16.¢

The following table summarizes our cumulative grasg net productive oil wells by state at each eE@&nber 31, 2012, 2011 ¢
2010.
At December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

North Dakote 1,17: 97.¢ 64z 54.4 30C 23.¢
Montana 54 8.3 22 3.E 11 2.1
Total 1,22 106.2 664 57.€ 311 26.C

Research and Development

We do not anticipate performing any significaniei@sh and development under our plan of operation.
Proved Reserves

We recently completed our most current reservaigirexering calculation as of December 31, 2012.

Based on the results of our December 31, 2012veseralysis, our proved reserves increased appadeiynd4% during 2012 primar
as a result of increased drilling activity involgimur acreage and our acquisition of acreage sutgespecific drilling projects or included
permitted or drilling spacing units. We incurregpeoximately $485 million of capital expenditures @rilling activities and $37 million fi
acreage acquisitions and other acreage relates doshg the year ended December 31, 2012, allhiélwdirectly contributed to the increas:
our proved developed reserves. No other expenditonaterially contributed to the development of ga\developed reserves in 2012.
proved undeveloped reserves increased by appraiyna®% during 2012 primarily as a result of dnigi activity and our acquisitions
acreage. Based on our independent reservoir esrgigefirm’s calculation of proved undeveloped reserves a®edfember 31, 201
approximately 24% of our proved undeveloped resewere converted to proved developed reserves@@®i2. Our development drilli
program includes the drilling of approximately 87%8oven undeveloped net wells before the end of52étl an estimated cost of $
million. Our development plan for drilling proveshdeveloped wells calls for the drilling of 26.9% meells during 2013, 41.4 net wells dur
2014 and 19.6 net wells during 2015, for a tota80® net wells. During 2012, our progress towardverting proved undeveloped reserve
proved developed reserves included the drilling emhpletion of 23.6 net undeveloped wells at al tetiimated net capital cost of $1¢
million. We expect that our proved undevelopeceress will continue to be converted to proved depetl producing reserves as additi
wells are drilled including our acreage. All ldcais comprising our remaining proved undevelopegmges are forecast to be drilled within
years from initially being recorded in accordandgthwur adopted development pl:

26




A reconciliation of the change in proved undevetbpeserves during 2012 is as follows:

MMBoe
Estimated Proved Undeveloped Reserves -31-2011 31.1
PUD's converted to PLC's during 201: (7.€)
Additional PUL's added during 201 5.2
Revisions of previous estimat (1.9
Estimated Proved Undeveloped reserves -31-2012 37.4

Preparation of our reserve report is outlined in $arbane©xley Act Section 404 internal control procedui@sr procedures requ
that our reserve report be prepared by a tpady registered independent engineering firm atahd of every year based on informatior
provide to such engineer. We utilize historical qarction and expense data for our wells, calculaéoiical differentials, validate workil
interests and net revenue interests, and obtaiateg@dauthorizations for expenditure (“AFE$fdm our operations department. This dai
forwarded to our thirgparty engineering firm for review and calculatio@ur Chief Executive Officer provides a final rewvief our reserv
report and the assumptions relied upon in suchrtepo

We have utilized Ryder Scott Company, LP (“Rydeot8, an independent reservoir engineering firm,oarr thirdparty engineerin
firm. The selection of Ryder Scott is approved by Audit Committee. Ryder Scott is one of the éatgreservoievaluation consulting firn
and evaluates oil and natural gas properties atependently certifies petroleum reserves quantibesarious clients throughout the Uni
States and internationally. Ryder Scott has sabataexperience calculating the reserves of variother companies with operations targe
the Bakken and Three Forks formations and, as suetelieve Ryder Scott has sufficient experiemcagpropriately determine our reser
Ryder Scott utilizes proprietary technology, systeand data to calculate our reserves commensuitiitéhie experience.

We employ an internal reserve engineer who is mesipte for overseeing the preparation of our reseestimates. Our internal rese
engineer possesses a B.S. in chemical and petra@agmeering from the University of Pittsburgh dras ten years of oil and gas experienc
the reservoir side. He has worked for large inddpats and financial firms on projects and acdaisst both domestic and international.
proved reserves tables below summarize our estimateved reserves as of December 31, 2012, based rgports prepared by Ry
Scott. The reports of our estimated proved resenveheir entirety are based on the informationpsavide to them. Ryder Scott is a Te
Registered Engineering Firm (80). Our primary contact at Ryder Scott is JameBaird, Managing Senior Vice President. Mr. Bais ¢
State of Colorado Licensed Professional Engineiee(ise #41521).

In accordance with applicable requirements of tB€ Sestimates of our net proved reserves and futetgevenues are made u
average prices at the beginning of each monthariL&month period prior to the date of such reserveregs and are held constant throug
the life of the properties (except to the extenbatract specifically provides for escalation).

The reserves set forth in the Ryder Scott reportife properties are estimated by performance rdstboanalogy. In general, resel
attributable to producing wells and/or reservoire @stimated by performance methods such as declimege analysis which utiliz
extrapolations of historical production data. Ress attributable to noproducing and undeveloped reserves included imeport are estimat:
by analogy. The estimates of the reserves, futuoeluction, and income attributable to properties repared using the economic softv
package Aries for Windows, a copyrighted prograrialliburton.

To estimate economically recoverable oil and natges reserves and related future net cash flovesceonsider many factors ¢
assumptions including, but not limited to, the afeeservoir parameters derived from geologicabpipgysical and engineering data which ca
be measured directly, economic criteria based orecticosts and SEC pricing requirements, and &stscof future of production rates. Ur
the SEC regulations 210M3(a)(22)(v) and (26), proved reserves must be dstrated to be economically producible based ostiex
economic conditions including the prices and castshich economic producibility from a reservoitdsbe determined as of the effective da
the report. With respect to the property interegsown, production and well tests from examinedisyelormal direct costs of operating
wells or leases, other costs such as transportatidfor processing fees, production taxes, recdmpland development costs and product p
are based on the SEC regulations, geological magklogs, core analyses, and pressure measurements
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The reserve data set forth in the Ryder Scott teppresents only estimates, and should not bercausas being exact quantities. T
may or may not be actually recovered, and if resediethe actual revenues and costs could be motessrthan the estimated amot
Moreover, estimates of reserves may increase oedse as a result of future operations.

Reservoir engineering is a subjective processtodhating underground accumulations of oil and reltgas that cannot be measure
an exact manner. There are numerous uncertaintiesant in estimating oil and natural gas reseanektheir estimated values, including m
factors beyond our control. The accuracy of angmes estimate is a function of the quality of aallié data and of engineering and geol
interpretation and judgment. As a result, estimafedifferent engineers, including those used hynuay vary. In addition, estimates of rese
are subject to revision based upon actual productesults of future development and exploraticiveies, prevailing oil and natural gas pric
operating costs and other factors. The revisiong Ioeamaterial. Accordingly, reserve estimates dienadifferent from the quantities of oil &
natural gas that are ultimately recovered and @t@yhdependent upon the accuracy of the assungptipon which they are based. Our estirr
net proved reserves, included in our SEC filingsjennot been filed with or included in reports ty ather federal agency. Seéem 1A. Risl
Factors -Our estimated reserves are based on many assusiii@nmay prove to be inaccurate. Any materiatéuracies in these rese
estimates or underlying assumptions will materiaffigct the quantities and present value of owemes.”

Ryder Scott prepared our reserve report valuingoooved reserves at December 31, 2012. The rephrés only our proved reser
and does not value our probable reserves or owiljeseserves. The following table sets forth estimated proved reserves based on the
rules as defined in Rule 4.10(a) of Regulation 84 Item 1200 of Regulation S-K (“SEC Pricing PrbReserves”).

SEC Pricing Proved Reserve§)

Pre-Tax

0]] Natural Gas Total PV10%
(MBbI) (MMcf) (MBoe) @ Value $M ©)
PDP Propertie 23,67¢ 15,01+ 26,18 $ 795,66¢
PDNP Propertie 3,661 2,33¢ 4,05¢ 42,83
PUD Propertie: 33,36¢ 23,92¢ 37,35¢ 448,90¢
Total Proved Propertie 60,71« 41,27¢ 67,59 $ 1,287,401

(1) The SEC Pricing Proved Reserves table above vall@esd natural gas reserve quantities and reldiszbunted future net cash flo

as of December 31, 2012 assuming constant regbideels of $84.92 per barrel of oil and $4.78 peff bfcnatural gas, which includ
an uplift factor of 1.7 to reflect liquids and cams$ates (natural gas liquids are included withrahgas). Under SEC guidelines, tr
prices represent the average prices per barrel ahd per Mcf of natural gas at the beginning atte month in the 1&onth perio
prior to the end of the reporting period, which raxgges are then adjusted to reflect applicable pamtation and quality differential

(2) Boe are computed based on a conversion ratio oBoeefor each barrel of oil and one Boe for eve806 cubic feet (i.e., 6 Mcf)
natural gas
3) Pre-tax PV10% may be considered a -GAAP financial measure as defined by the SEC antbiszved from the standardized mea

of discounted future net cash flows, which is thestrdirectly comparable GAAP measure. RrePV10% is computed on the s¢
basis as the standardized measure of discounteckfoet cash flows but without deducting futureoime taxes. We believe Plax
PV10% is a useful measure for investors for evaigathe relative monetary significance of our aildanatural gas properties. '
further believe investors may utilize our Ree-PV10% as a basis for comparison of the relaize and value of our reserves to ¢
companies because many factors that are uniquactoiedividual company impact the amount of futin@me taxes to be paid. (
management uses this measure when assessing #migloteturn on investment related to our oil aratural gas properties ¢
acquisitions. However, Pre-tax PV10% is not a siults for the standardized measure of discountiéuté net cash flows. Our Prax
PV10% and the standardized measure of discountacefaet cash flows do not purport to present #ievialue of our oil and natui
gas reserve:

The table above assumes prices and costs discousiegl an annual discount rate of 10% without fitascalation, without givit

effect to nonproperty related expenses such as general and iathatiive expenses, debt service and deprecialigpietion and amortization,
federal income taxes.
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The “Pre-tax PV10%” values of our proved reservesgnted in the foregoing table may be considemahd@GAAP financial measu
as defined by the SEC. The following table reclascihe praax PV10% value of our SEC Pricing Proved Resetveke standardized meas
of discounted future net cash flows.

SEC Pricing Proved Reserve
(in thousands)

Standardized Measure Reconciliatior

Pre-tax Present Value of estimated future net reve@e-tax PV10%) $ 1,287,401
Future income taxes, discounted at 1 246,05:
Standardized measure of discounted future netfeash $ 1,041,35!

Uncertainties are inherent in estimating quantitiésproved reserves, including many risk factorydmel our control. Reser
engineering is a subjective process of estimatitiggrface accumulations of oil and natural gasd¢aahot be measured in an exact manne
a result, estimates of proved reserves may vargritipg upon the engineer valuing the reservesth&yrour actual realized price for our oil .
natural gas is not likely to average the pricingapaeters used to calculate our proved reservesuéts, the oil and natural gas quantities an
value of those commodities ultimately recoverednfraur properties will vary from reserve estimates.

Additional discussion of our proved reserves isfegh under the heading “Supplemental Oil and Gédsrmation” to our financie
statements included later in this report.

Delivery Commitments
We do not currently have any delivery commitmentsproduct obtained from our wells.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Our company is subject from time to time to litigatclaims and governmental and regulatory procegdarising in the ordinary cou
of business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers, their ages and offices hatdof February 28, 2013 are as follows:

Name Age Positions
Michael L. Rege 36 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Thomas W. Stoel 57 Chief Financial Office
Brandon R. Ellioti 41 Executive Vice President, Corporate Development&inategy
Erik J. Romslc 35 Executive Vice President, General Counsel and a1

Michael L. Regers a founder of our predecessor, Northern Oil amd,®nc., and has served as Chairman of the BoadtdChief

Executive Officer of our company since March 200/.. Reger has been involved in the acquisitionib&dnd gas mineral rights for his entire
career. Mr. Reger began working the oil and gasitg business for his family’s company, Reger iQit1992 and worked as an oil and gas
landman for Reger Oil from 1992 until co-foundingorthern in 2006. Mr. Reger holds a B.A. in Finanged an M.B.A. in
finance/management from the University of St. ThermaSt. Paul, Minnesota. The Reger family hasstoty of acreage acquisition in the
Williston Basin dating to 1952.
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Thomas W. Stoekas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincedbdzer 2011. Prior to joining our company, Mr. S$taerved a
the Vice President of Finance and Chief Financiiicér at Superior Well Services, Inc. from 20052011. Prior to Superior Well Servic
Inc., Mr. Stoelk served as the Chief Financial €fiof Great Lakes Energy Partners, LLC from 1992005 and the Senior Vice Presider
Finance and Administration for Range Resources @atjpn from 1994 to 1999. Prior to his employmeith Range Resources Corporat
Mr. Stoelk was a senior manager at Ernst & Youn® land worked as a certified public accountant éir thuditing practice. Mr. Stoelk hold
BS in Industrial Administration from lowa State Waisity.

Brandon R. Elliothas served as our Executive Vice President, Caigp@avelopment and Strategy since January 201i8r terjoining
our company, Mr. Elliott served as Vice Presideninoestor Relations of CONSOL Energy Inc., a Foeb00 coal and natural gas comp
from 2010 until 2012. Prior to CONSOL, Mr. Elliottorked from 2000 until 2010 at Friess Associaté€] managers of The Brandyw
Funds, most recently as a portfolio manager. MiotEholds a bachelos degree from Dartmouth College, is a Chartere@r€ial Analys
(CFA) and is a member of the National Investor Retes Institute.

Erik J. Romsldhas served as our General Counsel and Secretagy Gictober 2011 and as an Executive Vice Presileaé Janua
2013. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Romslo giteed law in the Minneapolis office of our outsideunsel, Faegre & Benson LLP, fr
2005 until 2011, where he was a member of the Gatpagroup. Prior to joining Faegre, Mr. Romslagticed law in the New York City offi
of Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLPr. Romslo holds a bachelerdegree from St. Olaf College and a law degrem fitte Nev
York University School of Law.

PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skiwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Market Information

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT under thel®l “NOG.” The high and low sales prices for shares of comstock o
our company for each quarter during 2011 and 20&3et forth below.

Sales Price
High Low

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quarte! $ 33.9t $ 23.5(

Second Quarte 27.2¢ 16.6:

Third Quartel 25.01 13.2¢

Fourth Quarte 27.7( 16.5C
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quarte! $ 28.0C $ 20.0¢

Second Quarte 21.4( 14.9¢

Third Quartel 19.7(C 14.4C

Fourth Quarte 17.8¢ 13.7:

The closing price for our common stock on the NWBET on February 22, 2013 was $14.13 per share.
Comparison Chart

The following information in this Item 5 of this Anal Report on Form 10-K is not deemed to be “golig material” or to be “filed”
with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14@emthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or to idlailities of Section 18 of the Securit

Exchange Act of 1934, and will not be deemed tanberporated by reference into any filing under 8exurities Act of 1933 or the Securi
Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent we $§ipally incorporate it by reference into such anfij.
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The following graph compares the G@nth cumulative total shareholder returns sinceebwer 31, 2007 of Northern Oil and (
Inc., and the cumulative total returns of Standaféloor's Composite 500 Index and the NYSE Arca Oil Indexnferly the AMEX Oil Index
for the same period. This graph assumes $100wasted in the stock or the Index on December 327 2nd also assumes the reinvestme
dividends.

COMPARISON OF S YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN?®
LAmong Morthern Oil & Gas, Inc., the 3&P 200 Index, and NYSE Arca Qi Index

$450 -
$400
$320
$300
$220
$200
$120
$100
$30
$0 - - - - -
12/3107 12/31/08 12/31/9 12/31/10 12311 12/31/12
—8— Northern Qil & Gas, Inc. ——&— N&P 500 ----G---- Y SE Arca Oil Index
*$100 invvested on 12731407 in stock or indes, inchuding reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal year ending December 31
Copyright@ 2013 5&F, a division of The MeGraw-Hill Cormpanies Ine. Al rights reserved.
* The following table sets forth the tiotaturns utilized to generate the foregoing graph.
12/31/0° 12/31/0¢ 12/31/0¢ 12/31/1( 12/31/1: 12/31/1:
Northern QOil & Gas, Inc. $ 100.0C $ 3741 % 170.3¢ $ 3915 % 345.0¢ $ 242.0:
S&P 500 100.0( 63.0( 79.6% 91.67 93.61 108.5¢
NYSE Arca Oil Index 100.0( 70.9¢ 80.2i 85.0¢ 90.7¢ 92.5¢

Holders

As of February 22, 2013, we had 63,630,990 shafesuocommon stock outstanding, held by approxihga856 shareholders
record. The number of record holders does notssaciy bear any relationship to the number of beiad owners of our common stock.

Dividends

The payment of dividends is subject to the disoretif our Board of Directors and will depend, amatiger things, upon our earnin
our capital requirements, our financial conditiand other relevant factors. We have not paid oladed any dividends upon our common s
since our inception and do not presently anticipatgng any dividends upon our common stock inftlieseeable future. Under our revol
credit facility, we are prohibited from paying cadiiidends on our common stock. Any cash divideindse future to common shareholders
be payable when, as and if declared by our BoaRireictors based upon the Board’s assessment of:
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e our financial condition and performant

e earnings

e need for funds

e capital requirement:

e prior claims of preferred stock to the extent issaad outstanding; ar

e other factors, including income tax consequenaastractual restrictions and any applicable lg
There can be no assurance, therefore, that amgedigs on the common stock will ever be paid.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The table below sets forth the information withpes to purchases made by or on behalf of the cowpar any affiliated
purchaser” (as defined in Rule 1@B¢a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1984pur common stock during the quarter ended Déoex
31, 2012.

Total
Number of  Approximate
Shares Dollar Value
Purchased a: of Shares
Part of that May Yet
Total Publically be Purchase(
Number of Average Announced Under the
Shares Price Paid Plans or Plans or
Period Purchased® Per Share Programs Programs (2)
Month #1
October 1, 2012 to October 31, 2(C 15,21 $ 16.4< - $ 150 million
Month #2
November 1, 2012 to November 30, 2( - - - 150 million
Month #3
December 1, 2012 to December 31, 2 7,77¢ 15.7¢ - 150 million
Total 22,98 $ 16.22 - $ 150 million

(1) All shares purchased reflect shares surrenderembimpany employees in satisfaction of tax obligationconnection with restricted stc

awards

(2) In May 2011, our board of directors approved alstepurchase program to acquire up to $150 milibares of our compa’s outstandin

common stock. We have not made any repurchases thid program to dat
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Statements of Income Information:

Revenue:

Oil and Gas Sale

(Loss) Gain on Settled Derivativ

Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instrume
Other Revenu

Total Revenue

Operating Expense

Production Expense

Production Taxe

General and Administrative Exper

Depletion Oil and Gas Properti

Depreciation and Amortizatic

Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obliga$

Total Expense

Income from Operatior

Other Income

Interest Expens

Interest Incomt

Gain (Loss) on Available for Sale Securit

Total Other Income (Expens

Income Before Income Tax
Income Tax Provision (Benefi

Net Income

Net Income Per Common She Basic

Net Income Per Common Shée Diluted
Weighted Average Shares Outstanc— Basic
Weighted Average Shares Outstanc- Diluted

Statement of Cashflow Information:

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activiti
Net Cash Used For Investing Activiti
Net Cash Provided By Financing Activiti

Balance Sheet Information:
Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalel
Total Current Asset
Property and Equipment, r
Total Assets

Liabilities:

Total Current Liabilities
Revolving Line of Credi
8% Senior Notes Due 20:
Total Liabilities

Total Shareholde’ Equity

Fiscal Years
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except share and per common sharetda

$ 296,63¢ $ 159,44( $ 59,48t $ 15,17 $ 3,54:
(39)) (13,409 470) (625) 77¢
15,147 3,072 (14,545 (369) -
17¢ 28E 86 38 —
311,57. 149,38 44 55¢ 14,22 4,32z
32,38: 13,04« 3,28¢ 55 71
28,48t¢ 14,30: 5,47¢ 1,30(C 204
22,64: 13,62¢ 7,204 3,68¢ 2,091
98,42’ 40,81* 16,88t 4,251 67¢
41C 29¢ 177 92 67
86 56 22 8 1
182,43t 82,13¢ 33,05¢ 10,09: 3,112
129,13 67,25( 11,50¢ 4,13( 1,21(
24 - - 47¢ -
(13,875 (58¢6) (589) (535) (298)
1 56¢ 473 19z 287
— 21E (59) — 12F
(13,85() 197 (169) 13€ 384
115,28° 67,44 11,33¢ 4,26¢ 1,59
43,00: 26,83: 4,41¢ 1,46¢€ (830)
$ 72,288 $ 40,61: $ 6,917 $ 2,80C $ 2,424
$ 1.1€ $ 0.6€ $ 0.14 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
$ 118 $ 0.6t $ 014 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.07
62,485,83 61,789,28 50,387,20 36,705,26 31,920,74
62,869,07 62,195,34 50,778,24 36,877,07 32,653,55
$ 198,52° $ 85,15( $ 73,300 $ 9,81: $ 2,50¢
$ (532,17) $ (300,86 $ (207,89) $ (71,849 $ (40,359
$ 340,75¢ $ 69,887 $ 280,46: $ 67,48¢ $ 28,52(
$ 13,38¢ $ 6,28 $ 152,11 $ 6,23: $ 781
94,21: 80,50¢ 233,01¢ 42,01¢ 5,15(
1,083,24! 643,70: 275,30¢ 92,15( 46,29
1,190,93! 725,59: 509,69:- 135,59! 54,52(
100,45 119,66: 59,66" 8,91( 4,87¢
124,00( 69,90( - - -
300,00( - - - -
604,75( 229,02 74,33¢ 12,03¢ 4,991
586,18! 496,57( 435,36( 123,55¢ 49,52¢
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjiorcivith the “Selected Financial Datal Item 6 and the Financial Statements
Accompanying Notes appearing elsewhere in thisrtepo

Overview of 2012 Results
During 2012, we achieved the following financiabllasperating results:
Increased total production by 95% compared to 2

- Increased total estimated proved reserves to 6iliomBoe as of December 31, 2012, an increasé4éb compared to 2011 y«
end;

- Participated in the completion of 563 gross (4&8 wells, with a 100% success rate in the BakkehThree Forks play:

- Continued to hig-grade and grow our leasehold position to 179,13oees with approximately 64% of our total acrepgsitior
either developed, held by production, held by ofena or permitted as of December 31, 2012;

- Ended the year with $13 million in cash and, ingtgdavailability under our revolving credit facjlitliquidity of approximatel
$240 million.

Operationally, our 2012 performance reflects anoylear of successfully executing our strategy ofeligping our acreage position ¢
building a long-life reserve base. Our succeséledaus to increase proved reserves by 20.8 millioa, which is approximately 5tines ou
2012 production. During 2012, production increa88d% to 3.8million Boe as compared to 2011 production of 1iflien Boe. The increas
in 2012 production was driven by an 83 % increas@roducing net wells from 57.9 net wells at Decem®1, 2011 to 106.Ret wells
December 31, 2012.

Total revenues increased 109 % in 2012 compar@®1d. This increase was due to higher productimha$15.1 million nomast
gain from mark-to-market of derivative instrumen#sverage realized prices on a Boe basis (includihgealized derivative settlements) wére
% higher in 2012 compared to 2011. As discusseehdiere in this report, significant changes inaaidl natural gas prices can have a ma
impact on our results of operations and our balaheet, including the fair value of our derivatives

Source of Our Revenues

We derive our revenues from the sale of oil, natgaa and NGLs produced from our properties. Regsrare a function of the volu
produced, the prevailing market price at the tinfiesale, oil quality, Btu content and transportatioosts to market. We use deriva
instruments to hedge future sales prices on a auotet, but varying, portion of our oil productiolVe expect our derivative activities will h
us achieve more predictable cash flows and reducesxposure to downward price fluctuations. The aEderivative instruments has in
past, and may in the future, prevent us from reagithe full benefit of upward price movements blgo mitigates the effects of declining p
movements. Our average realized price calculaiiotisde the effects of the settlement of all dative contracts regardless of the accou
treatment.
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Principal Components of Our Cost Structure

Qil price differentials. The price differential between our Williston Basvell head price and the NYMEX WTI benchmark pris
driven by the additional cost to transport oil frtime Williston Basin via train, barge, pipelinetarck to refineries

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instrumer We utilize commodity derivative financial instremts to reduce our exposure
fluctuations in the price of oil. This accountiaity represents the recognition of gains and lesassociated with our outstanc
derivative contracts as commodity prices and comiyaterivative contracts change on contracts theatehnot been designated
hedge accounting

Realized gain (loss) on derivative instrumer This account activity represents our realizechgand losses on the settlemer
commodity derivative instrument

Production expense: Production expenses are daily costs incurreditggoil and natural gas out of the ground andhi® marke
together with the daily costs incurred to maintainm producing properties. Such costs also inclield personnel compensation,
water disposal, utilities, maintenance, repairs serdicing expenses related to our oil and nagyaalproperties

Production taxes Production taxes are paid on produced oil andrabgas based on a percentage of revenues frodugeosold ¢
market prices (not hedged prices) or at fixed ratablished by federal, state or local taxing eitiles. We seek to take full advant
of all credits and exemptions in our various taximgsdictions. In general, the production taxes pay correlate to the changes ir
and natural gas revenu

Depreciation, depletion and amortizatic Depreciation, depletion and amortization incluttessystematic expensing of the capital
costs incurred to acquire, explore and develo@d natural gas properties. As a full cost comparmy capitalize all costs associe
with our development and acquisition efforts ardcate these costs to each unit of production uiaginit-of-production methoc

General and administrative expens General and administrative expenses include @aethincluding payroll and benefits for
corporate staff, costs of maintaining our headgusrtcosts of managing our acquisition and devedoproperations, franchise tay
audit and other professional fees and legal comgdi:

Interest expens: We finance a portion of our working capital reganents, capital expenditures and acquisitions bgtiowings. As
result, we incur interest expense that is affebtetioth fluctuations in interest rates and ourriag decisions. We capitalize a por
of the interest paid on applicable borrowings iotw full cost pool. We include interest expensa ih not capitalized into the full c
pool, the amortization of deferred financing cdgtsluding origination and amendment fees), comnaitirfees and annual agency -
as interest expens

Income tax expens Our provision for taxes includes both federal atate taxes. We record our federal income taxegdordanc
with accounting for income taxes under GAAP whiekults in the recognition of deferred tax assett lm@bilities for the expecte
future tax consequences of temporary differencésdsn the book carrying amounts and the tax bdsissets and liabilities. Defer
tax assets and liabilities are measured using etidak rates expected to apply to taxable incombdryears in which those tempor
differences and carryforwards are expected to bevered or settled. The effect on deferred tagtasand liabilities of a change in
rates is recognized in income in the period theluitles the enactment date. A valuation allowasesiablished to reduce deferrec
assets if it is more likely than not that the rethtax benefits will not be realize
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Selected Factors That Affect Our Operating Results
Our revenues, cash flows from operations and fuguwwesith depend substantially upon:

« the timing and success of drilling and productiotivities by our operating partne!

« the prices and demand for oil, natural gas and Nl

« the quantity of oil and natural gas production fribra wells in which we participat

« changes in the fair value of the derivative insteats we use to reduce our exposure to fluctuatiotie price of oil;
« our ability to continue to identify and acquire h-quality acreage; ar

« the level of our operating expens

In addition to the factors that affect companie®im industry generally, the location of our acee@md wells in the Williston Bas
subjects our operating results to factors speddichis region. These factors include the potérdidverse impact of weather on drilli
production and transportation activities, particyladuring the winter months, and the limitation§ the developing infrastructure &
transportation capacity in this region.

The price of oil in the Williston Basin can varymnding on the market in which it is sold and theans of transportation usec
transport the oil to market. Light sweet crudenfrthe Williston Basin has a higher value at manyomeefining centers because of its hic
quality relative to heavier and sour grades of lmdwever, because of North Daka&dbcation relative to traditional oil transportnters, thi
higher value is generally offset to some extenhigjer transportation costs. While rail transpiistahas historically been more expensive
pipeline transportation, Williston Basin prices B&ween high enough to justify shipment by rail tarkets as far as St. James, Louisiana, v
offers prices benchmarked to Brent/LLS. Althougpefine, truck and rail capacity in the Willistora8in has historically lagged productiot
growth, we believe that additional planned infrasture growth will help keep price discounts froigngficantly eroding wellhead values in-
region.

The price at which our oil production is sold tygllg reflects a discount to the NYMEX WTI benchmariice. Thus, our operati
results are also affected by changes in the aieptifferentials between the NYMEX WTI and the sgbeices we receive for our oil production.
Higher oil price differentials lowered our oil agds sales during the first nine months of 2012latively mild weather in North Dakota allow
production throughout the winter ( increasisgpply) while some refineries were down for routmaintenance (decreasing demand).
caused oil price differentials to increase for arsiperiod during the first half of 2012, which lasubsequently declined due to various
projects coming online, refineries completing theasonal maintenance and the reversal of the $qapeline from Cushing, Oklahoma to
Gulf Coast. As the rail capacity continues to @se and planned Seaway pipeline expansions arpletedh we believe the oil pri
differentials will return to historical levels. ©uil price differential to the NYMEX WTI benchmagkice during 2012 was $ 9.7r barrel, ¢
compared to $ 6.30 per barrel in 2011.

Another significant factor affecting our operatirggults is drilling costs. The cost of drilling kgehas increased significantly over
past few years as rising oil prices have triggénedeased drilling activity in the Williston BasiAlthough individual components of the cost
vary depending on numerous factors such as theherfgthe horizontal lateral, the number of fraetwtimulation stages, and the choic
proppant (sand or ceramic), the total cost ofidglland completing an oil well has increased. Thisease is largely due to longer horizo
laterals and more fracture stimulation stagesalaa higher demand for rigs and completion servibesughout the region. In addition, bece
of the rapid growth in drilling, the availabilityf @ell completion services has at times been cairgtd, resulting at times in a backlog of w
awaiting completion.
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Market Conditions

Prices for various quantities of oil, natural gasd NGLs that we produce significantly impact ewranues and cash flows. Commo
prices have been volatile in recent years. ThHewahg tables list average NYMEX prices foll and natural gas for the years ended Dece
31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Average NYMEX priced®)
Qil (per Bbl) $ 94.1t $ 95.11 $ 79.61
Natural Gas (per Mcf $ 28 % 40: $ 4.3¢

@ Based on average of daily closing pric
Results of Operations for 2012, 2011 and 2010

The following table sets forth selected financiatlaoperating data for the periods indicated. Petdn volumes and average s
prices are derived from accrued accounting datéhtorelevant period indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Net Production:
Oil (Bbl) 3,465,31. 1,791,97! 849,84!
Natural Gas and NGLs (Mc 1,768,87. 800,20° 234,41
Total (Boe)® 3,760,12. 1,925,34 888,91
Net Sales (in thousands)
Oil Sales $ 288,38. $ 154,130 $ 58,02:
Natural Gas and NGL Sal 8,25¢ 5,30% 1,467
Loss on Settled Derivative (391) (13,409 470
Gain (Loss) on Mar-to-Marketof Derivative Instrument 15,147 3,07 (14,545
OtherRevenue 17¢ 28t 86
Total Revenue 311,57: 149,38¢ 44 55¢
Average Sales Prices
Oil (per Bbl) $ 83.2: $ 86.01 $ 68.21
Effect of Loss on Settled Derivatives on Averageé(per Bbl) (0.1 (7.4¢) (0.55)
Qil Net of Settled Derivatives (per Bt 83.11 78.5% 67.72
Natural Gas and NGLs (per Mc 4.67 6.6% 6.2€
Realized price on a Boe basis including all realiderivative settlemen® 78.7¢ 75.8¢ 66.3¢
Operating Expenses (in thousands;
Production Expense $ 32,38: % 13,04 $ 3,28¢
Production Taxe 28,48¢ 14,30: 5,47¢
General and Administrative Exper(Including Nor-Cash Stock Based Compensati 22,64¢ 13,62t 7,20¢
Depletion of Qil and Gas Properti 98,421 40,81t 16,88¢

(@) Natural gas and NGLs are converted to Boe at tleeafaone barrel equals six Mcf based upon theamate relative energy content of
and natural gas, which is not necessarily indieatif/the relationship of oil and natural gas pri
(@ Realized prices include realized gains and lossesash settlements for commodity derivatiy
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Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Sales, Production and Real Price Calculations

Our revenues vary from year to year as a resuthahges in realized commodity prices and product@omes. In 2012, oil, natu
gas and NGL sales increased 86 % from 2011, dpviemarily by a 95 % increase in production andipliytaided by a 46 increase in realiz
prices taking into account the effect of settledvdgives. In 2011, oil and natural gas salesdéased 168% from 2010 due to a 117% incree
production and partially aided by a 14% increasealized pricing taking into account the effecteftled derivatives.

Our production continues to grow through drillingceess as we place new wells into production amdutih additions froi
acquisitions, partially offset by the natural deeliof our oil and natural gas sales from existingllsv For 2012, our production volun
increased 9% as compared to 2011. For 2011, our productidnmes increased 117% as compared to 2010. Theugtiod primarily
increased due to the addition of 4&r&1 32.3 net productive wells in 2012 and 201Jpeetvely. Our production for each of the lasethyear
is set forth in the following table:

Year Ended
2012 2011 2010
Production @
Oil (Bbl) 3,465,31. 1,791,97' 849,84t
Natural Gas and NGL (Mc 1,768,87. 800,20° 234,41
Total (Boe)® 3,760,12. 1,925,34 888,91
Average Daily Production(®)
Qil (Bbl) 9,46¢ 4,91( 2,32¢
Natural Gas and NGL (Mc 4,83: 2,192 642
Total (Boe)® 10,27+ 5,27¢ 2,43¢

1) Represents volumes so
(@ Natural gas and NGLs are converted to Boe at tieeafeone barrel equals six Mcf based upon theaqimiate relative energy content of
and natural gas, which is not necessarily indieatif/the relationship of oil and natural gas prir

Derivative Instrument

We enter into derivative instruments to manageptiee risk attributable to future oil productioRror 2012, we incurred a loss on sel
derivatives of $0.4 million, compared to $13.4 il in 2011 and $0.5 million in 2010. Our averagalized price (including all derivati
settlements) received during 2012 was $ 7®&9Boe compared to $75.85 per Boe in 2011 and3$6g&er Boe in 2010. Our average real
price (including all derivative settlements) cahtidn includes all cash settlements for derivatives

Mark-to-market derivative gains and losses were gains 6fi$million in 2012 compared to a $3.1 million g&n2011 and a $14
million loss in 2010. Our derivatives are not desited for hedge accounting and are accountedsfog the mark-tonarket accounting meth
whereby gains and losses from changes in the &irevof derivative instruments are recognized imatety into earnings. Mark-torarke
accounting treatment creates volatility in our raxes as unrealized gains and losses from derigatike included in total revenues and are
included in accumulated other comprehensive incaomthe accompanying balance sheets. As commoditep increase or decrease, ¢
changes will have an opposite effect on the mankdoket value of our derivatives. Any gains on derivatives will be offset by low
wellhead revenues in the future or any losses lvélloffset by higher future wellhead revenues basethe value at the settlement date
December 31, 2012, all of our derivative contraots recorded at their fair value, which was a ssefof $3.3 million, an increase of $1
million from the $11.9 million net liability recoedl as of December 31, 2011. Our open oil derigatintracts are summarized ibem 7A
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MaiRisk— Commodity Price Risk.”
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Production Expenses

Production expenses were $32.4 million in 2012 canegh to $13.0 million in 2011 and $3.3 million i@1D. We experience increase
operating expenses as we add new wells and maiptaituction from existing properties. On an absoldollar basis, our spending
production expenses for 2012 was 148% higher wbhempared to 2011 due to production levels increa8bt, as well as higher water hau
and disposal costs and higher servicing experResduction expenses are generally higher duringlfsafirst year of operations due to hig
levels of servicing activities associated with nging production levels during a wedl'steepest period of decline. Since 44% of oumradic
have produced for less than twelve months, we \altee high level of servicing activities will de@ as our property base matures. O
absolute dollar basis, our spending for productigpenses for 2011 was 297% higher when compar2dlio due to production levels increas
117% and higher water hauling and disposal costsarvicing expenses. On a per unit basis, prauekpenses per Boe increased from §
per barrel sold in 2011 to $ 8.612012. On a per unit basis, production expepsedoe increased from $3.70 per barrel sold ir0201$6.7
in 2011.

Production Taxes

We pay production taxes based on realized oil atdral gas sales. These costs were $28.5 miti@012 compared to $14.3 milli
in 2011 and $5.5 million in 2010. Our average pisitbn tax rates were 9.6%, 9.0% and 9.2% in 2@021 and 2010, respectively. The 2
average production tax rate was higher than thel 28krage due to well additions that qualified feduced rates/or tax exemptions du
2011. Certain portions of our production occurgviontana and North Dakota jurisdictions that hawedr initial tax rates for an establisl
period of time or until an established thresholg@fduction is exceeded, after which the tax ratesncreased to the standard tax rate. The
average production tax rate was lower than the 20B0age due to the well additions that qualifiedreduced rates for tax exemptions du
2011. The majority of our production is locatedNorth Dakota which imposes a standard 11.5% taxwmproduction revenues except
where properties qualify for reduced rates.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense was $22.6 miftio 2012 compared to $13.6 million for 2011 affd?$million in 2010. The 20:
increase of $9.0 million when compared to 2011use tb higher base salaries, cash bonuses and tsef$dfi7 million), increased share be
compensation expense ($1.9 million), increasedetraxpenses ($0.2 million) and partially offset loyver office and other administrati
expenses ($0.3 million). Additionally, 2012 gerienad administrative expenses include $5.5 milbbiseverance charges in connection witt
departures of our former president and former abpefrating officer. Our personnel costs contirimtrease as we invest in our technical te
and other staffing to support our growth. Shargebacompensation expense represents the amonizdtiestricted stock grants granted to
employees and directors as part of compensatianeisas fully vested share grants to employeesdirattors throughout the year. The 2
increase of $6.4 million when compared to 2010ue tb higher base salaries and benefits ($0.9amjlliincreased share based compens
expense ($2.6 million), higher legal and profesai@xpenses ($1.3 million), increased travel exper$0.5 million) and higher office and ot
administrative expenses due to the addition of reanployees ($1.1 million).

Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization

Depletion, depreciation and amortization (“DD&ARjas $98.9 million in 2012 compared to $41.2 milliar2011 and $17.1 million
2010. Depletion expense, the largest componeDD&A, was $26.18 per Boe in 2012 compared to $2p&0Boe in 2011 and $18.99 per |
in 2010. We have historically adjusted our depletion ratesthe fourth quarter of each year based on theemér reserve report a
other times during the year when circumstancesatdithere has been a significant change in reserveosts. The aggregate increase
depletion expense for 2012 compared to 2011 waenlthy a 95% increase in production. Additionadlgpletion rates rose in 2012 due t
increase in our future development cost estimateeftect the changes in well completion methodigede.g. more stimulation costs per \
due to longer lateral extensions) and increasedyst®dn expenses. Depletion rates in new playd terbe higher in the beginning as increi
initial outlays are amortized over proved resetvased on early stages of evaluations. As thegs phature, new technologies, well comple
methodologies and additional historical operatinfpimation impact the reserve evaluations. Theease in depletion expense for 2
compared to 2010 was driven by a 117% increaseoidygtion. Depreciation, amortization and accretias $0.5 million in 2012 comparec
$0.4 million in 2011 and $0.2 million in 2010. Tfwdlowing table summarizes DD&A expense per BoeZ012, 2011 and 2010:
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Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 Change Change 2011 2010 Change Change
Depletion $ 2618 $ 212( $ 4.9¢ 23% $ 212 $ 189¢ $ 2.21 12%
Depreciation
amortization, and
accretion 0.1: 0.1¢ (0.0%) (28)% 0.1¢ 0.2: (0.0%) (22)%
Total DD&A expense $ 2631 $ 213t $ 4.9: 2% $ 213t $ 19.2: $ 2.1¢ 11%

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $13.9 million for 2012 congbaoe$0.6 million in 2011. Interest expense wa$ $aillion for 2011 compared
$0.6 million in 2010. In May 2012, we issued $30illion of 8% senior unsecured notes. The incréageterest expense for 2012 as comp
to 2011 was primarily due to different weighted ge debt amounts outstanding between years, dasvile higher interest rate applicabl
the senior notes.

Interest Income

Interest income was $1,000 for 2012 compared t6 §0llion in 2011. Interest income for 2012 deaed $0.6 million as comparec
2011 because of lower levels of cash and short levestments. In 2011, the higher amount of cashsdort term investments resulted frorr
sale of common stock in November 2010. Interestrime was $0.6 million for 2011 compared to $0.9iomilin 2010. Interest income for 2C
increased $0.1 million as compared to 2010 duégioeh levels of cash and short term investmentsréglted from the sale of common stock.

Income Tax Provision

The provision for income taxes was $43.0 millior2G12 compared to $26.8 million in 2011 and $4.Hioniin 2010. The effective ti
rate in 2012 was 37.3% compared to an effectiverdéx of 39.8% in 2011. The effective tax rate wiferent than the statutory rate of 3
primarily due to state tax rates. The 2011 effectax rate was 39.8% compared to an effectivedsxin 2010 of 39.0%. Due to higher pae-
income levels, we increased our federal statutaty from 34% to 35% in 2011. The effective taxe nabs different than the statutory rat
35% primarily due to state tax rates.

Net Income

Net income was $72.3 million in 2012 compared t0.64million in 2011 and $6.9 million in 2010. Thereases in net income w
driven by higher production levels and higher ageraales prices received during each successii@pd?artially offsetting the higher oil a
gas revenues were increased production expensijgiien taxes, general and administrative expersgsetion expenses, and interest exg
in each of the respective periods as describedeabbigher net income levels increased dilutedimame per common share to $1.15, $
and $0.14 in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We define Adjusted Net Income as net income exolydi) unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instants, net of tax and (ii) severa
expenses in connection with the departures of oumédr president and former chief operating officest of tax. Our Adjusted Net Income
the year ended December 31, 2012, was $ 66.2 mi(liepresenting approximately $1.05 per dilutedresheas compared to $ 38Billion
(representing approximately $ 0.p&r diluted share) for the year ended Decembe2@11, and $15.8 million (representing approximag&3]
per diluted share) for the year ended DecembeR@1Q. These increases in Adjusted Net Income @amgaply due to our continued addition
oil and natural gas production from new wells aighér realized commodity prices in 2012 compare2bl and in 2011 compared to 2010.
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We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income beforer(irest expense, (ii) income taxes, (iii) depréoig depletion, amortization, a
accretion, (iv) unrealized gain (loss) on derivatimstruments and (v) narash share based compensation expense. AdjustddEBor the
year ended December 31, 2012 w225.3 million, compared to Adjusted EBITDA of $ 12nillion for the year ended December 31, 2011
$47.1 million for the year ended December 31, 20I8ese increases in Adjusted EBITDA are primadilg to our continued addition of oil &
natural gas production from new wells and highalized commaodity prices in 2012 compared to 201d.iar2011 compared to 2010.

We believe the use of these nGAAP financial measures provides useful informationnvestors to gain an overall understandir
our current financial performance. Specificallyg helieve the noGAAP financial measures included herein providefuldgaformation to bot
management and investors by excluding certain esqgeand unrealized commodity gains and lossesotivatnanagement believes are
indicative of our core operating results. In aiddit these nolsAAP financial measures are used by managemeiuidgeting and forecasti
as well as subsequently measuring our performaau,we believe that we are providing investors Miitncial measures that most clos
align to our internal measurement processes. Wsider these no@AAP measures to be useful in evaluating our cperating results as th
more closely reflect our essential revenue genmegadctivities and direct operating expenses (resulh cash expenditures) needed to per

these revenue generating activities. Our managenisa believes, based on feedback provided byinbestment community, that the non-

GAAP financial measures are necessary to allowirthestment community to construct its valuation elsdo better compare our results \
our competitors and market sector.

These measures should be considered in additicestdts prepared in accordance with GAAP. In &oldjtthese noiGAAP financia
measures are not based on any comprehensive satcofinting rules or principles. We believe thah-GAAP financial measures he
limitations in that they do not reflect all of thenounts associated with our results of operatisrdetermined in accordance with GAAP and
these measures should only be used to evaluatesults of operations in conjunction with the cepending GAAP financial measures.

Adjusted Net income and Adjusted EBITDA are non-GAmeasures. A reconciliation of these measur€M&P is included below:
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
Reconciliation of GAAP Net Income to Adjusted Net hcome

(UNAUDITED)
Year Ended December 3:
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except share and per commc
share data)

Net Income $ 72,288 $ 40,61: $ 6,917
Add:

Unrealized (Gain) Loss on Derivative Instrumentst bf Tax (a (9,499 (1,849 8,89¢

Severance Expense, Net of Tax 3,42¢ - -

Adjusted Net Incom $ 66,21 $ 38,76: $ 15,81

Weighted Average Shares Outstanc— Basic 62,485,83 61,789,28 50,387,20

Weighted Average Shares Outstanc- Diluted 62,869,07 62,195,34 50,778,24

Net Income Per Common She& Basic $ 1.1¢ $ 066 $ 0.1¢4
Add:

Change due to Unrealized (Gain) Loss on Derivdtiggruments, Net of Ta (0.1%) (0.03) 0.17

Change due to Severance Expense, Net o 0.0t - -

Adjusted Net Income Per Common Sh- Basic $ 106 $ 0.6 $ 0.31

Net Income Per Common She Diluted $ 118 % 0.6t % 0.14
Add:

Change due to Unrealized (Gain) Loss on Derivdtigeruments, Net of Ta (0.1%) (0.0%) 0.17

Change due to Severance Expense, Net of 0.0t - -

Adjusted Net Income Per Common Sh- Diluted $ 108 $ 0.6z $ 0.31

(a) Adjusted to reflect related tax benefit (expendg$6.6 million), ($1.2 million) and $5.7 milliorof the years ended December 31, 2
2011 and 2010 respective

(b) Reflects severance expense recognized in connewitbnthe departures during 2012 of our former lest and former chief operati
officer. Adjusted to reflect related tax benefith@.0 million, for the year ended December 31,22
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Northern Qil and Gas, Inc.
Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA

(UNAUDITED)
Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Net Income $ 72,288 $ 40,61 $ 6,917
Add Back:

Interest Expens 13,87t 58€ 58¢

Income Tax Provisio 43,00z 26,83¢ 4,41¢

Depreciation, Depletion, Amortization and Accret 98,920 41,17( 17,08

Non-Cash Share Based Compensa 12,38: 6,164 3,56¢

Unrealized (Gain) Loss on Derivative Instrume (15,14°) (3,072) 14,54¢

Adjusted EBITD/ $ 225,32( % 112,29: $ 47,11«

2013 Operation Plan

We expect our total 2013 capital expenditure budigetinge between $420 million and $440 millionrQQ013 budget anticipates
will participate in the drilling and completion approximately 44 net wells targeting the Bakken @hdee Forks formations. Drilling capi
expenditures on a per well basis are expectedue aa average completed cost of $8.4 million t@$8illion per well, which assumes a 1
decrease in drilling costs for 2013 compared ta22ased on evolving conditions in the field, wpect to spend approximately $20 million
acreage capital expenditures during 2013. In Exfditve estimate that we will spend approximated@ $nillion on other capital expenditt
activities, primarily capitalized workover expensé¥e have the ability to adjust capital expendisuby reducing the number of projects we
to participate in. We currently expect to fund 2013 commitments using a combination of casthand, cash flow generated by operati
bank borrowings and potential debt financings.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Historically, our main sources of liquidity and @apresources have been internally generated ftastfrom operations, credit facili
borrowings and issuances of equity. We genera#intain low cash and cash equivalent balances beoaa use cash from operations to
our development activities or reduce our bank dée continue to take steps to ensure adequaftalcegsources and liquidity to fund «
capital expenditure program. In February 2012, ameended and restated the credit agreement goveauingevolving credit facility (th
“Revolving Credit Facility”)to increase the maximum facility size to $750 moilli subject to a borrowing base that is currend§@million. Ir
May 2012, we issued $300 million aggregate prirlcmaount of 8.000% senior unsecured notes (theédiptiue June 1, 2020. The issuanc
these Notes resulted in net proceeds to us of appately $291.2 million, which are in use to fungr @xploration, development and acquisi
program and for general corporate purposes (inegudépayment of borrowings that were outstandindeuthe Revolving Credit Facility at 1
time the Notes were issued).

With our Revolving Credit Facility and our antictpd cash reserves and cash from operations, weevbdhat we will hav
sufficient cash flow and liquidity to fund our buetgd capital expenditures and operating expensex feast the next twelve months. /
significant acquisition of additional properties significant increase in drilling activity may reéceius to seek additional capital. We may
choose to seek additional financing from the cépitarkets rather than utilize our Revolving Credificility to fund such activities. V
cannot assure you, however, that any additionatalapill be available to us on favorable termsapall.
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At December 31, 2012, our debt to total capitalmatatio was 42%, we had $424 million of total dehtstanding, $586.2 million
stockholdersequity, and $13.4 million of cash on hand. Additily, at December 31, 2012, there was $226 milbbravailability under ot
Revolving Credit Facility. At December 31, 2011e Wwad $69.9 million of debt outstanding, $496.6lianlof stockholdersequity, and $6.
million of cash on hand.

Cash Flows

Cash flows from operations are primarily affectgdpiboduction volumes and commodity prices, nethef éffects of settlements of
derivatives. Our cash flows from operations alse ipacted by changes in working capital. We gahe maintain low cash and ce
equivalent balances because we use available tonfisid our development activities or reduce ounkbdebt. Shorterm liquidity needs a
satisfied by borrowings under our revolving crddiility. We generally use derivatives to econaaliichedge a significant, but varying port
of our anticipated future oil production for thexhd2 to 36 months. Any payments due to countéigsmunder our derivative contracts
funded by proceeds received from the sale of comlysstion. Production receipts, however, lag paymsenthe counterparties. Any interim c
needs are funded by cash from operations or bongsvunder the revolving credit facility. As of @ecber 31, 2012, we had entered
derivative agreements covering 3.1 million barfeis2013 and 2.4 million barrels for 2014, with eage floor prices of $90.58 and $91
respectively. For additional information on thepimt of changing prices on our financial positieee ftem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitati
Disclosures about Market Risk.”

Our cash flows for the years ended December 312,2011 and 2010 are presented below:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 198,52 $ 85,15( $ 73,30"
Net cash used in investing activiti (532,179 (300,86Y) (207,89
Net cash provided by financing activiti 340,75¢ 69,88’ 280,46
Net change in cas $ 7,106 $  (145,83) $ 145,87

Cash flows provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $98illion, $85.1 million and $73.3 million for thegears ended December 31, 2(
2011 and 2010, respectively. The increase in tlagls provided by operating activities for the yesnded December 31, 2012 as compar
2011 was primarily the result of an increase ireoill natural gas production of 95%. Cash flowsigex by operating activities during the y
ended December 31, 2011 increased compared to2DPérily as a result of an increase in oil anduraltgas production of 117%.

Cash flows used in investing activities

We had cash flows used in investing activities®822 million, $300.9 million and $207.9 million g the years ended December
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, primarily asslt of our capital expenditures for drilling, @éépment and acquisition costs. Oil and
expenditure spending increased from $341.4 mililmA011 to $532.0 million in 2012, a 56% incredsat was driven by a 50% increase in
number of net producing well additions in 2012 espared to 2011. In 2012, our net producing wedlitons totaled 48.3 as compared to :
in 2011. The 2012 oil and gas expenditures inchmgoximately $190.4 million for wells spud prior2012. The spending on wells spud f
to 2012 related to wells awaiting completion at &aber 31, 2011, as well as completion spendingvits placed into production prior
2012. The $93.0 million increase in cash usedwesting activities for 2011 compared to 2010 witribatable to our acquisitions of proper
in the Williston Basin, as well as increased levalslevelopment of our properties. Oil and gaseexijiture spending increased from $1!
million in 2010 to $341.4 million in 2011, an 89%ciease that was driven by a 90% increase in theauof net producing well additions
2012 as compared to 2011. In 2011, our net produeiell additions totaled 32.3 as compared to 116.8010. As a result of the increa
development activities, in 2011 we sold $40.2 willdf short-term investments to fund the 2011idgll development and acquisition costs.
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Cash flows provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $84fillion, $69.9 million and $280.5 million for theears ended December 31, 2!
2011 and 2010, respectively. For the year endezkidber 31, 2012, we received $354.1 million in adtances under our revolving cr
facility and senior notes that were used to funtlimty, development and acquisition costs. For ylears ended December 31, 2011 and :
cash increased through financing activities wasarily provided by net proceeds from the sale oficmn stock.

Revolving Credit Facility

In February 2012, we entered into an amended &stdteel credit agreement governing our Revolvingdi€feacility, which replace
our previous revolving credit facility. The newciity, secured by substantially all of our asset®vides for an initial commitment equal to
lesser of the facility amount or the borrowing basgé December 31, 2012, the maximum facility amowas $750 million and the borrowi
base was $350 million. Our bank group is comprisked group of commercial banks, with no singlekbhanlding more than 12% of the tc
facility. Under the terms of the Revolving CreBécility, we are limited to $500 million of pernetl additional indebtedness, as defined i
credit agreement. The borrowing base is reduce@3% of the stated amount of the permitted addifiondebtedness. The $300 millior
Notes (as described below) “permitted additional indebtednesa$ defined in the Revolving Credit Facility. Thev@lving Credit Facilit
provides for a borrowing base subject to redeteation semi-annually each April and October and &wentdriven unschedule
redeterminations. As of December 31, 2012, we$i&#l million in outstanding borrowings under ounvBlging Credit Facility, leaving $2:
million of borrowing capacity available to us. TRevolving Credit Facility will expire and all otgmding borrowings under it will mature
January 1, 2017. Borrowings under the Revolvingd@rFacility can either be at the Alternate Bas¢eRas defined) plus a spread ranging
0.75% to 1.75% or LIBOR borrowings at the AdjustdBOR Rate (as defined) plus a spread ranging floib% to 2.75%. The applica
spread is dependent upon borrowings relative tdtieowing base. We may elect, from time to tinoeconvert all or any part of our LIBC
loans to base rate loans or to convert all or drijeobase rate loans to LIBOR loans. A commitnieatis paid on the undrawn balance bas¢
an annual rate of either 0.375% or 0.50%, depenadlingutstanding borrowings relative to the borrgMoase. The Revolving Credit Facility
subject to negative covenants that limit our ahildimong other things, to pay cash dividends, iacldgitional indebtedness, sell assets, ente
certain hedging contracts, change the nature obuosiness or operations, merge, consolidate, oemeakain types of investments. In addit
we are required to maintain a ratio of debt to HBAK (as defined in the credit agreement) of no tge¢éhan 4.0 to 1.0, a current ratio
defined in the credit agreement) of no less th@ntd..1.0 and a ratio of EBITDAX to interest expemdeno less than 3.0 to 1.0. We wer
compliance with our covenants under the Revolvingd@ Facility at December 31, 2012.

8.000% Senior Notes due 2020

On May 18, 2012, we issued $300 million aggregaiecjpal amount of 8.000% senior unsecured notesdime 1, 2020 (the “Notgs”
Interest is payable on the Notes semitually in arrears on each June 1 and Decemtmamimencing December 1, 2012. The issuance of
Notes resulted in net proceeds to us of approxim&®291.2 million, which are in use to fund our &ption, development and acquisit
program and for general corporate purposes (inctudépayment of borrowings that were outstandirdeurour Revolving Credit Facility at t
time the Notes were issued).

At any time prior to June 1, 2015, we may redeentoup5% of the Notes at a redemption price of 1@8%e principal amount, pl
accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption datle the proceeds of certain equity offerings @og as the redemption occurs within 180
of completing such equity offering and at least 65%the aggregate principal amount of the Notesaiam outstanding after st
redemption. Prior to June 1, 2016, we may redemmer all of the Notes for cash at a redemptigrepequal to 100% of their principal ama
plus an applicable makehole premium and accrued and unpaid interesteaddemption date. On and after June 1, 2016, ayeredeem son
or all of the Notes at redemption prices (expressegercentages of principal amount) equal to 16#%he twelvemonth period beginning
June 1, 2016, 102% for the twelmnth period beginning June 1, 2017 and 100% bégiron Junel, 2018, plus accrued and unpaid int&
the redemption date.

45




On May 18, 2012, in connection with the issuancéhefNotes, we entered into an Indenture (the ‘tiate”), with Wilmington Trust
National Association, as trustee (“Trustee”).

The Indenture restricts our ability to: (i) incudditional debt or enter into sale and leasebaaksgetions; (ii) pay distributions ¢
redeem or repurchase, equity interests; (iii) medwain investments; (iv) incur liens; (v) entetoitransactions with affiliates; (vi) merge
consolidate with another company; and (vii) transied sell assets. These covenants are subjextniamber of important exceptions .
qualifications. If at any time when the Notes eated investment grade by both Moody's InvestonviSe, Inc. and Standard & PosrRating
Services and no Default (as defined in the Indenthas occurred and is continuing, many of suclecants will terminate and we and any of
subsidiaries will cease to be subject to such canven

The Indenture contains customary events of defedltiding:
« default in any payment of interest on any Note wihe®, continued for 30 day
« default in the payment of principal of or premiufrany, on any Note when du
« failure by us to comply with our other obligatiamsder the Indenture, in certain cases subjectticenand grace period

. payment defaults and accelerations with respeautoother indebtedness and certain of our subggdiaif any, in the aggreg:
principal amount of $25 million or mor

« certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reoizgtion of our company or a significant subsidiarygroup of restricted subsidiar
that, taken together, would constitute a significambsidiary:

« failure by us or any significant subsidiary or gocaf restricted subsidiaries that, taken togetweyld constitute a significant subsidi
to pay certain final judgments aggregating in egadsb25 million within 60 days; ar

« any guarantee of the Notes by a guarantor ceades ito full force and effect, is declared null arald in a judicial proceeding or
denied or disaffirmed by its mak

Capital Requirements

Our primary needs for cash are for exploration ettgwment and acquisition of oil and natural gapprties and payment of interest
outstanding indebtedness. During 2012, our adgpisiand development expenditures included appratéiy $485 million of drilling
completion and capitalized workover costs, $8.5iomlof capitalized internal costs and $5.9 millioh capitalized interest. Also in 20
approximately $37 million was expended on acreaggiaitions and other acreage related costs lo¢attéee Williston Basin. Our 2012 cap
program was funded by cash on hand, net cash flom bperations and borrowings under our Revolvimgd Facility and the Notes. C
capital expenditure budget for 2013 is discussedalinder the heading “2013 Operation Plan.”

Development and acquisition activities are highiscretionary, and, for the near term, we expechsaativities to be maintained
levels we can fund through internal cash flow anddwing under our Revolving Credit Facility. Thet extent capital requirements exc
internal cash flow and borrowing capacity under Rewrolving Credit Facility, debt may be issueduad these requirements. We monitor
capital expenditures on a regular basis, adjustiegamount up or down and also between our projdetsending on commaodity prices, ¢
flow and projected returns. Also, our obligatiomgy change due to acquisitions, divestitures amdiraeed growth. Our future succes:
growing proved reserves and production may be diperon our ability to access outside sources pitada If internally generated cash fl
and borrowing capacity is not available under oavdtving Credit Facility, we may issue additionabees of stock, subordinated notes or ¢
debt securities to fund capital expenditures, aifjoins, extend maturities or to repay debt.
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Satisfaction of Our Cash Obligations for the NextMonths

With our Revolving Credit Facility and our cashvit® from operations, we believe we have sufficieapi@l to meet our drillin
commitments and expected general and administratipenses for the next twelve months. Nonethedess strategic acquisition of asset:
increase in drilling activity may require us to kseslditional capital. We may also choose to sefitimnal capital rather than utilize our cre
facility or other debt instruments to fund acceledaor continued drilling at the discretion of mgement and depending on prevailing me
conditions. We will evaluate any potential oppaities for acquisitions as they arise. Howeveergéhcan be no assurance that any addi
capital will be available to us on favorable teronst all.

Over the next 24 months it is possible that ousting capital, our Revolving Credit Facility andiaipated funds from operations n
not be sufficient to sustain continued acreage iaitgpns and drilling activities. Consequently, wey seek additional capital in the futur
fund growth and expansion through additional detgaquity financing or credit facilities. No assonca can be made that such financing w
be available, and if available it may take eities form of debt or equity. In either case, thafficing could have a negative impact on
financial condition and our shareholders.

Effects of Inflation and Pricin

The oil and natural gas industry is very cyclicalahe demand for goods and services of oil figcthganies, suppliers and ott
associated with the industry put extreme pressarthe economic stability and pricing structure witthe industry. Typically, as prices for
and natural gas increase, so do all associated.cGsmnversely, in a period of declining pricesogsated cost declines are likely to lag and
not adjust downward in proportion. Material cham@e prices also impact our current revenue stresstimates of future reserves, borrov
base calculations of bank loans, impairment assa#smof oil and natural gas properties, and valbfegroperties in purchase and ¢
transactions. Material changes in prices can itnjecvalue of oil and natural gas companies aait Hbility to raise capital, borrow money
retain personnel. While we do not currently exgmasiness costs to materially increase, highereprfor oil and natural gas could resul
increases in the costs of materials, services argbpnel.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our obligations asmmmitments at December 31, 2012 to make futurempays under certe
contracts, aggregated by category of contractugation, for specified time periods:

Payment due by Perioc

Less than 1 More than 5
Contractual Obligations year 1-3 years 3-5 years years Total
Office Lease®) $ 245,000 $ 419,000 $ - 8 - % 664,00(
Automobile Lease® 20,00( 9,00( - - 29,00(
Long Term Deb®) - - 124,000,00 300,000,00 424,000,00
Cash Interest Expense on D®) 26,753,00 53,506,00 50,753,00 58,000,00 189,012,00
Total $ 27,018,00 $ 53,934,000 $174,753,00 $ 358,000,00 $ 613,705,00

(1) Office lease through 201

(2) Automobile leases for certain executives through4:

(3) Revolving Credit Facility and 8.000% Senior Notege @020 (see Note 5 to financial stateme

(4) Cash interest on Revolving Credit Facility and 8%0Senior Notes due 2020 are estimated assumimgimgipal repayment until tt
due date

Critical Accounting Policies

The establishment and consistent application ob@auing policies is a vital component of accurataty fairly presenting our financ
statements in accordance with generally accepteduating principles in the United States (GAAP),vesll as ensuring compliance w
applicable laws and regulations governing financegorting. While there are rarely alternative noelh or rules from which to select
establishing accounting and financial reportinggies, proper application often involves signifitudgment regarding a given set of facts
circumstances and a complex series of decisions.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements under GA&duires management to make estimates and assushhiat affect our report
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosureootingent assets and liabilities at the datdeffinancial statements and the reported am
of revenues and expenses during the reporting ghe@ur estimates of our proved oil and natural geserves, future development cc
estimates relating to certain oil and natural gagmnues and expenses and fair value of derivatateuments are the most critical to our finar
statements.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The determination of depreciation, depletion an@mization expense as well as impairments thatecegnized on our oil and natt
gas properties are highly dependent on the estinaft¢he proved oil and natural gas reserves attlile to our properties. Our estimat
proved reserves is based on the quantities ofdilretural gas which geological and engineering datmonstrate, with reasonable certaint
be recoverable in the future years from known reses under existing economic and operating coodgi The accuracy of any reserve estil
is a function of the quality of available data, egring and geological interpretation, and judgmétor example, we must estimate the am
and timing of future operating costs, productioxetaand development costs, all of which may in @ty considerably from actual results
addition, as the prices of oil and natural gas eost levels change from year to year, the econoofigsoducing our reserves may change
therefore the estimate of proved reserves maycaiaage. Any significant variance in these asswnptcould materially affect the estime
guantity and value of our reserves.

The information regarding present value of the rieituet cash flows attributable to our proved od aatural gas reserves are estirr
only and should not be construed as the currenkehaalue of the estimated oil and natural gasrveseattributable to our properties. Tt
such information includes revisions of certain regeestimates attributable to our properties inetldn the prior yeas estimates. The
revisions reflect additional information from subsent activities, production history of the propstinvolved and any adjustments in
projected economic life of such properties resglfimom changes in oil and natural gas prices. Anyre downward revisions could advers
affect our financial condition, our borrowing abjliour future prospects and the value of our comstock.

The estimates of our proved oil and natural gasrves used in the preparation of our financiakst&nts were prepared by Ryder £
Company, our registered independent petroleum dtamss, and were prepared in accordance with tles promulgated by the SEC.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties

The method of accounting we use to account foroduand natural gas investments determines whas @e capitalized and how th
costs are ultimately matched with revenues andresquk

We utilize the full cost method of accounting teaant for our oil and natural gas investments adtef the successful efforts metl
because we believe it more accurately reflectaitftierlying economics of our programs to explore d@ekelop oil and natural gas reserves.
full cost method embraces the concept that dryshaled other expenditures that fail to add reseavesintrinsic to the oil and natural
exploration business. Thus, under the full costhmet all costs incurred in connection with the asigjon, development and exploration of
and natural gas reserves are capitalized. Thestaleagrd amounts include the costs of unproved eriigs, internal costs directly relatec
acquisitions, development and exploration actigjti@gsset retirement costs, geological and geoplysists that are directly attributable to
properties and capitalized interest. Although sarhthese costs will ultimately result in no addité reserves, they are part of a program
which we expect the benefits of successful wellsntwe than offset the costs of any unsuccessfus.ohlee full cost method differs from 1
successful efforts method of accounting for oil aatural gas investments. The primary differendevéen these two methods is the treatme
exploratory dry hole costs. These costs are gdpergbensed under the successful efforts methodittie determined that measurable rese
do not exist. Geological and geophysical costsatze expensed under the successful efforts methoder the full cost method, both dry h
costs and geological and geophysical costs aialipitapitalized and classified as unproved prtépsipending determination of proved resel
If no proved reserves are discovered, these costhan amortized with all the costs in the fulsicpool.
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Capitalized amounts except unproved costs are teplasing the units of production method. The eliigh expense per unit
production is the ratio of the sum of our unamedizhistorical costs and estimated future developnoasts to our proved rese
volumes. Estimation of hydrocarbon reserves raiegprofessional judgment and use of factors thahot be precisely determined. Subsec
reserve estimates materially different from thaggorted would change the depletion expense recegeiaring the future reporting periods.
the year ended December 31, 2012, our averagetidepéxpense per unit of production was $26.18Bm. A 10% decrease in our estimi
net proved reserves at December 31, 2012 wouldt insu$2.88 per Boe increase in our per unit etph.

To the extent the capitalized costs in our fulltqusol (net of depreciation, depletion and amottiwaand related deferred taxes) exc
the sum of the present value (using a 10% discaietand based on periedid oil and natural gas prices) of the estimatéaréunet cash flov
from our proved oil and natural gas reserves aad#pitalized cost associated with our unproveggnees, we would have a capitalized cei
impairment. Such costs would be charged to opersitis a reduction of the carrying value of oil aatural gas properties. The risk that we
be required to write down the carrying value of oilrand natural gas properties increases whearall natural gas prices are depressed, e
the low prices are temporary. In addition, cajg&a ceiling impairment charges may occur if weegignce poor drilling results or estimati
of our proved reserves are substantially reduéedapitalized ceiling impairment is a reductioneiarnings that does not impact cash flows
does impact operating income and shareholdegysity. Once recognized, a capitalized ceilingampent charge to oil and natural gas prope
cannot be reversed at a later date. The risk whatvill experience a ceiling test writedown incremsvhen oil and natural gas prices
depressed or if we have substantial downward @wssin our estimated proved reserves. As of Deeerih, 2012 we have not incurre
capitalized ceiling impairment charge. Howeverassurance can be given that we will not experiencapitalized ceiling impairment charg
future periods. In addition, capitalized ceilingpairment charges may occur if estimates of proawedrocarbon reserves are substant
reduced or estimates of future development costiease significantly. See “ltem 2. Properties—BtbReserves,for a discussion of o
reserve estimation assumptions.

Revenue Recognitic

We derive revenue primarily from the sale of tHeaoid natural gas from our interests in producirdisy hence our revenue recogni
policy for these sales is significant.

We recognize revenue from the sale of oil and m&yes when production is delivered to, and titls transferred to, the purchaser
to the extent the selling price is reasonably deitesble.

We use the sales method of accounting for nat@sloglancing of natural gas production and woutdggize a liability if the existir
proved reserves were not adequate to cover thergumbalance situation. As of December 31, 2@02,1, 2010, 2009, and 2008, our nai
gas production was in balance, meaning its cunwalgibrtion of natural gas production taken and $aich wells in which it has an inter
equaled its entitled interest in natural gas prtidndrom those wells.

In general, settlements for hydrocarbon sales oamund two months after the end of the month iicivithe oil, natural gas or ott
hydrocarbon products were produced. We estimateaandie for the value of these sales using infdonaavailable to us at the time «
financial statements are generated. Differencesediected in the accounting period that paymerggeceived from the operator.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activit

We use derivative instruments from time to timemanage market risks resulting from fluctuationghia prices of oil and natu
gas. We may periodically enter into derivative tecacts, including price swaps, caps and floors,civhiequire payments to (or receipts fr
counterparties based on the differential betwefixed price and a variable price for a fixed quantf oil or natural gas without the exchang
underlying volumes. The notional amounts of thisencial instruments are based on expected pramufitom existing wells. We have, ¢
may continue to use exchange traded futures castaac option contracts to hedge the delivery il at a future date.
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On November 1, 2009, due to the volatility of pridiéferentials in the Williston Basin, we diesignated all derivatives that w
previously classified as cash flow hedges and ilitith, we have elected not to designate any swlesgcderivative contracts as accoun
hedges. As such, all derivative positions areiedrat their fair value on the balance sheet amdnaarked-tanarket at the end of ee
period. Any realized gains and losses are recaalgdin (loss) on settled derivatives and unredligains or losses are recorded to gain (los
mark-tomarket of derivative instruments on the statemeaftcomprehensive income rather than as a compookrtccumulated oth
comprehensive income (loss) or other income (ex@enSee Note 15 for a description of the deriwationtracts which we executed during Z
and 2011.

Prior to November 1, 2009, at the inception of aivé¢ive contract, we designated the derivativeaasash flow hedge. For
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, wealtyrdocumented the relationship between the dévieacontract and the hedged items
well as the risk management objective for enteiritg the derivative contract. To be designated eash flow hedge transaction, the relatior
between the derivative and the hedged items mubkigiy effective in achieving the offset of chasgde cash flows attributable to the risk k
at the inception of the derivative and on an ongdiasis. We historically measured hedge effecégenon a quarterly basis and he
accounting would be discontinued prospectively dfdtermined that the derivative is no longer dffecin offsetting changes in the cash flow
the hedged item. Gains and losses deferred inmadeted other comprehensive income related to @ash hedge derivatives that beco
ineffective remain unchanged until the related patidn is delivered. If we determine that it i@ipable that a hedged forecasted transactiol
not occur, deferred gains or losses on the devieaie recognized in earnings immediately.

Derivatives, historically, were recorded on theabak sheet at fair value and changes in the fhievaf derivatives were recorded e
period in current earnings or other comprehengicerne, depending on whether a derivative was datddras part of a hedge transaction a
it was, depending on the type of hedge transactfur. derivatives historically consisted primarilfycash flow hedge transactions in which
were hedging the variability of cash flows relatedh forecasted transaction. Period to period gasin the fair value of derivative instrume
designated as cash flow hedges were reported inmadated other comprehensive income (loss) an@ssified to earnings in the period:
which the hedged item impacts earnings. The io#ffe portion of the cash flow hedges were reflédtecurrent period earnings as gain or
from derivatives. Gains and losses on derivatharuments that did not qualify for hedge accountivere included in income or loss fr
derivatives in the period in which they occur. Tasulting cash flows from derivatives were repds cash flows from operating activities.

New Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopte

Fair Value Measurement- In May 2011, the FASB issued Fair Value MeasumniEopic 820) —Amendments to Achieve Comir
Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure Requiremient$.S. GAAP and IFRSs (ASU No. 20D%), which provides clarifications regard
existing fair value measurement principles and ld&ge requirements, and also specific new guiddocétems such as measuremen
instruments classified within stockholdeesjuity. These requirements were effective forrinteand annual periods beginning after Decel
15, 2011. We implemented the accounting and discéoguidance effective January 1, 2012, and theeimentation did not have a mate
impact on our financial statements. For requisgdvalue measurement disclosures, see Note 13

Comprehensive Income- In June 2011, the FASB issued Comprehensive lecfhopic 220) —Presentation of Comprehens
Income (ASU No. 201D5), which requires the presentation of the comptmef net income, the components of OCI and tmahprehensiv
income in either a single continuous financialestant of comprehensive income or in two separatiecdnsecutive financial statements of
income and comprehensive income. These updateetdaffect the items reported in OCI or the guidafar reclassifying such items to
income. These requirements were effective forimteand annual periods beginning after December203,1l. We implemented the finan
statement presentation guidance effective Jany&91p.
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Recently Issue

Balance Sheet Offsetting In December 2011, the FASB issued Balance SHegti¢ 210) —Disclosures about Offsetting Assets
Liabilities (ASU No. 2011t1), which requires disclosures regarding nettimgragements in agreements underlying derivativedain financie
instruments and related collateral amounts, andetitent to which an entity’ financial statement presentation policies relatedetting
arrangements impact amounts recorded to the fiabsizEitements. These disclosure requirements dafieet the presentation of amounts in
balance sheets, and are effective for annual riegopteriods beginning on or after January 1, 2GR interim periods within those anrn
reporting periods. We do not expect the implentenaof this disclosure guidance to have a matémalact on our financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

For a description of the accounting standardsuwieaadopted in 2012, séotes to Financial Statementdlete 2. Significant Accounti
Policies.

Various accounting standards and interpretation® vesued in 2012 with effective dates subsequeltecember 31, 2012. We hi
evaluated the recently issued accounting pronouentsrthat are effective in 2013 and believe thatenof them will have a material effect
our financial position, results of operations osltlows when adopted.

Further, we are monitoring the joint standasdting efforts of the Financial Accounting Stam$aBoard and the Internatio
Accounting Standards Board. There are a large purabpending accounting standards that are beirgeted for completion in 2013 ¢
beyond, including, but not limited to, standarditing to revenue recognition, accounting for lsadair value measurements, accounting
financial instruments, disclosure of loss contirmes and financial statement presentation. Becthesee pending standards have not yet
finalized, at this time we are not able to deteemihe potential future impact that these standaitihave, if any, on our financial positic
results of operations or cash flows.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We currently do not have any dflance sheet arrangements that have or are rédhgdikaly to have a current or future effect onr

financial condition, changes in financial conditisevenues or expenses, results of operationsdifgucapital expenditures or capital resou
that is material to investors.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk
Commodity Price Risk

The price we receive for our oil and natural gasdpction heavily influences our revenue, profitijailaccess to capital and future |
of growth. Oil and natural gas are commodities, éinerefore, their prices are subject to wide flatibns in response to relatively minor chau
in supply and demand and other factors. Histdyicghe markets for oil and natural gas have bedatie, and our management believes t
markets will likely continue to be volatile in tHature. The prices we receive for our producti@pehd on numerous factors beyond
control. Our revenue during 2012 generally wowdéhincreased or decreased along with any increasgscreases in oil or natural gas pri
but the exact impact on our income is indetermiagbdren the variety of expenses associated witbymiag and selling oil that also increase
decrease along with oil prices.

We enter into derivative contracts to achieve aenmedictable cash flow by reducing our exposu@iltprice volatility. On Novemb
1, 2009, due to the volatility of price differerdian the Williston Basin, we ddesignated all derivatives that were previouslgsifed as cas
flow hedges and we have elected not to designatsamsequent derivative contracts as accountingdsedAs such, all derivative positions
carried at their fair value on the balance shedtaar marked-tonarket at the end of each period. Any realizedgyand losses are recorde
gain (loss) on settled derivatives and unrealizadkao-market gains or losses are recorded to unrealiaed(kpss) on derivative instruments
the statements of comprehensive income ratheradbacomponent of other comprehensive income (twssther income (expense).

We generally use derivatives to economically healgeggnificant, but varying portion of our anticipdtfuture production over a rolli
36 month horizon. Any payments due to counterggartinder our derivative contracts are funded byq®ds received from the sale of
production. Production receipts, however, lag payts to the counterparties. Any interim cash needsfunded by cash from operation:
borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. &8 December 31, 2012, we had entered into devigagigreements covering 3.1 mill
barrels for 2013 and 2.4 million barrels for 2014.

The following table summarizes the oil derivativntracts that we have entered into for each yeaf Becember 31, 2012:

West Texas
Intermediate
Volume Hedged Strike Price
Contract Type (Bhl) ($/Bhl) Term
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Collar 149,51' $ 90.00/$103.5 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Collar 139,79: % 90.00/$106.5 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Collar 224900 $ 90.00/$110.0 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Collar 182,26¢ % 95.00/$107.0 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Collar 480,00 $ 95.00/$110.7 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Collar 760,79: $ 85.00/$98.0 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Collar 120,000 $ 90.25/$97.9 2013
Jul 1- Dec 31,
Collar 96,00 $ 95.00/$106.9 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Swap 240,00 $ 91.1(¢ 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Swap 300,00 $ 89.5( 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Swap 240,00 $ 91.6¢ 2013
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Swap 120,00 $ 94.5( 2013
July 1- Dec 31,
Swap 60,00 $ 102.3( 2013
2013 Total/Average 3,113,260 $ 90.5¢
Jan 1- June 30
Swap 300,00 $ 89.5( 2014
Jan 1- June 30
Swap 240,00 $ 90.0(¢ 2014
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Swap 240,000 $ 91.0C 2014
Jan 1- Dec 31,
Swap 240,00 $ 91.6¢ 2014



Swap
Swap
Swap
Swap
Swap
Swap
Swap

Swap

Collar
2014 Total/Average

240,00 $ 90.1¢
240,00 $ 100.0(
30,00 $ 90.5¢
120,00¢ $ 91.3¢
120,00¢ $ 90.0(
120,000 $ 90.0(
120,00¢ $ 90.0(
120,000 $ 93.5(
240,000 $ 90.00/$99.0
2,370,000 $ 91.4¢
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Interest Rate Risk

Our longterm debt is comprised of borrowings that contaied and floating interest rates. The Notes betarést at an annual fix
rate of 8% and our Revolving Credit Facility intereate is a floating rate option that is desigtdte us within the parameters established b
underlying agreement. During the year ended Deee@b, 2012, we had $104.3 million in average anting borrowings under our Revolv
Credit Facility at a weighted average rate of 2.288e have the option to designate the referenteafinterest for each specific borrow
under the Revolving Credit Facility as amountsadeanced. Borrowings based upon the London Intériafered Rate (“LIBOR")will beat
interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus a spreadingnfrom 1.75% to 2.75% depending on the percente#gborrowing base that is curret
advanced. Any borrowings not designated as beasgdupon LIBOR will bear interest at a rate etuhe current prime rate published by
Wall Street Journal, plus a spread ranging fron8%.70 1.75%, depending on the percentage of bongwase that is currently advanced.
have the option to designate either pricing meamnilnterest payments are due under the Revolunegit Facility in arrears, in the case i
loan based on LIBOR on the last day of the spetifigerest period and in the case of all other doan the last day of each March, Ji
September and December. All outstanding prindgédle and payable upon termination of the Revglgredit Facility.

Our Revolving Credit Facility allows us to fix ttieterest rate of borrowings under it for all or @rton of the principal balance fo
period up to three months; however our borrowingsgenerally withdrawn with interest rates fixed éme month. Thereafter, to the exten
do not repay the principle, our borrowings areamlbver and the interest rate is reset based ocutihent LIBOR or prime rate as applicable
a result, changes in interest rates can impacttsesiioperations and cash flows. A 1% increasshiort-term interest rates on our floatirage
debt at December 31, 2012 would cost us approxiyn@ie2 million in additional annual interest exgen
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary findirdi@armation required by this item are includedtbe pages immediately followi
the Index to Financial Statements appearing on paye

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain a system of disclosure controls anadgmtares that is designed to ensure that informagqoired to be disclosed in «
Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, suixedaand reported within the time periods specifiethe rules and forms of the SEC,

that such information is accumulated and commueit& our management, including our Chief Execu¥ficer and Chief Financial Office
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardaquired disclosures.
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As of December 31, 2012, our management, including Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0&r, had evaluated t
effectiveness of the design and operation of oseldsure controls and procedures (as defined im&ge Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 1Hi(e)
pursuant to Rule 1345(b) under the Exchange Act. Based upon and dleoflate of the evaluation, our Chief Executivéid®ef and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that information re@uirto be disclosed is recorded, processed, sunmedadard reported within the speci
periods and is accumulated and communicated to geament, including our Chief Executive Officer anbi&® Financial Officer, to allow fc
timely decisions regarding required disclosure aftenial information required to be included in queriodic SEC reports. Based on
foregoing, our management determined that ouralsce controls and procedures were effective @eoémber 31, 2012.

No change in our company’s internal control oveaficial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) 46d415(f) under the Exchan
Act) occurred during the quarter ended DecembeRB12, that has materially affected, or is reashynéitely to materially affect, our intern
control over financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

The management of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. ipamsible for establishing and maintaining adeqi@trnal control over financi
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)1&ider the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Twenpanys internal control system
designed to provide reasonable assurance regatdirrgliability of financial reporting and the pegption of our Compang’financial statemer
for external purposes in accordance with geneealbepted accounting principles in the United Stateésmerica.

All internal control systems, no matter how welksigmed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etrerse systems determined tc
effective can provide only reasonable assurancé wéspect to financial statement preparation arebqmtation. Because of its inhe
limitations, internal control over financial repiod may not prevent or detect misstatements. Alsgjections of any evaluation of effectiver
to future periods are subject to the risk that mmstmay become inadequate because of changesditioas, or that the degree of complia
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cgisgdaternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2012. In mak
this assessment, management used the criteriarietly the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohthe Treadway Commission (COSO
Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on our evaluation under the framework inriv@ieControlintegrated Framework, management concluded thaCtimapany'
internal control over financial reporting was effee as of December 31, 2012.

The effectiveness of our Compasyihternal control over financial reporting as cgdember 31, 2012, has been audited by Deloi
Touche LLP, an independent registered public adoogifirm, as stated in their report.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Northern Oil and Gas, In

We have audited the internal control over finanaigorting of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (the "Canyp") as of December 31, 2012, base
criteria established innternal Control — Integrated Frameworiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadwa
Commission. The Company's management is resporfsibfeaintaining effective internal control ovendincial reporting and for its assessr
of the effectiveness of internal control over fin&h reporting, included in the accompanying Mamaget's Annual Report on Internal Cont
over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility ésexpress an opinion on the Company's internalreboter financial reporting based on
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordk@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiraduthe design and operating effectiveness ofriatlecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thahwdit provides a reasonable basis for
opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repagtis a process designed by, or under the supenvigi the company's principal executive
principal financial officers, or persons performisignilar functions, and effected by the compangari of directors, management, and ¢
personnel to provide reasonable assurance regatuingeliability of financial reporting and the peeation of financial statements for exte
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. A company's internal control o¥mancial reporting includes thc
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to thenteaance of records that, in reasonable detaiyrately and fairly reflect the transactions
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) ippyeasonable assurance that transactions areleecas necessary to permit preparatic
financial statements in accordance with generailyepted accounting principles, and that receipts expenditures of the company are b
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngangent and directors of the company; and (3) pevehsonable assurance regat
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigon, use, or disposition of the company's asskeat could have a material effect on
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcolnover financial reporting, including the poskth of collusion or improper managemi
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detecte@d ¢imely basis. Also, projections of ¢
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltarover financial reporting to future periods aéject to the risk that the controls may bec
inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbaegree of compliance with the policies orcpures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all miaterespects, effective internal control over fioal reporting as of December 31, 2(
based on the criteria establishedliternal Control — Integrated Framewoiiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiminthe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bloddnited States), the financ
statements as of and for the year ended Decemb@032 of the Company and our report dated Mar@013 expressed an unqualified opir
on those financial statements.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota

March 1, 2013
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by this Part Ill iorporated by reference from our definitive Proxgit&ment for the Annual Meeting
Shareholders to be held in 2013 (the “Proxy Statgfhevhich we intend to file with the SEC pursuant tggRlation 14A within 120 days af
December 31, 2012. Except for those portions fipally incorporated into this Annual report on RorlOK by reference to the Pro
Statement, no other portions of the Proxy Stateraentieemed to be filed as part of this Annual RepoForm 10-K.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goverree
The information included in “Part | — Executive {©#rs of the Registrant” of this report is incorgiad herein by reference.

The information appearing under the headings “Psapd: Election of Directors,” “Corporate Governah and ‘Section 16(¢
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in theX¥ Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsBthat applies to our chief executive officer,e€Hinancial officer and perso
performing similar functions. A copy is availalde our website at www.northernoil.came intend to post on our website any amendntey
or waivers from, our Code of Business Conduct aicE pursuant to the rules of the SEC and NYSE MKT

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information appearing under the headings “EtreelCompensation” and “Compensation Committee Regpand the informatic
regarding compensation committee interlocks andémsparticipation under the heading “Corporate &oaance,”in the Proxy Statement
incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners anbanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information with regp& our common shares issuable under our egaitypensation plans as of
December 31, 2012:

Number of Number of
securities to Weighted- securities
be issued average remaining
upon exercist exercise price  available for
of of future
outstanding outstanding issuance
options, options, under equity
warrants and warrants and compensatior
Plan Category rights rights plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security holers
2006 Incentive Stock Option Pl 251,96. $ 5.1¢ -
2009 Amended and Restated Equity Incentive - - 877,28¢
Equity compensation plans not approved by securitholders — — —
Total 251,96. $ 5.1¢ 877,28

The information appearing under the heading “Sécudiwnership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Maragnt” in the Prox
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aditector Independence

The information appearing under the headings “@eMRelationships and Related Transactions” and pGrate Governanceh the
Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information appearing under the heading “Prap@s Ratification of Appointment of Independentdgi&ered Public Accountants”
in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein fgreamce.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
€)) Documents filed as part of this Répor
1. Financial Statement
See Index to Financial Statements on pe-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedu
Supplemental Oil and Gas Informati

All other schedules are omitted because they daheenot applicable or required information is showm the financial statements
or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits:

Unless otherwise indicated, all documents incorgaray reference into this report are filed wite 8EC pursuant to the Securities and

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, under file nuidB&r33999.

Exhibit No. Description Reference

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of Northern Oil and Gésc. datec  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the iBtegn’s
June 28, 201 Current Report on Formr-K filed with the SEC on July 2, 201

3.2 By-Laws of Northern Oil and Gas, Ir Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the iRtegn’s

Current Report on Formr-K filed with the SEC on July 2, 20!

4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate of Northern Oil and Gas, Filed herewitt

4.2 Indenture, dated May 18, 2012, between Northerratd Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the iRegn’s
Gas, Inc. and Wilmington Trust, National Associatias Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC onrbtal8,
trustee (including Form of 8.000% Senior Note d02® 2012

10.1* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thgiR®an’s
between Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. and Michael égét, Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC omfemry 2,
dated January 30, 20! 2009 (File No. 00-33999)

10.2* Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employ Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to thgiRean’s
Agreement by and between Northern Oil and Gas,dnd.  Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC oarkh 4,
Michael L. Reger, dated January 14, 2! 2011 (File No. 00-33999)

10.3* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to thgiR®an’s
between Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. and Ryan R.egifion, Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC omkery 2,
dated January 30, 20! 2009 (File No.. 0C-33999)

10.4* Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employ Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to thgiRean’s
Agreement by and between Northern Oil and Gas,dnd.  Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC onrtta25,
Ryan R. Gilbertson, dated March 25, 2( 2010 (File No. 00-33999)

10.5* Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Employ Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to thgiRean’s
Agreement by and between Northern Oil and Gas,dnd.  Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC oarh 4,
Ryan R. Gilbertson, dated January 14, 2 2011 (File No. 00-33999)

10.6* Separation Agreement and Release, dated OctoBéd 2, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiBtean’s
between Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. and Ryan R.e&iflon  Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC ontéber 1,

2012

10.7* Consulting Agreement, dated October 1, 2012, bat Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thgiRean’s

Northern QOil and Gas, Inc. and Ryan R. Gilbert Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC ont@ber 1,
2012

10.8* Employment Agreement by and between Northern Qll Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thgiRean’s

Gas, Inc. and James R. Sankovitz, dated March@®4) 2 Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC onrbta25,
2010

10.9* Employment Agreement by and between Northern Qll Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiR®an’s

Gas, Inc. and Thomas W. Stoelk, dated Novembe®dBl 2  Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC onvidimber
9, 2011

10.10* Employment Agreement by and between Northern Qi Filed herewitt
Gas, Inc. and Brandon Elliott, dated January 13:

10.11* Employment Agreement by and between Northern Qll Filed herewitt
Gas, Inc. and Erik J. Romslo, dated October 101:

10.12* Form of Promissory Note issued to Michael L. Reayeat Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to tlgiBtran’s



10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18

10.19

10.20

12
23.1

23.2

23.3
311

31.2

32.1

99.1
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB
101.PRE

Ryan R. Gilbertsol

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. Amended and Restate®
Equity Incentive Plan

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. Amended and Restate®
Equity Incentive Plan Amendment Nc

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Nonti@il
and Gas, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (for gsgntor to
June 8, 2011

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Nontlazl
and Gas, Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equitytivee
Plan (for"single trigge” grants after June 8, 201

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Nontiail
and Gas, Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equitytivee
Plan (for“double trigge” grants after December 20, 20:
Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dateaf
February 28, 2012, among Northern Oil and Gas, &x.
Borrower, Royal Bank of Canada, as Administratigent,
SunTrust Bank, as Syndication Agent, Bank of Maadtre
KeyBank, N.A. and U.S. Bank N.A., as Co-Documentati
Agents, and the Lenders party ther

First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated €
Agreement, dated June 29, 2012, by and among Nor@i¢
and Gas, Inc., Royal Bank of Canada, and the Leridarty
thereta

Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restatedt(
Agreement, dated September 28, 2012, by and among
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc., Royal Bank of Canaddl, the
Lenders Party there

Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Char

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
Deloitte & Touche LLF

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
Mantyla McReynolds LLC

Consent of Ryder Scott Company,

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursidao Rule
13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Excha#g of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of tHeaSeas-
Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Rule
13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchag of
1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of tHeaSeas-
Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer andi€h
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiobd,3as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of
2002

Report of Ryder Scott Company, L

XBRL Instance Document(:

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docut
1)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurt
(1)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documen
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doen

1)

Current Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on March ¢
2010

Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Begh’'s
Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2011 Annual Megtof
Shareholders filed with the SEC on May 2, 2011e(Nb. 001-
33999)

Filed herewitt

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to tkegiRtran’'s
Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC oarkh 8,
2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to thgiRean’s
Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC @bRuary
29, 2012

Filed herewitt

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiRean’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC onrbta2,
2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiR®an’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC ofy R} 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiRean’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC ont@ber 2,
2012

Filed herewitr
Filed herewitr

Filed herewitr

Filed herewitr
Filed herewitr

Filed herewitr

Filed herewitr

Filed herewitr

Filed Electronically
Filed Electronically
Filed Electronically

Filed Electronically

Filed Electronically
Filed Electronically

* Management contract or compensatory plan or gearent required to be filed as an exhibit to thfsort.

Q) The XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to thnnual Report on Form -K shall not be deeme“filed” for purposes ¢
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 198t,amended, or otherwise subject to liability aitteection and shall not
incorporated by reference into any filing or otliErcument pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933aragnded, except as shall
expressly set forth by specific reference in sulafgfor document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this repol
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

Date: March 1, 201 By: /sl Michael L. Rege

Michael L. Rege
Chief Executive Office

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below coastiénd appoints, Michael L. Reger and Thomas WelIStor either of them, his/her true :
lawful attorney-infact and agent, acting alone, with full power dbstitution and resubstitution, for him/her and is/ther name, place and ste
in any and all capacities, to sign any and all aingnts (including post-effective amendments) te #inual Report on Form 1K-and to file
the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other duents in connection wherewith, with the Commissigranting unto said attorney-fact anc
agent, each acting alone, full power and authaoitsfo and perform each and every act and thingisiéguand necessary to be done in and ¢
the premises, as fully to all intents and purpasesie/she might or could do in person, herebyymgfand confirming all said attorney-faet
and agent, acting alone, or his/her substitutelbstitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be doneiliye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bdlgwhe following persons
behalf of the registrant and in the capacity anthendates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl Michael L. Rege Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Direc March 1, 201:

Michael L. Rege
Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial Office March 1, 201:

/sl Thomas W. Stoel Principal Accounting Officer
Thomas W. Stoel

/sl Loren J. (Toole Director March 1, 201:
Loren J. CToole

/sl Richard Webe Director March 1, 201:
Richard Webe

/sl Jack King Director March 1, 2013
Jack King

/s/ Robert Grab Director March 1, 2013
Robert Grabt

/s/ Lisa Bromiley Director March 1, 201:
Lisa Bromiley

/sl Delos Cy Jamisa Director March 1, 201:

Delos Cy Jamiso
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc

We have audited the accompanying balance sheéisrtiiern Oil and Gas, Inc. (the “Compang3 of December 31, 2012 and 2011, an
related statements of comprehensive income, stéaétsd equity, and cash flows for the years thetedn These financial statements are
responsibility of the Company's management. Oyaesibility is to express an opinion on these feiahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighafloUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastataiments are free of material misstater
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, ewidesupporting the amounts and disclosures initlaadial statements. An audit also inclt
assessing the accounting principles used and wignifestimates made by management, as well asativeg the overall financial statem
presentation. We believe that our audits provideagonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such 2012 and 2011 financial staets referred to above present fairly, in all mateespects, the financial position of Nortr
Oil and Gas, Inc. as of December 31, 2012 and 28id the results of its operations and its cashsflfor the years then ended in conforr
with accounting principles generally accepted i thmited States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo#onited States), the Compar
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2012, based on the criteria establighéotérnal Control-ntegrated Framewol

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiof the Treadway Commission and our report dafedch 1, 2013 expressed
unqualified opinion on the Company's internal cohtwver financial reporting.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 1, 2013




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc

We have audited the accompanying statements ofmagcetockholdersequity, and cash flows of Northern Oil and Gas, [tlite Company) f
the year ended December 31, 2010. These finastzEitdments are the responsibility of the Compamyanagement. Our responsibility i
express an opinion on these financial statemestsdoan our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastataiments are free of material misstater
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, exidesupporting the amounts and disclosures initlaadial statements. An audit also inclL
assessing the accounting principles used and wignifestimates made by management, as well asativeg the overall financial statem
presentation. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredbove present fairly, in all material respedis, tesults of the Comparsybperations and
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20t0nformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America.

/sl Mantyla McReynolds LLC
Mantyla McReynolds LLC

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 4, 2011
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalel
Trade Receivable
Advances to Operato
Prepaid Expense
Other Current Asse
Derivative Instrument
Deferred Tax Asse

Total Current Assel

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Oil and Natural Gas Properties, Full Cost MethbAacounting
Proved
Unproved
Other Property and Equipme

Total Property and Equipme
Less- Accumulated Depreciation and Deplet

Total Property and Equipment, N
DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payabl
Accrued Expense
Accrued Interes
Derivative Instrument

Total Current Liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Revolving Credit Facility
8% Senior Notes Due 20:
Derivative Instrument
Other Noncurrent Liabilitie
Deferred Tax Liability

Total Lon¢-Term Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 9)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock, Par Value $.001; 5,000,000 Aizldr No Shares Outstandi
Common Stock, Par Value $.001; 95,000,000 Autleorid2/31/201:- 63,532,622
Shares Outstanding and 12/31/2+ 63,330,421 Shares Outstandil
Additional Pair-In Capital
Retained Earning
Accumulated Other Comprehensive L

Total Stockholders' Equi

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part aktfieancial statement

December 31

2012 2011
$ 13,387,99 $ 6,279,58
70,219,66  51,418,83
3,109,59  17,530,47
592,00 486,42;
1,115,08 317,46(
4,095,19 -
1,695,001 4,472,001
9421454  80,504,77
1,159,191,60  566,195,32
82,926,38  137,784,90
3,158,22. 2,988,64
1,245,276,20 _ 706,968,86
162,031,49  63,265,91
1,083,244,71  643,702,94
1,763,00 -
11,713,03 1,386,20.
$1,190,935,29 $725,593,91
$ 9582216 $110,133,28
2,454,08, 65,44:
2,180,41 98,79¢

- 9,363,06:
100,456,66 _ 119,660,59
124,000,00  69,900,00
300,000,00 -
2,547,74 2,574,90;
1,570,63 959,36t
76,175,00  35,929,00
504,293,37 _ 109,363,26
604,750,03  229,023,86
63,53: 63,33(
465,466,42  448,198,35
120,655,30  48,370,68
- (62,309
586,185,26 _ 496,570,05
$1,190,935,29 $725,593,91
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NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011, AND 200

REVENUES
Oil and Gas Sale
Loss on Settled Derivative
Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instrume
Other Revenu

Total Revenue

OPERATING EXPENSES
Production Expense
Production Taxe
General and Administrative Exper
Depletion of Oil and Gas Properti
Depreciation and Amortizatic
Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obligas

Total Expense
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Other Income
Interest Expens
Interest Incomu
Gain (Loss) on Available for Sale Securit

Total Other Income (Expens

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX PROVISION

NET INCOME

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX
Unrealized Gains on Marketable Securities (Nefat
of $109,000 and $349,000 for the years ended

December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectiv
Reclassification of Derivative Instruments Incldde
Income (Net of Tax of $39,000, $448,000 andepado
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012614,
respectively)
Total Other Comprehensive Incol

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net Income Per Common She Basic

Net Income Per Common Shé Diluted
Weighted Average Shares Outstanc— Basic
Weighted Average Shares Outstanc- Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statement
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$296,637,85 $159,439,50 $ 59,488,28
(391,420  (13,407,87) (469,60
15,147,12 3,072,22'  (14,545,47)
179,33: 285,23 85,90(
311,572,89 _ 149,389,09 44.559,10
32,382,31 13,043,63 3,288,48;
28,485,59 14,300,72 5,477,97!
22,645,31 13,624,89 7,204,44;
98,427,15 40,815,42 16,884,56
409,88¢ 298,13 176,59
86,19: 56,05¢ 21,75¢
182,436,45 82,138,86 33,053,81
129,136,43 67,250,23 11,505,28
23,61 - -
(13,874,90) (585,98:) (583,37
1,26 567,45: 472,91:

- 215,09: (58,529)
(13,850,03) 196,56. (168,98))
115,286,39 67,446,79 11,336,30
43,001,77 26,835,30 4,419,001
$ 72,28462 $ 4061149 $ 6,917,30
- 173,84¢ 553,13

62,30¢ 709,77 711,55
62,30¢ 883,62: 1,264,68'

$ 72,346,93 $ 4149511 $ 8,181,98
$ 116 $ 0.6 $ 0.14
$ 115 $ 065 $ 0.1/
62,485,83 61,789,28 50,387,20
62,869,07 62,19534  50,778,24




NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011, AND 200

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Casividled by Operating Activitie

Depletion of Oil and Gas Properti
Depreciation and Amortizatic
Amortization of Debt Issuance Co:
Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obligas
Deferred Income Taxe
Net (Gain) Loss on Sale of Available for Sale Sitias
Unrealized (Gain) Loss on Derivative Instrume
Gain on Sale of Other Property and Equipn
Amortization of Deferred Rel
Share- Based Compensation Expel
Changes in Working Capital and Other ltel
Increase in Trade Receivab
Increase in Prepaid Expen:
Decrease (Increase) in Other Current As
(Decrease) Increase in Accounts Pay.
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Inte
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Expet

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activitl

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of Oil and Gas Properties and DevelopGegital Expenditure
Advances to Operato

Proceeds from Sale of Oil and Gas Prope

Proceeds from Sale of Available for Sale Secu

Proceeds from Sale of Other Property and Equip!

Purchase of Available for Sale Securit

Purchases of Other Property and Equipn

Net Cash Used for Investing Activiti

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Advances on Revolving Credit Facili

Repayments on Revolving Credit Facil

Issuances of 8% Senior Notes Due 2

Payments on Line of Crec

Decrease in Subordinated Notes,

Debt Issuance Costs P:

Repurchase of Common Stc

Proceeds from Exercise of Warra

Proceeds from the Issuance of Common S- Net of Issuance Cos
Proceeds from Exercise of Stock Optir

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activiti
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALEN TS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF PERIOD

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF PERIOD

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatior
Cash Paid During the Period for Inter

Cash Paid During the Period for Income Te

Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activitie
Purchase of Oil and Gas Properties through Issuah€ommon Stoc

Payment of Compensation through Issuance of ConBback
Capitalized Asset Retirement Obligatic

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$ 7228462 $ 4061149 $ 6,917,30
98,427,15 40,815,42 16,884,56
409,88 298,13 176,59!
1,527,19. 430,76 455,30;
86,19: 56,05t 21,75t
42,984,00 26,833,00 4,419,001

- (215,09;) 58,52
(15,147,12)  (3,072,22)  14,545,47
(23,61 - -
(33,23() (19,795 (18,579
12,381,75 6,164,32. 3,566,13:
(18,800,83)  (29,385,18)  (15,008,63)
(105,58() (140,72 (202,08
110,37 158,50° (274,65
(63,025) 2,486,66  42,080,67
2,081,61: 98,79¢ (50,63
2,407,21 29,38t (263,519
198,526,61 85,149,52 73,307,22

(531,954,97)

(341,363,95)

(180,400,55)

(4,304,82)  (11,771,61)

- 5,027,16: 297,87

- 58,606,32 34,699,65

39,00( - -
- (18,381,69)  (48,679,26)
(256,441 (450,82)  (2,039,54)

(532,172,42)

(300,867,80)

(207,893,45)

475,600,00 79,900,00 5,300,001
(421,500,00)  (10,000,00)  (5,300,00)
300,000,00 - -
;i ; (834,49

- - (500,00()
(11,854,02) (449,83) (395,35!)
(1,546,14)  (1,081,13) -

- 1,500,001 -

- - 282,193,40

54,39( 18,13( -
340,754,21 69,887,16 _ 280,463,55
710841  (145,831,11) 145877,32
6,279,58  152,110,70 6,233,37;

$ 13,387,99 $ 6,27958 $152,110,70
$ 1557914 $ 286,71 $ 169,23
$ 8,77: $ - $ -
$ - 3 - $ 12,679,42
$ 18,76003 $ 1927846 $ 873321
$ 53972 $ 40124 $ 232,25




Nor-Cash Compensation Capitalized in Oil and Gas Ptieg $ 6,378,27 $ 13,114,13 $ 5,167,08

The accompanying notes are an integral part aktfieancial statement




NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012, 2011, AND 200

Accumulated

Other
Additional Comprehensive Total
Common Stock Paid-In Income Retained Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital (Loss) Earnings Equity

Balance- December 31, 200 43,911,04 $ 43,91 $124,884,26 $ (2,210,62) $ 841,89. $ 123,559,45

Issuance of Common Sto 18,218,38 18,217 299,841,51 - - 299,859,73

Share Based Compensat - - 4,439,10 - - 4,439,10.

Net Change in Cash Flow Hed

Derivatives - - - 711,55 - 711,55

Net Change in Unrealized Gain(Lo!

on Shor-term Investment - - - 553,13! - 553,13!

Cost of Capital Raise - - (692,799 - - (692,799

Income Tax Provision for Sha

Based Compensatic - - 12,00( - - 12,00(

Net Income - - - - 6,917,30! 6,917,30!
Balance- December 31, 201 62,129,42 $ 62,12¢ $428,484,09 $ (945,93) $ 7,759,19; $ 435,359,48

Net Issuance of Common Sta 1,200,99 1,201 4,770,711 - - 4,771,91

Share Based Compensat - - 14,943,54 - - 14,943,54

Net Change in Cash Flow Hed

Derivatives - - - 709,77t - 709,77¢

Net Change in Unrealized Gain(Lo!

on Shor-term Investment - - - 173,84t - 173,84t

Net Income - - - - 40,611,49 40,611,49
Balance- December 31, 201 63,330,42 $ 63,33( $448,198,35 $ (62,309 $ 48,370,68 $ 496,570,05

Net Issuance of Common Sta 202,20: 202 (1,491,96) - - (1,491,75)

Share Based Compensat - - 18,760,03 - - 18,760,03

Net Change in Cash Flow Hed

Derivatives - - - 62,30¢ - 62,30¢

Net Income - - - - 72,284,62 72,284,62
Balance- December 31, 201 63,632,62 $ 63,63: $465,466,42 $ - $120,655,30 $586,185,26

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofl
financial statement:




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2012

NOTE1 ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (tt*Company,” “Northern,” “our"and words of similar import), a Minnesota corparatiis an independent ene
company engaged in the acquisition, exploratiomlatation, development and production of crude aild natural gas properties. -
Company’s common stock trades on the NYSE MKT mtawkeéler the symbol “NOG”.

Northerr's principal business is crude oil and natural ggdoeation, development, and production with opierat in North Dakota and Montg
that primarily target the Bakken and Three Forksnitions in the Williston Basin of the United StateThe Company acquires leasel
interests that comprise of naperated working interests in wells and in drillipgpjects within its area of operations. As of Baber 31, 201
approximately 50% of Northern’s 179,131 total nerea were developed. As of December 31, 2011 ocappately 31% of Northers’ 168,84
total net acres were developed.

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been preparedciordance with accounting principles generally atsgpn the United States of Amer
(“GAAP"). In connection with preparing the financial statetador the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coynipas) evaluated subseqt
events for potential recognition and disclosuretigh the date of this filing and determined thar¢hwere no subsequent events which req
recognition or disclosure in the financial statetsen

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements under GA@duires management to make estimates and assasgtit affect the reported amount
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingessets and liabilities at the date of the findrat@ements and the reported amounts of rev
and expenses during the reporting period. The migstificant estimates relate to proved crude ail aatural gas reserve volumes, fu
development costs, estimates relating to certaidecoil and natural gas revenues and expensesafag of derivative instruments, and defe
income taxes. Actual results may differ from thesémates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Northern considers highly liquid investments witisignificant interest rate risk and original maies to the Company of three months or le:
be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consistapghjmof interest-bearing bank accounts and moneyket funds. The Compary/’casl
positions represent assets held in checking anceynorarket accounts. These assets are generallgtdgaon a daily or weekly basis and
highly liquid in nature. Due to the balances baingater than $250,000, the Company does not hai@ €overage on the entire amount of k
deposits. The Company believes this risk is mihinh@ addition, the Company is subject to Secuhityestor Protection Corporation (SIF
protection on a vast majority of its financial @sse

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are carried on a gross badih mo discounting. The Company regularly reviews aged accounts receivable
collectability and establishes an allowance as ssauy for individual customer balanceslo allowance for doubtful accounts was recorde
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Advances to Operators

The Company participates in the drilling of crudeamd natural gas wells with other working intérpartners. Due to the capital intensi
nature of crude oil and natural gas drilling a¢tdd, the working interest partner responsiblecfmmducting the drilling operations may req!
advance payments from other working interest pestifer their share of the costsThe Company expects such advances to be appli
working interest partners against joint interefiirtyjs for its share of drilling operations with@® days from when the advance is paid.
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Other Property and Equipment

Property and equipment that are not crude oil atdral gas properties are recorded at cost ancedeped using the straiglihe method ove
their estimated useful lives of three to fifteerange Expenditures for replacements, renewals battérments are capitalized. Maintenance
repairs are charged to operations as incurredgdivaed assets, other than crude oil and naturalpgaeperties, are evaluated for impairmer
determine if current circumstances and market ¢mmdi indicate the carrying amount may not be recalle. Northern has not recognized
impairment losses on non-crude oil and naturallgiaglived assets. Depreciation expense was $409,888,$37, and $176,595 for the ye
ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, resplgctive

Full Cost Method

Northern follows the full cost method of accountifiy crude oil and natural gas operations wherdbgasts related to the exploration i
development of crude oil and natural gas propesresinitially capitalized into a single cost centéull cost pool”). Such costs include la
acquisition costs, geological and geophysical egpegncarrying charges on npreducing properties, costs of drilling directlylated tc
acquisition, and exploration activities. Interralsts that are capitalized are directly attribigatal acquisition, exploration and developn
activities and do not include costs related toptaeluction, general corporate overhead or simittiviies. Costs associated with production
general corporate activities are expensed in thiegéncurred. Capitalized costs are summarizetblews for the years ended December
2012, 2011, and 2010:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Capitalized Certain Payroll and Other Internal & $ 847767 $ 16,952,999 $ 6,559,74
Capitalized Interest Cos 5,929,47. 405,98« 59,71.
Total $ 14,407,115 $ 17,358,97 $ 6,619,45

As of December 31, 2012, the Company held leasehtdcests in the Williston Basin on acreage lodateNorth Dakota and Montana targe!
the Bakken and Three Forks formations.

Proceeds from property sales will generally beiteeldo the full cost pool, with no gain or lossognized, unless such a sale would significi
alter the relationship between capitalized coststha proved reserves attributable to these c@stgnificant alteration would typically invol
a sale of 25% or more of the proved reserves kltea single full cost pool. In the years endegt@®@nber 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010
Company sold acreage and interests in producingepties for $908,000, $5.0 million and $298,008pextively. The proceeds for these ¢
were applied to reduce the capitalized costs alenil and natural gas properties.

Capitalized costs associated with impaired propgriind capitalized cost related to properties Igapioved reserves, plus the estimated fi
development costs and asset retirement costsepteteld and amortized on the unitpsbduction method based on the estimated grosse¢
reserves as determined by independent petroleuinessrg. The costs of unproved properties are withfrom the depletion base until si
time as they are either developed or abandonecen\igloved reserves are assigned or the propecgnisidered to be impaired, the cost of
property or the amount of the impairment is addeddsts subject to depletion and full cost ceiliadculations. For the years ended Decel
31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Company transfentedtie full cost pool costs related to expiredséssaof $7.1 million, $9.0 million, and $.
million, respectively.

Capitalized costs of crude oil and natural gas grigs (net of related deferred income taxes) n@yerceed an amount equal to the pre
value, discounted at 10% per annum, of the estinAttire net cash flows from proved crude oil ardural gas reserves plus the cos
unproved properties (adjusted for related incomeetéects). Should capitalized costs exceed thing, impairment is recognized. The pre:
value of estimated future net cash flows is comgpuge applying the 12aonth average price of crude oil and natural gasstomated futui
production of proved crude oil and natural gas meseas of perioénd, less estimated future expenditures to be riedun developing ar
producing the proved reserves and assuming comitimuaf existing economic conditions. Such preseatie of proved reservekiture net cas
flows excludes future cash outflows associated wéttiling asset retirement obligations that hawenkeccrued on the balance sheet. Shoul
comparison indicate an excess carrying value, Hoess is charged to earnings as an impairment egpeks of December 31, 2012,
Company has not realized any impairment of its prigs.




Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligation is included in othenawrrent liabilities and relates to future costsocagated with the plugging and abandonme
crude oil and natural gas wells, removal of equipiaad facilities from leased acreage and returtiiegand to its original condition. Estime
are based on estimated remaining lives of thoss\waked on reserve estimates, external estimaigsd and abandon the wells in the fut
inflation, credit adjusted discount rates and fatland state regulatory requirements. The ligbiditaccreted to its present value each perioc
the capitalized cost is depreciated over the udiééudf the related asset.

Debt Issuance Costs

At December 31, 2012, the Company has capitalisdd idsuance costs of $5.8 million in connectiothwie revolving credit facility and $¢
million in connection with the senior unsecuredesofsee Note 5). These debt issuance costs arg &miortized over the term of the rel:
financing using the straight-line method, which mpmates the effective interest method.

The amortization of debt issuance costs for thesyemded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was B1%L $430,760 and $455,3
respectively.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes crude oil and natural gantees from its interests in producing wells wheodpction is delivered to, and title |
transferred to, the purchaser and to the extensdfiang price is reasonably determinable. Northeses the sales method of accountin
natural gas balancing of natural gas productionwsadld recognize a liability if the existing provedserves were not adequate to covel
imbalance situation. As of December 31, 2012, 2&dd 2010, the Compars/hatural gas production was in balance, meangguinulativ:
portion of natural gas production taken and satanfrvells in which it has an interest equaled ittled interest in natural gas production fi
those wells.

Concentrations of Market and Credit Risk

The future results of the Compasycrude oil and natural gas operations will becidfeé by the market prices of crude oil and natges. Th
availability of a ready market for crude oil andtural gas products in the future will depend on etoas factors beyond the control of
Company, including weather, imports, marketing ofmpetitive fuels, proximity and capacity of crudié and natural gas pipelines and o
transportation facilities, any oversupply or undemy of crude oil, natural gas and liquid produdtse regulatory environment, the econc
environment, and other regional and political esenbne of which can be predicted with certainty.

The Company operates in the exploration, developraed production sector of the crude oil and natges industry. The Comparsy’
receivables include amounts due from purchaseits @rude oil and natural gas production. Whiletaia of these customers are affecte:
periodic downturns in the economy in general othigir specific segment of the crude oil or natgas industry, the Company believes the
level of credit-related losses due to such econdluituations has been and will continue to be irarial to the Compang'results of operatio
over the long-term. Trade receivables are geryenali collateralized.

The Company manages and controls market and cpantgrcredit risk. In the normal course of businesdlateral is not required for financ
instruments with credit risk. Financial instrumemtkich potentially subject the Company to credskrconsist principally of temporary ci
balances and derivative financial instruments. Thenpany maintains cash and cash equivalents in tepé&sit accounts which, at times, 1
exceed the federally insured limits. The Company mat experienced any significant losses from snebstments. The Company attempt
limit the amount of credit exposure to any one fiicial institution or company. The Company belietas credit quality of its customers
generally high. In the normal course of businesteils of credit or parent guarantees may be redjdor counterparties which managen
perceives to have a higher credit risk.

StockBased Compensation

The Company records expense associated with thgdhie of stockeased compensation. For fully vested stock angicts] stock grants tl
Company calculates the stock based compensatiensgmbased upon estimated fair value on the dageanf. For stock options, the Comp
uses the Blaclscholes option valuation model to calculate staaseld compensation at the date of grant. Opti@mgrinodels require the ing
of highly subjective assumptions, including the extpd price volatility. Changes in these assumptioan materially affect the fair va
estimate.

F-10




Stock Issuance

The Company records the stock-based compensatiardawssued to noamployees and other external entities for goodssandices at eith
the fair market value of the goods received orisessrendered or the instruments issued in exchiamgeich services, whichever is more ree
determinable.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arerdeteed based upon differences between the finamejabrting and tax bases of assets
liabilities and are measured using the enactedates and laws that will be in effect when theeati#hces are expected to reverse. Accou
standards require the consideration of a valuatitmvance for deferred tax assets if it is “mokely than not'that some component or all of
benefits of deferred tax assets will not be redlizo valuation allowance has been recorded &eoémber 31, 2012 and 2011.

Net Income Per Common She

Basic earnings per share (“EPSf)e computed by dividing net income (the numerabgrthe weighted average number of common s
outstanding for the period (the denominator). @¢UEPS is computed by dividing net income by theégited average number of comr
shares and potential common shares outstandidgufive) during each period. Potential commonrebanclude stock options and warrants
restricted stock. The number of potential commuaras outstanding relating to stock options andamés and restricted stock is computed
the treasury stock method.

The reconciliation of the denominators used toudate basic EPS and diluted EPS for the years eDdedmber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 a
follows:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Weighted average common shares outstar— basic 62,485,83 61,789,28 50,387,20
Plus: Potentially dilutive common shai
Stock options, warrants, and restricted si 383,24: 406,05: 391,04:
Weighted average common shares outstar- diluted 62,869,07 62,195,34 50,778,24
Restricted stock excluded from EPS due to the-dilutive effect 18,34¢ 29,87¢ -

As of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, potentéiliytive shares from stock options were 251,962,263 and 265,293, respectively. T}
options are all exercisable at December 31, 20021 2and 2010, at an exercise price of $5.18.

The Company also has potentially dilutive sharemfrestricted stock grants outstanding of 777,43716,992 and 1,135,622, at Decembe
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

In addition, as of December 31, 2010, there wefe(BD warrants that were issued in conjunction withFebruary 2009 revolving credit faci
with CIT that remained outstanding and exercisafilee warrants were exercised at a price of $5édGpare in January 2011.

Derivative Instruments and Price Risk Management

The Company uses derivative instruments to manag&enrisks resulting from fluctuations in the j@gcof crude oil. The Company enters
derivative contracts, including price swaps, caps #oors, which require payments to (or receipterf) counterparties based on the differe
between a fixed price and a variable price foxadiquantity of crude oil without the exchange oélerlying volumes. The notional amount
these financial instruments are based on expectatiption from existing wells. The Company hag] amy continue to use exchange tre
futures contracts and option contracts to hedgeldlieery price of crude oil at a future date.
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On November 1, 2009, due to the volatility of priiéferentials in the Williston Basin, the Compadg-designated all derivatives that w
previously classified as cash flow hedges and itiath, the Company has elected not to designajesahsequent derivative contracts
accounting hedges. As such, all derivative pasdtiare carried at their fair value on the balafmetsand are marked-toarket at the end
each period. Any realized gains and losses a@rded to gain (loss) on settled derivatives anctalimed mark-tanarket gains or losses
recorded to unrealized gain (loss) on derivativriments on the statements of income and compsifgeimcome rather than as a compo
of accumulated other comprehensive income (lossjtar income (expense). See Note 15 for a dewripf the derivative contracts which
Company has entered into.

Prior to November 1, 2009, the Company, at thepgtioe of a derivative contract, designated the\dgrie as a cash flow hedge. For
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, thep@oynformally documented the relationship betwéenderivative contract and the hed
items, as well as the risk management objectivesfidering into the derivative contract. To be deated as a cash flow hedge transactior
relationship between the derivative and the hedigads must be highly effective in achieving theseffof changes in cash flows attributabl
the risk both at the inception of the derivativel am an ongoing basis. The Company historicallasuneed hedge effectiveness on a qual
basis and hedge accounting would be discontinuesppctively if it determined that the derivativeswe longer effective in offsetting chan
in the cash flows of the hedged item. Gains asdds deferred in accumulated other comprehensieeni@ (loss) related to cash flow he
derivatives that become ineffective remain unchedngdil the related production was delivered.h Company determines that it was prok
that a hedged forecasted transaction would notrodefierred gains or losses on the derivative wazegnized in earnings immediately.

Derivatives, historically, were recorded on theabak sheet at fair value and changes in the faieva derivatives were recorded each peric
current earnings or other comprehensive income)lagepending on whether a derivative was desigregepart of a hedge transaction and
was, depending on the type of hedge transactitre Qompanys derivatives historically consisted primarily afst flow hedge transactions
which the Company was hedging the variability aftcélows related to a forecasted transaction. oBeto period changes in the fair value
derivative instruments designated as cash flow égdgere reported in accumulated other compreherisomme (loss) and reclassified
earnings in the periods in which the hedged iterpaicts earnings. The ineffective portion of thehcisw hedges were reflected in cun
period earnings as gain or loss from derivativ@ains and losses on derivative instruments thatndidqualify for hedge accounting w
included in income or loss from derivatives in fiexiod in which they occur. The resulting caslwldrom derivatives were reported as ¢
flows from operating activities.

Impairment

Longived assets to be held and used are required teviewed for impairment whenever events or chamgeircumstances indicate that
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverabtade oil and natural gas properties accountedding the full cost method of account
(which the Company uses) are excluded from thigirement but continue to be subject to the fullteosthods impairment rules. There was
impairment identified at December 31, 2012, 20ht, 2010.

New Accounting Pronouncemer

From time to time, new accounting pronouncemergssaued by FASB that are adopted by the Company the specified effective date. If |
discussed, management believes that the impaetcehtly issued standards, which are not yet effectvill not have a material impact on
Company'’s financial statements upon adoption.

Recently Adopte

Fair Value Measuremer— In May 2011, the FASB issued Fair Value Measumnf&€opic 820) —Amendments to Achieve Common F
Value Measurement and Disclosure Requirements® GAAP and IFRSs (ASU No. 2014, which provides clarifications regarding exig
fair value measurement principles and disclosugeirements, and also specific new guidance for stsuch as measurement of instrurr
classified within stockholdergquity. These requirements were effective forrinteand annual periods beginning after Decembef@%]1. Th
Company implemented the accounting and disclosuigagce effective January 1, 2012, and the implé¢atiem did not have a material imp
on its financial statements. For required faiueaineasurement disclosures, see Note 13.
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Comprehensive Income- In June 2011, the FASB issued Comprehensive leddrapic 220) —Presentation of Comprehensive Income (s
No. 201:-05), which requires the presentation of the comptmef net income, the components of OCI and wtaiprehensive income in eitl
a single continuous financial statement of compneive income or in two separate, but consecutimanftial statements of net income
comprehensive income. These updates do not dffedtems reported in OCI or the guidance for r&sifging such items to net income. Tt
requirements were effective for interim and annpetiods beginning after December 15, 2011. The gamy implemented the financ
statement presentation guidance effective Jany&910.

Recently Issue

Balance Sheet Offsettir— In December 2011, the FASB issued Balance Sfiemic 210) — Disclosures about Offsetting Assets
Liabilities (ASU No. 201111), which requires disclosures regarding nettimgregements in agreements underlying derivativeain financie
instruments and related collateral amounts, andetitent to which an entity’ financial statement presentation policies relatedetting
arrangements impact amounts recorded to the fiabsigtements. These disclosure requirements daffeat the presentation of amounts in
balance sheets, and are effective for annual riegoperiods beginning on or after January 1, 2@®] interim periods within those anr
reporting periods. The Company does not expectirtiigementation of this disclosure guidance to haveaterial impact on its financ
statements.

NOTE 3 SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

All United States Treasuries that were includedhort-term investments were considered availabiesdte and were carried at fair value.
short-term investments were considered currentsasse to their maturity term or the compangbility and intent to use them to fund cur
operations. The unrealized gains and losses detatehese securities were included in accumulatedr comprehensive income (loss).
realized gains and losses related to these sesuaite included in other income in the statemetsmprehensive income.

The Company held no short-term investments at Dbeeil, 2012 and 2011.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compealized gains of $215,092 on the sale of sterts investments. For the year er
December 31, 2010, the Company realized losseS&634 on the sale of short-term investments.

NOTE 4 CRUDE OIL AND NATURAL GAS PROPERTIES

The value of the Comparg/crude oil and natural gas properties consist@llaicreage acquisition costs (including cash edjperes and tt
value of stock consideration), drilling costs arkden associated capitalized costs. Acquisitioesaacounted for as purchases and, accord
the results of operations are included in the ag@mying statements of income and comprehensiveriacfsom the closing date of 1
acquisition. Purchase prices are allocated to ieejlassets based on their estimated fair valutheattime of the acquisition. In the pi
acquisitions have been funded with internal caskv flbank borrowings and the issuance of equity ritses1 Purchases of properties
development capital expenditures that were in atsopayable and not yet paid in cash at Decemhe2®®R and 2011 were approximately
million and $106 million, respectively.

Certain acquisitions in 2010 were purchased udiegservices of, or purchased from, parties consiHés be related to the Company or
Companys Chief Executive Officer, Michael L. Reger (seetd@). Subsequent to 2010, no acquisition trafmachave been purchased u:
the services of, or purchased from, parties consiito be related to the Company or the Compmayiief Executive Officer. All transactic
involving related parties were approved by the Canys board of directors or audit committee.
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2012 Acquisitions

During 2012, the Company acquired approximatel$9d net acres, for an average cost of approxim&Ekly88 per net acre, in its key pros)
areas in the form of effective leases, and earnetiditional 6,450 net acres through farm-in areamgnts.

2011 Acquisitions

During 2011, the Company acquired approximatel233 net acres, for an average cost of approxim&k§32 per net acre, in its key pros)
areas in the form of effective leases.

2010 Acquisitions

During 2010, the Company acquired approximatelg5® net acres, for an average cost of approxim&kl43 per net acre, in its key pros)
areas in the form of effective leases.

During 2010, the Company acquired acreage usingrammstock for a portion of the acquisition costs#nmary of the significant transacti
is as follows:

Fair Value of
Net Acres Common Common Cash Total
Date Acquired Stock Issued  Stock Issuec Consideration Consideration
June 201( 3,49¢ 382,64! $ 5,360,855 $ 741,46: $ 6,102,32
July 201C 3,35 444,18t $ 6,529,53 - $ 6,529,53

In December of 2010, the Company acquired a 50%ingrinterest from Slawson Exploration Company,. I(fSlawson”) in approximatel
14,538 net acres in Richland County, Montana faraximately $1.7 million in cash. That acquisitiaccounted for approximately 12.8% of
total number of net acres the Company acquirechdu2D10. No other acquisition involved more than 10% of thtal acreage the Compe
acquired during the year.

Divestitures

In April 2011, the Company sold its interest in #evil project for $5.0 million. As of the date shle, the Company’cost basis in the An
project was $1.8 million. The Company sold itsemest in the project along with Slawson, who alssiréd to sell its entire interest in
project. Slawson had drilled and completed ond imethe project area prior to the divestiture € ttlayhem #1-19H well and the Compat
retained its interest in that wellbore in connettiath the divestiture. The proceeds from the saee applied to reduce the capitalized cos
crude oil and natural gas properties. In the fogaarter of 2012, the Company sold its interesteiriain North Dakota and Montana prope
covering 835 net acres for $0.9 million in considiem.

From time-totime the Company may also trade leasehold interetiisoperators to balance working interests incspa units to facilitate ar
encourage a more expedited development of the Cayigacreage.

Unproved Properties

Unproved properties not being amortized compriggr@pmately 63,000 net acres and 117,000 net aifremdeveloped leasehold interest
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The @asnpelieves that the majority of its unproved sagtl become subject to depletion wit
the next five years by proving up reserves relatmthe acreage through exploration and developraetitities, by impairing the acreage |
will expire before the Company can explore or depet further or by determining that further ex@lbon and development activity will r
occur. The timing by which all other properties will becersubject to depletion will be dependent upon ifmént of future drilling activitie
and delineation of its reserves.

Excluded costs for unproved properties are accuedilay year. Costs are reflected in the full casil@s the properties are proved or as
are evaluated and deemed impaired. The Compaigipates these excluded costs will be includechin depletion computation over the r
five years. The Company is unable to predict tteré impact on depletion rates. The followingaisummary of capitalized costs exclu
from depletion at December 31, 2012 by year inclrre
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 Prior Years
Property Acquisitior 18,629,12 $ 33,133,41 $ 16,868,09 $ 14,103,61
Developmen 193,01
Total 18,822,13 $ 33,13341 $ 16,868,09 $ 14,103,61

All properties that are not classified as provedperties are considered unproved properties and, the costs associated with such prope
are not subject to depletion. Once a propertyaissified as proved, all associated acreage ahithglicosts are subject to depletion.

The Company historically has acquired its propserbig purchasing individual or small groups of lsadeectly from mineral owners or frc
landmen or lease brokers, which leases historidadlye not been subject to specified drilling prtgeand by purchasing lease packagt
identified project areas controlled by specific @pers. The Company generally participates inlidgl activities by electing whether
participate in each well on a well-byell basis at the time wells are proposed foriddll with the exception of the defined drilling prots with
Slawson described below.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company was particigah three defined drilling projects with Slawsowith participation interests rangi
between 4.5% and 50%, covering an aggregate obziopately 19,467 net acres of leasehold interesis y the Company. The areas cove
Windsor project area (4.5% participation interesthich includes approximately 2,063 net acres Hmsldhe Company, primarily located
Mountrail and surrounding counties of North Dakotde South West Big Sky project (20% participatioterest) includes approximately 5,
total net acres held by the Company in RichlandrmBguMontana. The Lambert project (50% participatinterest) includes approximat
11,955 net acres held by the Company in Richlanegh€o Montana.

NOTES5 REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY AND LONG TERM DEBT

Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2011, the Company maintaineblod $nillion revolving credit facility that was seed by substantially all of its assets v
a maturity of May 26, 2014. The Company had $68iBion of borrowings under that revolving credadility at December 31, 2011.
December 31, 2011, the Company had a borrowing ba&150 million, subject to a $120 million aggreganaximum credit amount tt
provided $50.1 million of additional borrowing cajtst under that facility.

In February 2012, the Company entered into an aetbadd restated credit agreement providing fovalveng credit facility (the Revolving
Credit Facility”), which replaced its previous revolving credit fagilwith a syndicated facility. The Revolving Cre#acility, which is secure
by substantially all of the Compamsyassets, provides for a commitment equal to theeteof the facility amount or the borrowing basé
December 31, 2012, the facility amount was $750ianil the borrowing base was $350 Hion and there was a $124 million outstanc
balance, leaving $22@iillion of borrowing capacity available under treeility. Under the terms of the Revolving Creditciity, the Compan
is limited to $500 million of permitted additionaldebtedness, as defined, provided that the bongWwase will be reduced by 25% of the st
amount of any such permitted additional indebtesind$ie $300 million in Notes described below igrtpitted additional indebtednesa?
defined in the Revolving Credit Facility.

The Revolving Credit Facility matures on Januarg217 and provides for a borrowing base subjectdetermination senannually each Apr
and October and for evedtiven unscheduled redeterminations. Borrowingdeurthe Revolving Credit Facility can either bets Alternat
Base Rate (as defined) plus a spread ranging ft@é?®to 1.75% or LIBOR borrowings at the AdjustdBQR Rate (as defined) plus a spr
ranging from 1.75% to 2.75%. The applicable spisatépendent upon amount of borrowings relativihéoborrowing base. The Company |
elect, from time to time, to convert all or any tpafrits LIBOR loans to base rate loans or to conha# or any of the base rate loans to LIB
loans. A commitment fee is paid on the undrawrahet based on an annual rate of either 0.375%5094€. At December 31, 2012,
commitment fee was 0.375% and the interest ratgimaras 2.0% on LIBOR loans and 1.0% on base ocated.
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The Revolving Credit Facility contains negative epants that limit the Comparsyability, among other things, to pay any cashddimis, inct
additional indebtedness, sell assets, enter intainehedging contracts, change the nature of utsness or operations, merge, consolidat
make investments. In addition, the Company is regluio maintain a ratio of debt to EBITDAX (as aefil in the credit agreement) of no gre
than 4.0 to 1.0, maintain a ratio of EBITDAX toengst expense (as defined in the credit agreerméntt less that 3.0 to 1.0 and a current
(as defined in the credit agreement) of no lesa th@ to 1.0. The Company was in compliance wilcovenants under the Revolving Cr
Facility at December 31, 2012.

All of the Company’s obligations under the Revotyi@redit Facility are secured by a first priorigcsrity interest in any and all assets of the
Company.

8.000% Senior Notes Due 2020

On May 18, 2012, the Company issued $300 milliogregate principal amount of 8.000% senior unsecma@és due June 1, 2020 {
“Notes”). Interest is payable on the Notes samiually in arrears on each of June 1 and Decethbeommencing December 1, 2012.
Company currently does not have any subsidiariels as a result, the Notes will not be guarante&éhliy. Any subsidiaries the Compa
forms in the future may be required to unconditiypnguarantee, jointly and severally, payment oafign under the Notes on a senior unsec
basis. The issuance of these Notes resulted irpnoeeeds to the Company of approximately $291.Homj which are in use to fund t
Companys exploration, development and acquisition progesutt for general corporate purposes (including neygat of borrowings that we
outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facilityred time the Notes were issued).

At any time prior to June 1, 2015, the Company mealeem up to 35% of the Notes at a redemption pfid®8% of the principal amount, p
accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption datie the proceeds of certain equity offeringsj@m as the redemption occurs within 180 «

of completing such equity offering and at least 6%%the aggregate principal amount of the Notesaiam outstanding after st
redemption. Prior to June 1, 2016, the Company redgem some or all of the Notes for cash at amptien price equal to 100% of th
principal amount plus an applicable makkele premium and accrued and unpaid interestdaddemption date. On and after June 1, 201
Company may redeem some or all of the Notes atpten prices (expressed as percentages of priraipaunt) equal to 104% for the twelve-
month period beginning on June 1, 2016, 102% fertéelvemonth period beginning June 1, 2017 and 100% begjnon June 1, 2018, pl
accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date.

On May 18, 2012, in connection with the issuancehef Notes, the Company entered into an Indenthe “(ndenture”),by and among tt
Company and Wilmington Trust, National Associatias trustee (the “Trustee”).

The Indenture restricts the Compasybility to: (i) incur additional debt or entetansale and leaseback transactions; (ii) pay digiions or
redeem or, repurchase equity interests; (iii) meditain investments; (iv) incur liens; (v) entetoiriransactions with affiliates; (vi) merge
consolidate with another company; and (vii) transfed sell assets. These covenants are subjextniamber of important exceptions .
qualifications. If at any time when the Notes eaged investment grade by both Moody's InvestonviSe, Inc. and Standard & PosrRating
Services and no Default (as defined in the Inde)tiias occurred and is continuing, many of sucleicamts will terminate and the Company
its subsidiaries (if any) will cease to be subjectuch covenants.

The Indenture contains customary events of defedlt ding:

« default in any payment of interest on any Note wihe®, continued for 30 day
« default in the payment of principal of or premiufrany, on any Note when du
« failure by the Company to comply with its otherightions under the Indenture, in certain casesestibp notice and grace perio

« payment defaults and accelerations with respedthier indebtedness of the Company and certainso$ubsidiaries, if any, in t
aggregate principal amount of $25 million or mc

« certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reoizgtion of the Company or a significant subsidiarygroup of restricted subsidiar
that, taken together, would constitute a significarbsidiary:

« failure by the Company or any significant subsigiar group of restricted subsidiaries that, talagether, would constitute a signific
subsidiary to pay certain final judgments aggregpin excess of $25 million within 60 days; ¢

« any guarantee of the Notes by a guarantor ceades ito full force and effect, is declared null araid in a judicial proceeding or
denied or disaffirmed by its mak
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NOTE6 COMMON AND PREFERRED STOCK

The Companys Articles of Incorporation authorize the issuantep to 100,000,000 shares. The shares are fadgssi two classes, consisti
of 95,000,000 shares of common stock, par valu@l$p@r share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferre#, gtar value $.001 per share. The b
of directors is authorized to establish one or nsamées of preferred stock, setting forth the deslign of each such series, and fixing the rel
rights and preferences of each such series. Thg@ay has neither designated nor issued any sbipesferred stock.

Common Stock

The following is a schedule of changes in the nunalbshares of common stock since the beginnirg0dd:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Beginning Balanci 63,330,42 62,129,422 43,911,04
Public Offerings - - 16,042,50
Stock Based Compensati 53,14( 161,62¢ 213,07
Stock Options Exercise 10,50( 3,50( 22,31«
Restricted Stock Grants (Note 837,23¢ 786,26: 1,058,00!
Warrants Exercise - 300,00 -
Issued for Acreage Purchases/Acquisiti - - 882,49:
Other Surrendetl (698,679 (50,399 -
Ending Balanct 63,532,62 63,330,42 62,129,42
2012 Activity

In 2012, a director of the Company exercised ameggde of 10,500 stock options granted in 2007.

In 2012, the Company issued 53,140 shares of constioak in aggregate to executives and employetteed€ompany as compensation for t
services. The shares were fully vested on the afattee grant. The fair value of the stock issuexd approximately $1.3 million. The value
the stock was between $19.34 and $24.89 per stieranarket value of the shares of common stockhendate the stock was issued.
Company expensed approximately $0.5 million in seased compensation related to these fully vestarkshn the year ended Decembe;
2012. The remainder of fair value was capitalired the full cost pool.

In 2012, 70,128 shares of common stock were suereddby certain employees of the Company to caseobligations in connection with th
restricted stock awards. The total value of tresres was approximately $1.5 million, which waseldaon the market price on the date
shares were surrendered.

In 2012, 628,550 shares of common stock were sdered by certain employees who terminated employmvéh the Company in connecti
with their restricted stock awards.

2011 Activity

In January 2011, CIT exercised the 300,000 warrdnatiswere issued as part of a prior revolving itrizdtility. Total proceeds to the Comp:
from the exercise of these warrants were $1.5anilli

In 2011, the Company issued 161,628 shares of comshack in aggregate to executives, employees amttdrs of the Company
compensation for their services. The shares wehevested on the date of the grant. The faiugadf the stock issued was approximately
million. The value of the stock was between $1&8d $27.98 per share, the market value of theesh#frcommon stock on the date the s
was issued. The Company expensed approximately riiillion in sharebased compensation related to these fully vestadeshn the ye
ended December 31, 2011. The remainder of fairevalas capitalized into the full cost pool.
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In October 2011, a director of the Company exedc&800 stock options granted to him in 2007.

In 2011, 50,394 shares of common stock were suereddby certain employees of the Company to caseobligations in connection with th
restricted stock awards. The total value of tresres was approximately $1.1 million, which waseldaon the market price on the date
shares were surrendered.

2010 Activity

In 2010, the Company issued 213,075 shares of canstuxk in aggregate to executives and employediseo€Company as compensation
their services. The shares were fully vested erddte of the grant. The fair value of the steskied was approximately $4.3 million. The v
of the stock was between $12.32 and $22.85 peestiae market value of the shares of common stocthe date the stock was issued.
Company expensed approximately $1.7 million in eesed compensation related to these fully vesterkstin the year ended Decembe;
2010. The remainder of fair value was capitalired the full cost pool.

In April 2010, the Company entered into an undeiagi agreement to sell 5,750,000 shares of commack sat a price of $15.00 less
underwriting discount of $0.60 per share for totat proceeds of approximately $82.8 milli@iter deducting underwriters’ discountsThe
Company incurred costs of $300,000 related todffexing. These costs were netted against thesas of the offering through additional paid-
in capital.

In November 2010, the Company entered into an writerg agreement to sell 10,292,500 shares of comstock at a price of $20.25 less
underwriting discount of $0.81 per share for totat proceeds of approximately $200.1 milliafter deducting underwriters’ discountsThe
Company incurred costs of $392,795 related todffexing. These costs were netted against theseas of the offering through additional paid-
in capital.

During 2010, the Company acquired leasehold intersiag common stock for a portion of the acquasittost. A summary of these transact
is as follows:

Fair Value of

Common Common
Date Stock Issued  Stock Issued
March 201C 10,287 $ 99,47¢
June 201( 382,64! 5,360,85!
June 201( 14,167 238,00¢
July 2010 444,18¢ 6,529,53.
July 2010 31,20¢ 451,55

Stock Repurchase Program

In May 2011, the Company’s board of directors appdoa stock repurchase program to acquire up t6 #fiion of the Companyg outstandin
common stock. The stock repurchase program wilathe Company to repurchase its shares from tomgme in the open market, bic
transactions and in negotiated transactions. Tdregany has not made any repurchases under thisapndg date.

Shelf Reqistration

In May 2010, the Company filed a shelf registratiith the Securities and Exchange Commission terd@lly offer securities which inclu
debt securities or common stock. The securitidisheioffered at prices and on terms to be detezthit the time of sale.

NOTE 7 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Carter Stewart, a former director of the Companyti{tAugust 2011), owned a 25% interest in Galld®asources, LLC (“Gallatin”)Lega
counsel for Gallatin informed the Company that Bitewart did not have the power to control Gallétause each member of Gallatin ha
right to vote on matters in proportion to theirgestive membership interest in the company and emynmatters are determined by a vote o
holders of a majority of membership interests. tiem, Mr. Stewart was neither an officer nor a ctive of Gallatin. As such, Mr. Stewart did
have the ability to individually control companycildons for Gallatin. In 2010, the Company paidll&@em a total of $15,822 related
previously acquired leasehold interests. In 2Qh#&, Company paid Gallatin a total of approximat$6,500 related to previously acqui
leasehold interests. In 2012, the Company paith@ah total of approximately $500 related to fpoegly acquired leasehold interests.
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The Company had a securities account with Morganl&y Smith Barney that was managed by Kathleelbe@8on, a financial advisor with t|
firm who is the sister of the Company’s former juleat and director, Ryan Gilbertson. The Compdaged this account in August 2011.

All transactions involving related parties were iegyed by the Company’s board of directors or A@bmmittee.
NOTE8 STOCK OPTIONS/STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND WARRANTS

On April 26, 2011, the board of directors approaedamendment and restatement of the Northern @ilGas, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive P
(the “Plan”™),which was approved at the annual meeting of shidet® An additional 1,000,000 shares were authdrfor grant under the Pl
resulting in an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares dmdwbfor past and future grants under the Plame Plan is intended to provide a me
whereby the Company may be able, by granting ecuitgrds, to attract, retain and motivate capabte lagal employees, noamploye:
directors, consultants and advisors of the Compfanythe benefit of the Company and its sharehalder

Restricted Stock Awards

During the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012ah@, the Company issued 837,239, 786,263 and ,0058respectively, restricted she
of common stock as compensation to officers, emgasy and directors of the Company. The restriskedles vest over various terms witt
restricted shares vesting no later than June 16.20% of December 31, 2012, there was approximakél8 million of total unrecogniz:
compensation expense related to unvested restdgtield. This compensation expense will be recoghizer the remaining vesting period of
grants. The Company has assumed a zero percesitdoefrate for restricted stock.

The following table reflects the outstanding resétl stock awards and activity related theretdleryears ended December 31, 2012, 201
2010:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 201. December 31, 201. December 31, 201i
Number Weighted- Number Weighted- Number Weightecd-
of Average Of Average Of Average
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Restricted Stock Award:
Restricted Shares Outstanding at
Beginning of the Yea 1,216,99; $ 19.8i 1,135,62. $ 13.2¢ 325,33( % 9.01
Shares Grante 837,23¢ 19.91 786,26 27.11 1,058,00! 14.0¢
Shares Forfeite (628,55() 19.0¢ - - - -
Lapse of Restrictior (648,24, 21.8: (704,89)) 17.32 (247,709 11.17
Restricted Shares Outstandat the
End of the Year 777,43 % 18.9: 1,216,99; $ 19.8: 1,135,62, $ 13.2¢

Stock Option Awards

On November 1, 2007, the board of directors graofgins to purchase 560,000 shares of the Comparmyhmon stock under the Company’
2006 Incentive Stock Option Plan. The Company tgoptions to purchase 500,000 shares of the Quyfgpaommon stock to members of
board and options to purchase 60,000 shares aCdnepanys common stock to one employee pursuant to an gmelot agreement. The
options were granted at a price of $5.18 per shatethe optionees were fully vested on the grate.das of December 31, 2012, option
purchase a total of 251,963 shares of the Compargrnmon stock remain outstanding but unexerci3ée. board of directors determined

no future grants will be made pursuant to the 2B@entive Stock Option Plan. All future stock caenpation will be issued under the 2
Equity Incentive Plan.
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The Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuatiodel to calculate stodkased compensation at the date of grant. Opti@imgrmodel
require the input of highly subjective assumptidnsluding the expected price volatility. The Caanp used the simplified method to deterr
the expected term of the options due to the lackudficient historical data. Changes in these mggions can materially affect the fair va
estimate. The total fair value of the optionsdsagnized as compensation over the vesting pefibere have been no stock options grant
2012, 2011, 2010, and 2009 under the 2006 InceBtiwek Option Plan or the 2009 Equity IncentivenPl&ll exercises of options during 20
2011 and 2010 related to 2007 grants.

Changes in stock options for the years ended Deeefih 2012, 2011, and 2010 were as follows:

Weighted Remaining

Number Average Contractual
of Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (in Years) Value

2012:

Beginning Balanc 262,46. $ - - -
Grantec - - - -
Exercisec 10,50( 5.1¢ - -
Forfeited - - - -
Outstanding at December 251,96: 5.1¢ 4.8 2,933,001
Exercisable 251,96: 5.1¢ 4.8 2,933,001
Ending Veste( 251,96: 5.1¢ 4.8 2,933,001
Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Granted DuyirY ear $ -

2011:

Beginning Balanc: 265,96. $ - - -
Grantec - - - -
Exercisec 3,50( 5.1¢ - -
Forfeited - - - -
Outstanding at December 262,46: 5.1¢ 5.8 4,934,00!
Exercisable 262,46: 5.1¢ 5.8 4,934,00!
Ending Vestec 262,46: 5.1¢ 5.8 4,934,00!
Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Granted BgirYear $ =

2010:

Beginning Balanc: 300,00 $ - - -
Grantec - - - -
Exercisec 22,31« 5.1¢ - -
Forfeited 11,72% 5.1¢ - -
Outstanding at December 265,96: 5.1¢ 6.8 5,859,001
Exercisable 265,96! 5.1¢ 6.8 5,859,001
Ending Veste( 265,96: 5.1¢ 6.8 5,859,001
Weighted Average Fair Value of Options Granted DY ear $ -

Currently Outstanding Options

e No options expired during the years ended Dece®be2012, 2011, and 201

e The Company recorded no compensation expensedétatbese options for the years ended Decembe2(®P, 2011, and 2010. ,
of the compensation expense was reported in 20Gwime options vested. There is no further comgtems expense that will |
recognized in future years, relating to all optitimst have been granted as of December 31, 20taube the Company recognized
entire fair value of such compensation upon vedtirtipe options

e There were no unvested options at December 31, 2012, and 201(
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Warrants Granted February 2009

On February 27, 2009, in conjunction with the aigsof a prior revolving credit facility, the Compaissued CIT warrants to purchase a tot
300,000 shares of common stock exercisable at $&®&Ghare. The total fair value of the warramés calculated using the Bla8chole
valuation model based on factors present at the ttira warrants were issued. The fair value ofatherants is included in debt issuance costt
is being amortized over the term of the faciliglT exercised the warrants in January 2011.

NOTE9 COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

The Company is engaged in proceedings incidentddeamormal course of business. Due to their nasueh legal proceedings involve inhe
uncertainties, including but not limited to, comtings, negotiations between affected parties goekernmental intervention. Based upon
information available to the Company and discussiaith legal counsel, it is the Compagyopinion that the outcome of the various |
actions and claims that are incidental to its bessrwill not have a material impact on the finangasition, results of operations or cash flc
Such matters, however, are subject to many uno#gsj and the outcome of any matter is not pralletwith assurance.

The Company is party to a quiet title action in thdDakota that relates to its interest in certairde oil and natural gas leases. In the evel
action results in a final judgment that is advexsdhe Company, the Company would be required verse approximately $1.3 million
revenue (net of accrued taxes) that has been atsimee the second quarter of 2008 based on the&uyis purported interest in the crude
and natural gas leases at issue, $0.2 million aflwielates to the year ended December 31, 20h2. Company fully maintains the validity
its interest in the crude oil and natural gas lsaard is vigorously defending such interest.

NOTE 10 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The Company has asset retirement obligations adsdciwith the future plugging and abandonment afved properties and rela
facilities. Initially, the fair value of a liabtly for an asset retirement obligation is recordedttie period in which it is incurred ant
corresponding increase in the carrying amount efréiated long lived asset. The liability is atedeto its present value each period, ant
capitalizedcost is depreciated over the useful life of thated asset. If the liability is settled for an ambother than the recorded amour
gain or loss is recognized. The Company has netsghat are legally restricted for purposes oflisgtasset retirement obligations.
settlements of asset retirement obligations haeeroed during the periods presented.

The following table summarizes the compangsset retirement obligation transactions recodiethg the year ended December 31, 201z
2011.

Year Ended December 3:

2012 2011
Beginning Asset Retirement Obligati $ 916,62: $ 459,32¢
Liabilities Incurred for New Wells Placed in Prodioa 539,72 401,24:
Accretion of Discount on Asset Retirement Obliga$ 86,19! 56,05¢
Ending Asset Retirement Obligati $ 154254, $ 916,62.

NOTE 11 INCOME TAXES

The Company utilizes the asset and liability apphoe measuring deferred tax assets and liabiliigessed on temporary differences existir
each balance sheet date using currently enactethtes. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuatiomatioe when, in the opinion
management, it is more likely than not that somiquo or all of the deferred tax assets will notrbalized. Deferred tax assets and liabilitie:
adjusted for the effects of changes in tax lawsrates on the date of enactment.
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The income tax provision for the year ended DecerBbe2012, 2011, and 2010 consists of the follgwin

2012 2011 2010
Current Income Taxe $ 17,77 $ 2,30 $ -
Deferred Income Taxe
Federa 39,850,000 22,982,00 3,625,00!
State 3,134,00! 3,851,001 794,00(
Total Expenst $ 43,001,77 $ 26,835,300 $ 4,419,00

The following is a reconciliation of the reportesh@unt of income tax expense for the years ende@ibber 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 to
amount of income tax expenses that would resuth fapplying the statutory rate to pretax income.

Reconciliation of reported amount of income taxenge:

2012 2011 2010

Income Before Taxes and NC $115,286,39 $ 67,446,79 $ 11,336,30
Federal Statutory Ra X 35% X 35% X 34%
Taxes Computed at Federal Statutory R 40,350,00 23,606,00 3,854,001
State Taxes, Net of Federal Ta: 2,086,77. 2,408,301 524,00(
Executive Compensation Deductibility Lim 523,00( 617,00( -
Other 42,00( 204,00( 41,00(

Reported Provisia $ 43,001,77 $ 26,83530 $ 4,419,00

At December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Compagsyahzet operating loss carryforward for Federabime tax purposes of $519.3 milli
$220.2 million and $62.1 million, respectively. uifiutilized, the federal net operating losses @ire in 2027-2032.

The components of the Company’s deferred tax dkability) were as follows:

Year Ended December 3:

2012 2011
Deferred Tax Assel
Current:
Share Based Compensat $ 2,384,000 $ 866,00(
Accrued Interes 751,00( -
Derivative Liability - 3,629,001
Other 201,00( 34,00(
Total Curren 3,336,001 4,529,00!
Non-Current:
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards (NOI 194,473,00 84,714,00
Derivative Liability 295,00( 998,00(
Other 65,00( 58,00(
Total Nor-Current 194,833,00 85,770,00
Total Deferred Tax Ass $198,169,00 $ 90,299,00
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Current:
Derivative Asse (1,538,001
Other (103,001 (57,000
Total Curren $ (1,641,00) $ (57,000

Nor-Current:

Crude Oil and Natural Gas Properties and Otherd?tp
Total Nor-Current

Total Deferred Tax Liability

Total Net Deferred Tax Liabilit

(271,008,00)

(121,699,00)

(271,008,00)

(121,699,00)

(272,649,00)

(121,756,00)

$ (74,480,00)

$ (31,457,00)
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Tax benefits are recognized only for tax positithre are more likely than not to be sustained wg@amination by tax authorities. The amc
recognized is measured as the largest amount okfibethat is greater than 50 percent likely to bealized upon ultima
settlement. Unrecognized tax benefits are taxfiter@aimed in the Company’tax returns that do not meet these recognitichragasureme
standards.

The Company has no liabilities for unrecognizediarefits.

The Companyg policy is to recognize potential interest andgbées accrued related to unrecognized tax bensiitén income tax expense. |
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2B@0Company did not recognize any interest or piesah its statements of comprehen
income, nor did it have any interest or penalti@swaed in its balance sheet at December 31, 20d 2@l relating to unrecognized benefits.

The tax years 2012, 2011, and 2010 remain operamiaation for federal income tax purposes andhaydther major taxing jurisdictions
which the Company is subject.

NOTE 12 OPERATING LEASES
Vehicles

The Company leases vehicles under noncancelablatong leases. Total lease expense under the ragres was approximately $48,0
$63,000 and $58,000 for the years ended Decemb@032, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Minimum future lease payments under these vehéeleds are as follows:

Year Ended December 31 Amount
2013 $ 20,00(
2014 9,00(

Total $ 29,00(

Building

Effective November 2011, the Company extended thegiinal operating lease agreement on 3,044 sqigateof office space and added
additional 1,609 square feet of office space, fdotal of 4,653 square feet. The two leases reqguitial gross monthly lease payment:
$18,612. The monthly payments increase by 4% oh eaniversary date. The leases expire in Nover@®&6. The Company also has an
and month to month lease agreements related tagetoand parking spaces. Total rent expense uhdeandreements was approxima
$217,000, $150,000 and $148,000 for the years ebdedmber 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

The Company has prepaid the last three monthsmmeéhe amount of $53,553. Minimum future leaserpests under the building leases ar
follows:

Year Ended December 31 Amount
2013 $ 245,00(
2014 242,00(
2015 177,00(

Total $ 664,00(
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The Company received $91,320 of landlord incentiveder the original lease agreement and an additi$s8,620 under the lease for
additional 1,609 square feet. The Company hagdedoa deferred rent liability for these amountt tire being amortized over the term of
leases.

NOTE 13 FAIR VALUE

Fair value is defined as the exchange price thaildvoe received for an asset or paid to transfibility (an exit price) in the principal or mc
advantageous market for the asset or liability i caderly transaction between market participamstite measurement date. Valua
techniques used to measure fair value must maxithzeise of observable inputs and minimize theafisggobservable inputs. The Comp
uses a fair value hierarchy based on three leeéigpats, of which the first two are considered efysble and the last unobservable, that m:
used to measure fair value which are the following:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for idsitassets or liabilities.

Level 2 -Inputs other than Level 1 that are observablégeitlirectly or indirectly, such as quoted pricessdimilar assets of liabilities; quot
prices in markets that are not active; or otheuigphat are observable or can be corroboratebgroable market data for substantially the
term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supportelittis or no market activity and that are sigréit to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
The following schedule summarizes the valuatiofirefncial instruments measured at fair value or@imring basis in the balance sheet ¢
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Fair Value Measurements at December 3:

2012 Using
Quoted
Prices In
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Commodity Derivative- Current Asset (crude oil swaps and coll; $ - $ 4,095,119 % =
Commodity Derivative— Non-Current Asset (crude oil swaps and colli - 1,763,00! -
Commodity Derivative— Non-Current Liability (crude oil swaps and colle - (2,547,74) -
Total $ - $ 3310460 $ -

Fair Value Measurements at December 3:

2011 Using
Quoted
Prices In
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Commodity Derivative— Current Liability (crude oil swaps and colla $ - $ (9,363,06) $ =
Commodity Derivative— Non-Current Liability (crude oil swaps and colla - (2,574,90) -
Total $ - $(11,937,97) $ =
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Level 2 assets and liabilities consist of derivatassets and liabilities (see Note 15), the Rengl@redit Facility (see Note 5) and the Se
Notes (see Note 4). The fair value of the Com’s derivative financial instruments is determineddshupon future prices, volatility and tim
maturity, among other things. Counterparty statémame utilized to determine the value of the comlityoderivative instruments and
reviewed and corroborated using various methodetgand significant observable inputs. The Commanghd the counterparties’
nonperformance risk is evaluated. The fair valtialbderivative contracts is reflected on the Ibaka sheet. The current derivative asse:
liability amounts represent the fair values expecde be settled in the subsequent year. The badkevof the Revolving Credit Facil
approximates fair value because of its floating sttucture. The fair value of our 8% senior nigdsased on an end of period market quote.

The Company’s longerm debt is not measured at fair value on thenoalaheets and the fair value is being providediifmiosure purposes.
December 31, 2012, the Company had $300 millioseniior unsecured notes and $124 million under #nRing Credit Facility outstandi
with a fair value of $310.5 million and $124 milliprespectively. At December 31, 2011, the Comgaay $69.9 million outstanding unde
revolving credit facility. The estimated fair valoé debt was based upon quoted market prices ahéreasuch prices were not available, ¢
observable inputs regarding interest rates availabthe Company at the end of each respectivegeri

Though the Company believes the methods useditoatstfair value are consistent with those usedthgr market participants, the use of @
methods or assumptions could result in a diffeestimate of fair valueThere were no transfers of financial assets oililigs between Level
and Level 2 inputs for the years ended Decembe2@®112 and 2011.

NOTE 14  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company’s noderivative financial instruments include cash aadhcequivalents, accounts receivable and accoay&bfe and are r
measured at fair value on the balance sheets.carnging amount of these non-derivative finanaiatiuments approximates their fair values.

The Companys accounts receivable relate to crude oil and ahtyas sold to various industry companies. Crins, typical of industi
standards, are of a short-term nature and the Coyngh@es not require collateral. Management befigtie Companyg accounts receivable
December 31, 2012 and 2011 do not represent significredit risks as they are dispersed across roaugterparties. The Company
determined that no allowance for doubtful accouastsiecessary at December 31, 2012 and 2011. A3eoémber 31, 2012, outstanc
derivative contracts with commercial banks parttipg in the Revolving Credit Facility represent @l the Companys crude oil volume
hedged. These commercial banks have investmedégedings from Moodyg and Standard & Poor and are lenders under thel\Rey Credi
Facility and management believes this does noesgmt a significant credit risk.

NOTE 15 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND PRICE RISK M ANAGEMENT

The Company utilizes commodity swap contracts aslless collars (purchased put options and writedhoptions) to (i) reduce the effects
volatility in price changes on the crude oil comiitied it produces and sells, (ii) reduce commodgitice risk and (iii) provide a base leve
cash flow in order to assure it can execute at Easrtion of its capital spending.

On November 1, 2009, due to the volatility of prdifferentials in the Williston Basin, the Compadg-designated all derivatives that w
previously classified as cash flow hedges andduitmn, the Company has elected not to desigrnaesabsequent derivative contracts as
flow hedges. Beginning on November 1, 2009, afivd¢ive positions are carried at their fair valole the balance sheet and are marked-to
market at the end of each period. Any realized gaind losses are recorded to loss on settled tleesaand unrealized gains or losses
recorded to unrealized gain (loss) on derivativ@riiments on the statements of comprehensive ingather than as a component of o
comprehensive income (loss) or other income (ex@ens

The Company has master netting agreements on déudivicrude oil contracts with certain counterpartéd therefore the current asset

liability are netted on the balance sheet and tbe-current asset and liability are netted on the lmdasheet for contracts with th
counterparties.
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Crude Qil Derivative Contracts Caflow Hedge

Prior to November 1, 2009, all derivative positidhat qualified for hedge accounting were desighate the date the Company entered int
contract as a hedge against the variability in dists associated with the forecasted sale of &trude oil production. The cash flow hec
were valued at the end of each period and adjusgntenthe fair value of the contract prior to settent were recorded on the stateme
stockholders’equity as other comprehensive income. Upon settigntiee gain (loss) on the cash flow hedge wasrdextbas an increase
decrease in revenue on the statements of compiebensome. The Company reports average crudenuil reatural gas prices and rever
including the net results of hedging activities.

The net mark-to-market loss on the Compamgmaining swaps that qualified for cash flow reedgcounting at the date the decision was |
to discontinue hedge accounting totaled approxilpa$@01,000 as of December 31, 2011. The Compeay fecorded that amount
accumulated other comprehensive income in stockin®léquity and the entire amount was amortized intemees as the original forecas
hedged crude oil production occurred in the fitsirter of 2012.

Crude Oil Derivative Contracts Caflow Not Designated as Hedges

The Company had a realized loss on settled devastf $391,420, $13,407,878 and $469,607 for dasyended December 31, 2012, 2011
2010, respectively. The Company had an unrealigéd (loss) on derivative instruments of $15,142,1%3,072,229 and ($14,545,477) for
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 ctashe.

The following table reflects open commodity swaptcacts as of December 31, 2012, the associatednes and the corresponding fixed price.

Settlement Period Qil (Barrels) Fixed Price

Swap:-Crude Oil

01/01/13-12/31/14 480,00 $ 91.6¢
01/01/13-12/31/13 300,00( 89.5(
01/01/13-12/31/13 240,00( 91.1(
01/01/13-12/31/13 120,00( 94.5(
07/01/13-12/31/13 60,00( 102.3(
01/01/14- 06/30/14 300,00( 89.5(
01/01/14- 06/30/14 240,00( 90.0¢
07/01/14-12/31/14 120,00( 90.0(
01/01/14-12/31/14 120,00( 91.3¢
01/01/14-12/31/14 120,00( 90.0¢
01/01/14-12/31/14 240,00( 90.1¢
01/01/14-12/31/14 240,00( 91.0(
01/01/14- 06/30/14 240,00( 100.0(
07/01/14-12/31/14 120,00( 90.0(
07/01/14-12/31/14 120,00( 93.5(
07/01/14-12/31/14 30,00( 90.5¢

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had a toteinw® on open commodity swaps of 3,090,000 barreks weighted average price
approximately $ 91.72 .

The following table reflects the weighted averagegiof open commodity derivative contracts as e€&mnber 31, 2012, by year with associated
volumes.

Weighted Average Price
Of Open Commodity Swap Contracts

Weighted
Volumes Average
Year (Bbl) Price
2013 960,00( $ 91.8¢
2014 2,130,001 91.6¢
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In addition to the open commodity swap contraces@ompany has entered into costless collars. Dbess collars are used to establish -
and ceiling prices on anticipated crude oil prodwct There were no premiums paid or received leyGompany related to the costless ¢
agreements. The following table reflects openlesstcollar agreements as of December 31, 2012.

Floor/Ceiling
Term Oil (Barrels) Price Basis
Costless Collar— Crude Oil
90.00
01/01/13- 12/31/13 149,51 $ $103.5( NYMEX
90.00
01/01/13-12/31/13 139,79: $ $106.5( NYMEX
90.00
01/01/13-12/31/13 224,90C $ $110.0( NYMEX
95.00
01/01/13-12/31/13 182,26¢ $ $107.0( NYMEX
95.00
01/01/13-12/31/13 480,000 $ $110.7( NYMEX
01/01/13- 12/31/13 760,79: $85.00/$98.0 NYMEX
01/01/13-12/31/13 120,000 $90.25/$97.9 NYMEX
95.00
07/01/13- 12/31/13 96,00 $ $106.9( NYMEX
01/01/14-12/31/14 240,000 $90.00/$99.0 NYMEX

The following table sets forth the amounts, on @sgrbasis, and classification of the Compamyutstanding derivative financial instrument
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Cea@miounts may be presented on a net basis on theliciatted financial statements when s
amounts are with the same counterparty and sulgiectnaster netting arrangement:

December 31
Estimated Fair Value

Type of Crude Oil Contract Balance Sheet Locatior 2012 2011

Derivative Assets

Swap Contract Current assets/liabilitie $ 680,64 $ 285,12¢

Swap Contract Non-current assel 1,977,72. -

Costless Collar Current assets/liabilitie 11,769,41 1,932,88.

Costless Collar Non-current asset/liabilitie 5,629,99 8,766,48
Total Derivative Asset $ 20,057,78 $ 10,984,49
Derivative Liabilities:

Swap Contract Current assets/liabilitie $ (2,037,07) $ (8,383,58)

Swap Contract Non-current asset (3,170,94) -

Costless Collar Current assets/liabilitie (6,317,79) (3,197,49)

Costless Collar Nor-current assets/liabilitie (5,221,51)) (11,341,38)
Total Derivative Liabilities $ (16,747,32) $ (22,922,46)

The following disclosures are applicable to the @any’s financial statements, as of December 31229011 and 2010:

Location of Loss for Effective and Amount of Loss Reclassified from AOCI into
Derivative Type Ineffective Portion of Derivative in Income Income
Year Ended December 3.
2012 2011 2010
Commodity— Cash Flow Loss on Settled Derivative $ 101,30¢ $ 1,157,777 $ 1,157,55

The use of derivative transactions involves thk thisit the counterparties will be unable to meetfthancial terms of such transactions. In s
instances, the Company has netting arrangemernitsitwitounterparties that provide for offsetting/aales against receivables from sep:
derivative instruments.
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NOTE 16 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation of the numeratord denominator used to calculate basic earningshage and diluted earnings per shar
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010:

2012 2011 2010

Net Net Net

Income Shares Per Share Income Shares Per Share Income Shares Per Share
Basic EPS $72,284,62 62,485,83 $ 1.1€ $40,611,49 61,789,28 $ 0.6€ $6,917,300 50,387,20 $ 0.1¢4
Dilutive
Effect of
Options - 383,24. (0.09) - 406,05: (0.01) - 391,04:
Diluted EPS $72,284,62 62,869,07 $ 1.1t $40,611,49 62,195,34 $ 0.6t $6,917,300 50,778,24 $ 0.1¢4

For the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011ctedtstock of 18,348 and 29,876 shares of comntmk svere excluded from EPS du
the anti-dilutive effect.

NOTE 17 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

I n 2009, the Company adopted a defined contribufiob(k) plan for substantially all of its employeékhe plan provides for Compe
matching of employee contributions to the planth&t Companys discretion. During 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Gaomgpprovided a mat:
contribution equal to 100% of an eligible employedéferral contribution, up to 8% of the emplogeearnings up to the maximum allowe
amount. The Company contributed approximately 1% $103,000 and $80,000 to the 401(k) planHerytears ended December 31, 2
2011 and 2010, respectively.

NOTE 18 SEVERANCE ARRANGEMENTS

The Companys former president, Ryan Gilbertson, resigned &ffec®October 1, 2012. In connection with his resigon, the Company and |
Gilbertson entered into a separation and releaseagnt and a consulting agreement (collectively,'New Agreements”\which terminate ar
supersede his prior employment agreement with mp2any (except for certain surviving provisionBursuant to the New Agreements,
Gilbertsons outstanding and unvested restricted stock awaittisontinue to vest on their original vesting sdles, so long as Mr. Gilberts
does not terminate the consulting agreement an€tmpany does not terminate the consulting agreefoertause (as defined). In additi
pursuant to the New Agreements the Company wilpfgvide Mr. Gilbertson with a prorated portion ki 2012 yeaend bonus (based
predetermined performance metrics and as deterntipetie Companyg compensation committee following the end of 201i®) buy out thi
lease and transfer title to Mr. Gilbertson on hismpanyleased vehicle, and (iii) reimburse Mr. Gilbertdoncontinuation coverage pursuan
COBRA on the Company’s health plans for up to 1&1ths.

In connection with the New Agreements, the Compemrycluded the unvested restricted stock awards wedified in connection with tl
change in Mr. Gilbertson’s employment status amdice requirements. Because the Company expect&Nbertsons awards will vest und
the modified conditions but his period of activeviee in substance has concluded, $4.3 millionhaire based compensation costs was refl
in general and administrative expense during tird tjuarter of 2012 related to the modified awardsdditionally, the cash expenses estim
for Mr. Gilbertson’s prorated 2012 bonus, Compégsed vehicle and continuation coverage pursuanC®BRA was estimated
approximately $0.6 million and was reflected in gethand administrative expense during the thirargm of 2012.

On October 16, 2012, the Company terminated thdaymment of its Chief Operating Officer, James Rnl&wvitz. Mr. Sankovitz terminatiol
was “not for causelinder his existing employment agreement with them@any, and as a result he is entitled to certaiera@ce benefits whi
includes a single lumpum payment of one times his $325,000 base salamaddition, the Company agreed to buy out tlesdeand transi
title to Mr. Sankovitz on his Compargased vehicle, and reimburse Mr. Sankovitz fortioomtion coverage pursuant to COBRA on
Company'’s health plans for up to 18 months.
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SUPPLEMENTAL OIL AND GAS INFORMATION
(UNAUDITED)

Oil and Natural Gas Exploration and Production Activities

Oil and gas sales reflect the market prices opneduction sold or transferred with appropriateuatipents for royalties, net profits interest,
other contractual provisions. Production expenmselside lifting costs incurred to operate and maimiproductive wells and related equipn
including such costs as operating labor, repaigsraaintenance, materials, supplies and fuel condurReoduction taxes include production
severance taxes. Depletion of crude oil and nagasalproperties relates to capitalized costs iedum acquisition, exploration, and developn
activities. Results of operations do not includteriest expense and general corporate amountsre$hks of operations for the compaggruds
oil and natural gas production activities are pied in the Company’s related statements of income.

Costs Incurred and Capitalized Costs

The costs incurred in crude oil and natural gasiaigpn, exploration and development activities highlighted in the table below.

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Costs Incurred for the Yee
Proved Property Acquisitio $ 24,791,82 $ 53,497,19 $ 2,236,16
Unproved Property Acquisitio 27,304,42 57,867,66 72,308,71
Developmen 485,392,50 302,594,51 123,933,00
Total $ 537,488,75 $413,959,37 $198,477,88

Excluded costs for unproved properties are accueulilay year. Costs are reflected in the full caxtl@as the drilling costs are incurred o
costs are evaluated and deemed impaired. The Congrdicipates these excluded costs will be induidethe depletion computation over
next five years. The Company is unable to pretiietfuture impact on depletion rates. The follayis a summary of capitalized costs exclu
from depletion at December 31, 2012 by year inclrre

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 Prior Years
Property Acquisitior $ 18,629,12 $ 33,133,41 $ 16,868,09 $ 14,103,61
Developmen 193,01° - - -
Total $ 18,822,213 $ 33,133,41 $ 16,868,09 $ 14,103,61

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves and Related Financi&ata

Information with respect to the Compasyrude oil and natural gas producing activitiegressented in the following tables. Reserve gtias
as well as certain information regarding futuredortion and discounted cash flows, were determime&yder Scott Company, indepenc
petroleum consultants based on information providethe Company.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserve Data

The following tables present the Company’s indepengetroleum consultantsstimates of its proved crude oil and natural gaenves. T
Company emphasizes that reserves are approximatiotisare expected to change as additional infoomatecomes available. Reser
engineering is a subjective process of estimatimietground accumulations of crude oil and natuaalthat cannot be measured in an exact
and the accuracy of any reserve estimate is aifumaf the quality of available data and of engiirege and geological interpretation ¢
judgment.
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Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves at Dece3hp200¢

Revisions of Previous Estimat
Extensions, Discoveries and Other Additit
Productior

Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves at Dece3hp201(

Revisions of Previous Estimat
Extensions, Discoveries and Other Additis
Productior

Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves at Dece3hp201

Revisions of Previous Estimat
Extensions, Discoveries and Other Additit
Productior

Proved Developed and Undeveloped Reserves at Dece3hp201:

Proved Developed Reservi
December 31, 20C

December 31, 201
December 31, 201
December 31, 201

Proved Undeveloped Resen
December 31, 20C

December 31, 201
December 31, 201
December 31, 201

Natural Gas Oil
(MCF) (BBLS)

1,760,92. 5,815,57
625,10: 514,89¢
8,298,34 8,513,06.
(234,41) (849,84))
10,449,96 13,993,69
(940,06 924,43:
20,959,47 28,750,82
(800,20 (1,791,97)
29,669,16 41,876,97
(1,410,54) 812,37:
14,788,38 21,490,24
(1,768,87) (3,465,31)
41,278,12 60,714,28
727,23 2,247,71
3,513,42 5,840,74!
8,452,65. 14,338,57
17,350,16 27,345,822
1,033,68 3,567,86
6,936,53! 8,152,95.
21,216,51 27,538,40
23,927,96 33,368,45

Proved reserves are estimated quantities of cril@dgamad natural gas, which geological and enginggdata indicate with reasonable certaint
be recoverable in future years from known resesvairder existing economic and operating conditi®meved developed reserves are pri
reserves that can be expected to be recoveredgthrexisting wells with existing equipment and ofiegh methods. Proved undevelo
reserves are included for reserves for which tiseeeehigh degree of confidence in their recoveitgtéind they are scheduled to be drilled wi

the next five years.




Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cdsflows and Changes Thereil

The following table presents a standardized measfudescounted future net cash flows relating toved crude oil and natural gas reserves
the changes in standardized measure of discountacefnet cash flows relating proved crude oil aatural gas were prepared in accord.
with the provisions of ASC 932-2F65 (formerly SFAS 69). Future cash inflows werenpated by applying average prices of crude olil
natural gas for the last 12 months to estimatedréuproduction. Future production and developmestscwere computed by estimating
expenditures to be incurred in developing and produthe proved crude oil and natural gas reseavelse end of the year, based on yeal
costs and assuming continuation of existing ecooauanditions. Future income tax expenses werallzdatd by applying appropriate year
tax rates to future pretax cash flows relatingavpd crude oil and natural gas reserves, lestathbasis of properties involved and tax cre
and loss carry forwards relating to crude oil aatural gas producing activities. Future net céslvd are discounted at the rate of 10% ann
to derive the standardized measure of discountedeficash flows. Actual future cash inflows mayyaonsiderably, and the standardi
measure does not necessarily represent the faie wdlthe Company’s crude oil and natural gas veser

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Future Cash Inflow $5,353,167,00 $3,959,403,50 $1,038,703,43
Future Production Cos (1,436,711,06) (925,165,65) (271,843,57)
Future Development Cos (846,363,50) (624,607,50) (161,853,92)
Future Income Tax Expen (817,296,32) (740,132,74) (199,197,42)
Future Net Cash Inflow $2,252,796,11 $1,669,497,60 $ 405,808,52
10% Annual Discount for Estimated Timing of Casbv (1,211,441,32) (830,800,21) (195,195,72)
Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Ebsis $1,041,354,79 $ 838,697,38 $ 210,612,79

The twelve month average prices were adjustedftecteapplicable transportation and quality diffetials on a well-bywell basis to arrive
realized sales prices used to estimate the Compaegérves. The price of other liquids is inclugtedatural gas. The prices for the Company’
reserve estimates were as follows:

Natural Gas Oil

MCF Bbl
December 31, 201 $ 47¢ $ 84.97
December 31, 201 $ 6.1¢ $ 90.17
December 31, 201 $ 504 $ 70.4¢
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Changes in the Standardized Measure of Discountadd-Net Cash Flows at 10% per annum follow:

Beginning of Periot

Sales of Oil and Natural Gas Produced, Net of Rriolu Costs
Extensions and Discoveri

Previously Estimated Development Cost Incurred myithe Periot
Net Change of Prices and Production C

Change in Future Development Cc

Revisions of Quantity and Timing Estima

Accretion of Discoun

Change in Income Taxt

Purchase of Reserves in Pl

Other

End of Perioc
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Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
$ 838,697,38 $ 210,612,799 $ 67,806,56
(235,769,95) (132,095,15) (50,721,82)
455,623,03 756,304,28 185,403,28
193,669,70 23,941,19 3,350,01!
(179,505,19) 140,217,58 88,564,34
(112,995,35) (11,285,15) (3,003,309
15,687,42 13,491,95 (3,237,34))
110,133,32 29,551,14 8,781,24!
16,584,30 (177,737,16) (84,898,66)

(60,769,87)  (14,304,10)  (1,431,52)
$1,041,354,79 $838,697,38 $210,612,79




QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly data for the years end December 31, 2Z80P1, and 2010 is as follown
Quarter Ended

September
March 31, June 30, 30, December 31
2012
Total Revenue $ 50,522,99 $119,207,60 $ 60,095,61 81,746,68
Unrealized (Loss) Gain on Derivative Instrume (9,364,91) 49,799,31 (22,308,47) (2,978,80i)
Expense(® 35,695,83 44,013,80 54,376,31 48,350,51
Income (Loss) from Operatiol 14,827,16 75,193,80 5,719,29! 33,396,17
Other Income (Expens (195,899 (2,727,40) (5,205,71j) (5,721,01)
Income Tax Provision (Benefi 5,825,35! 28,840,00 213,42: 8,123,001
Net Income (Loss 8,805,91. 43,626,39 300,16: 19,552,15
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sh- Basic (0.19 0.7¢C - 0.31
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sh- Diluted (0.19 0.7¢C - 0.31
Quarter Ended
September
March 31, June 30, 30, December 31
2011
Total Revenue $ 2,526,74 $ 50,826,09 $ 69,050,03 $ 26,986,20
Unrealized (Loss) Gain on Derivative Instrume (21,278,62) 20,848,23 27,105,40 (23,605,77)
Expense! 14,859,33 17,103,69 23,079,01 27,096,82
Income (Loss) from Operatiol (12,332,58) 33,722,40 45,971,02 (110,619
Other Income (Expens 767,04( (229,509 (180,80() (160,170
Income Tax Provision (Benefi (4,507,701 13,060,00 17,173,00 1,110,00!
Net Income (Loss (7,057,84) 20,432,90 28,617,22 (1,380,78)
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sh- Basic (0.17) 0.3t 0.4¢€ (0.02)
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sh- Diluted (0.11) 0.3¢ 0.4¢€ (0.02)
Quarter Ended
September
March 31, June 30, 30, December 31
2010
Total Revenue $ 7,221,51. $ 16,231,77 $ 9,883,82 $ 11,221,99
Unrealized (Loss) Gain on Derivative Instrume (900,81¢) 303,91¢ (6,449,57) (7,499,00)
Expense: 4,596,93 6,133,56! 8,159,48! 14,163,82
Income (Loss) from Operatiol 2,624,57 10,098,20 1,724,33 (2,941,83)
Other Income (Expens (87,949 (144,34) (117,110 180,41:
Income Tax Provision (Benefi 977,00( 3,833,001 620,00( (1,011,001
Net Income (Loss 1,559,63! 6,120,86! 987,22t (1,750,42)
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sh- Basic 0.04 0.12 0.0z (0.09)
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sh- Diluted 0.04 0.12 0.0z (0.03)

(1) General and administrative expenses include $5lmand $0.6 million in severance expenses innemtion with the departures of
president and our chief operating officer in thiedtland fourth quarters of 2012, respectivi
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EXHIBIT 10.10

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement) is entered into this 2 day of December, 2012 by and between Bra
Elliott, a resident of the State of Georgia_ (* Emy@e”), and Northern Oil and Gas, Inc., a Minnesota congmamahaving its principal office
315 Manitoba Avenue, Suite 200, Wayzata, Minneéb&“ Company).

WHEREAS , the Company desires to employ Employee, and Eyapldesires to accept such employment, pursuahetterms ar
conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS , during his employment with the Company, Employék have access to the Compasyconfidential, proprietary a
trade secret information. Employee and the Compeayrge that it is in the best interests of the Camgpto protect its confidential, propriet
and trade secret information, to prevent unfair petition by former employees following separatiohtloeir employment and to sec
cooperation from former employees with respect édtens related to their employment with the Compamyg

WHEREAS , Employee acknowledges that his receipt of benefider this Agreement depends on, among otheyshitis agreeme
to abide by the confidentiality, non-competitioonpsolicitation and other covenants contained is Agreement in Sectionsahd_10below.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing recitals ane thspective agreements of the Company and Empkyse
forth below, the Company and Employee, intendingeidegally bound, agree as follows:

1. Term . Effective as of January 1, 2013 (the “ Effectbate”), the Company hereby employs Employee, and Emp
hereby accepts such employment on the terms arditioms set forth herein, for the period commenadmgthe Effective Date and ending f
(4) years later, unless sooner terminated pursoerdto (the “_Initial Terni). The Company and Employee shall provide one anaothi
written notice ninety (90) days prior to the fouahniversary of the Effective Date, and on subsegyearly anniversaries of the Effective D
of their intention to terminate this Agreement@ektend the Agreement under the terms and conditiereof for successive, additional one
year periods, subject to early termination pursii@néto (each “ Renewal Terni). The Agreement will be extended only if both the @am,
and Employee agree to extend the Agreement. Titial Ilerm together with any Renewal Term(s) isdierreferred to as the * Term If
Employee remains employed by the Company afterTéren, then such employment shall be according th garms and conditions as
Company may establish from time to time.

2. Services. The Company hereby agrees to employ Employedénrdle of the Company’'sEkecutive Vice Presidel
Corporate Development and Strategyid Employee hereby accepts such employment watlCthmpany on the terms and conditions set
herein. Employee shall perform all activities as@dvices as the CompasyExecutive Vice President, Corporate Developmendt Strategy
which shall include such duties and responsibdliis the Company’s Board of Directors (the * BdgrdChief Executive Officer and/or Ch
Financial Officer may from time-to-time reasonaphgscribe (the * Service¥. Employee shall use his best efforts to make hineadflable t
render such Services to the best of his abilitiHse Services shall be performed in a good prafessiand workmanlike manner by Employet
the Company’s reasonable satisfaction.




3. Location . Employee’s position will be based at the Compamyincipal office, which is currently located dt53Manitob
Avenue, Suite 200, Wayzata, Minnesota.

4, At-Will Relationship . Employee’s employment with the Company shall ey “at-will,” meaning that either Employ
or the Company may terminate such employment ceigliip at any time for any reason or for no reasoail, subject to the provisions of t
Agreement. The date upon which Employee’s teation of employment with the Company occurs is‘tfi@rmination Date” For purpose
of Section 8(b)(x) and (Wf this Agreement only, with respect to the timofgany payments thereunder, the * Termination Datkall mean tF
date on which a “separation from service” has aezlfor purposes of Section 409A of the Internaldeie Code of 1986 (the “ Cotjeand thi
regulations and guidance thereunder.

5. Compensation. In consideration for Employee entering into thigrédement with the Company and performlng the Set
required hereunder during the Term, the Companl} pfavide Employee with the following compensatiahile Employee is employed by !
Company during the Term:

(@ Salary The Company shall pay Employee an annualized balsiry according to this Section 5(#ie “ Salary"),
which salary shall be payable to Employee in acacd with the Company’customary payroll practices. From the Effecidege
through December 31, 2013, Employee’s annualizddrngahall be $250,000. Thereafter, Emplogeahnualized Salary shall
subject to review and adjustment (but not belowd$230) in the discretion of the Company’s Compeaosatommittee or Board.

(b) Annual Bonus For each calendar year during the Term commgneith the 2013 calendar year, Employee she
eligible to receive an annual incentive bonus & discretion of the Compars/Compensation Committee or Board based
Employee meeting or exceeding performance goath, aviarget annual incentive bonus of up to 100%roployees annualized Sala
and to be paid in such form as the Compensationnditiee or Board may determine, but no later thamdd5 of the calendar ye
immediately following the calendar year for whichck bonus is earned; provided, however, that ngthierein shall obligate t
Company to pay any bonus to Employee at any time.

(c) Initial Restricted Stock GrantAs of the Effective Date, Employee shall recesveestricted stock grant of 40,(
shares of the Company’s common stock (the “ RésttiStock Award’) in accordance with the terms and conditions ofstrirec
stock award agreement in the form attached heretBxhibit Ato be entered into between the Company and Empldgésd th
Effective Date (the “ Restricted Stock AdgreemgntThe restricted stock included in the Restricteccitdward shall vest in four eqt
annual installments on Januarytdf each year from 2014 through 2017, subject telacated vesting under certain circumstanc
specified in the Restricted Stock Agreement.




(d) Annual Londerm Incentive Grant In connection with the lontgrm incentive grant determination proc
undertaken by the Company’s Compensation CommidteBoard, commencing with yeand 2013, Employee shall be eligible
receive a long-term incentive grant at the disoretif the Compang Compensation Committee or Board based upon Emplmeetin
or exceeding performance goals, with a target kemgr incentive grant valued at up to 100% of Eme&sy annualized Salary, vest
in installments following grant as determined by tBompanys Compensation Committee or Board. For the avaiglasf doub
nothing herein shall obligate the Company to makeiacentive grant to Employee at any time.

(e Temporary Commuting/Living ExpensgirRbursement It is understood and agreed that Employee willrelocat
to Minnesota until on or about September 1, 2058, intil such time shall commute from Georgia oneeekly basis. For the peri
from the Effective Date until September 1, 2013,ptopee shall be entitled to reimbursement from @@npany of an aggreg:
maximum of $30,000 to cover (i) reasonable travgdemses incurred for the weekly roundtrip commudénveen Minnesota a
Georgia, and (ii) expenses incurred for temporasysing in Minnesota. Employee shall provide supprapriate documentati
regarding these expenses as Company may reasaaghlye.

® Relocation Expense Reimbursemefmployee shall relocate his permanent residémddinnesota on or abc
September 1, 2013, unless the Company in its seteetion determines that relocation is unnecessaspould be delayed. In the e\
of such relocation, Employee shall be entitledeionbursement from the Company of up to $50,00«perses incurred in connect
with the relocation to Minnesota. Employee shatiide such appropriate documentation regardingcagion expenses as Comp
may reasonably require.

6. Benefits . In consideration for Employee entering into thigreement with the Company and performlng the Ser
required hereunder during the Term, the Companly glavide Employee with the following employee lefits while Employee is employed
the Company during the Term:

@) Employee shall be entitled to papit¢e in all such employee benefit plans and prograithe Company as are provided f
time to time by the Company to employees of the gamy to the extent that Employee meets the eligibiéquirements for each such individ
plan or program. The Company provides no assurasde the adoption or continuance of any particeitaployee benefit plan or program
employees of the Company and Emplogegarticipation in any such plan or program shellshbject to the provisions, rules and regula
applicable thereto.

(b) The Company shall provide a $1,000nthly car allowance to Employee for lease paymeimsurance, gasoline &
maintenance expenses, up to an aggregate maximpensx for the Company of $12,000 per calendar yEeaployee shall provide su
appropriate documentation regarding these expess€ampany may reasonably require.




(c) Employee, Employee’s spouse and digibke children of Employee (the “ Employee Family ") shall be entitled 1
participate in health, hospitalization, disabilitiental and other such heattflated benefits and/or insurance plans that thrag2ay may have
effect from time-to-time and provided the Employe®l Employees Family meets the eligibility requirements for leatich individual plan
program. The Company provides no assurance astadbption or continuance of any particular hedithgpitalization, disability, dental a
other such health-related benefits and/or insurghmes or programs and Employee and Employee’s liFamarticipation in any such plan
program shall be subject to the provisions, rutesr@gulations applicable thereto.

(d) Employee shall be entitled to foureke paid vacation each calendar year.

()] Employee shall be reimbursed by them@any for all ordinary and customary business eseg including trave
communication costs and other disbursements inginyéehim, for and on behalf of the Company, in ation with the provision of the Servi
required under this Agreement. Employee shall idmsuch appropriate documentation regarding such exgseand disbursements as Com,
may reasonably require. Reimbursement shall catcigast once per month and must be paid no laerthe end of the Compasytaxable yei
following the taxable year in which such expengesirzcurred.

7. Rights Upon A Change in Control.

@ Upon a Change in Control of the Conypés defined below) during the Term, the effgmiruany options, warrants, restric
stock, restricted stock units or other equity iests in the Company (the_* Securitigsheld in the name of Employee, or any portion thi
shall be as provided for under the applicable gagnéements and plan document(s) governing sualrises.

(b) Any of the following shall constituée“ Change in Contrdlfor the purposes of this Agreement:

0] The consummation of a reorganizatimerger, share exchange, consolidation or simidarsection, the acquisition
a majority of the outstanding common stock of tltempPany by a person or group acting in concert erstile or disposition of all
substantially all of the assets of the Companyesslin any case, the persons beneficially owrirgsbting securities of the Compi
immediately before that transaction beneficiallynowirectly or indirectly, immediately after thetisaction, at least fifty (50%) of
voting securities of the Company or any other coafion or other entity resulting from or survivitige transaction in substantially
same proportion as their respective ownership@f/titing securities of the Company immediately ipricthe transaction;

(i) A majority of the members of the Bdashall not be Continuing Directors (* ContinuiBirectors” shall mean: (A
individuals who, on the Effective Date, are direstof the Company, (B) individuals elected as doesof the Company subsequer
the Effective Date for whose election proxies shalle been solicited by the Board, (C) individwdécted as directors of the Comp
subsequent to the Effective Date pursuant to a matioh of board representation right of preferredisholders of the Company, or |
any individual elected or appointed by the Boaréiltowacancies on the Board caused by death agmesion (but not by removal) or
newly-created directorships); or




(i) The Company’s shareholders approgeraplete liquidation or dissolution of the Company
(c) The Company'’s obligations under fBéxtion 7of this Agreement are absolute and unconditionad, ot subject to any set-
off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense, or othghtrithat the Company or any affiliate of the Comparay have against the Employee.
parties agree that the provisions of this Sectighall survive any termination of this Agreement.

8. Rights Upon Termination of Employment.

€)) If Employea employment with the Company is terminated byGbenpany or Employee for any reason upon or follgvifre
expiration of the Term, or if Employee’s employmeiith the Company is terminated during the Ternrénson of:

() Employee’s abandonment of his emplepmor Employee resignation for any reason other than Good Reées
defined below),

(i) termination of Employee’s employmédaytthe Company for Cause (as defined below), or
(iii) Employee’s death or Disability (defined below),

then: (A) the Company shall pay to Employee orb@seficiary or his estate, as the case may be, &gt Salary through the Terminat
Date, (B) the Company shall pay any unpaid expeasabursement that might have accrued prior to Theamination Date; and (C) a
Securities held in the name of Employee, or anytigorthereof, may be exercised to the extent Ermg#owas entitled to do so as of
Termination Date in accordance with the terms efdpplicable grant agreements and plan documeya{grning such Securities.

(b) If Employees employment with the Company is terminated dutivg Term by the Company for any reason other the
Cause, or by Employee as a result of his resignétioGood Reason (in either case, an “ Involunteggmination”), then: (i) the Company sh
pay Employees Salary through the Termination Date, and (ii)@menpany shall pay any unpaid expense reimbursetianimight have accru
prior to the Termination Date. In addition, if Bavoluntary Termination occurs during the Term &imel Termination Date is before a Chanc
Control or within twenty-four (24) months after &&hge in Control, then, subject_to Section &gfpw and any delayed payment requirerr
under Section 409A of the Code, including the sonth wait, if applicable, (x) the Company shall gayployee a single lump sum payn
equal to one multiplied by Employeeannualized Salary as of the Termination Dates, &gplicable withholdings, payable to Employee lm
sixtieth (60t") calendar day after the Termination Date, (y) @mnpany shall, no later than sixtieth (8Q calendar day after the Terminat
Date, issue pre-payment of the remaining lease ¢éfEmployee’s Company vehicle to enable Employ@entinued use of such vehicle thro
the remaining lease term of such vehicle, alond wiiump sum payment to Employee of the estimatisdrance premiums for such veh
through the remaining lease term, and (z) Emplayad Employees Family shall have the right for one year aftes frermination Date
continue to participate in the Compasybenefit plans described in Section 6(c) abovéh Wie Company continuing to pay all applic:
insurance premiums (provided the Employee and Eyapls Family meets the eligibility requirements for leaach individual plan or progran




(c) CauseTermination of Employee for * Cau8ahall mean any of the following acts by Employee:

0] an intentional act of fraud, embezzknt, theft or any other material violation of faw
(i) intentional damage to the Compargssets;
(iii) the willful and continued failur® substantially perform required duties for thexipany (other than as a resul

incapacity due to physical or mental iliness); or
(iv) willful conduct that is demonstrgtdnd materially injurious to the Company, mondyasi otherwise.

(d) Good ReasanResignation for * Good Reasdrshall mean resignation by Employee based on atigeofollowing acts b
the Company without the consent of Employee:

(i)  a material breach by the Company of any teand conditions of this Agreement;

(i) the relocation of Employee’s offibg more than 30 miles from the location identifiecSection 3above;
(i) a material reduction of Employe&alary; or
(iv) a material reduction in the naturescope of Employee’ authorities or duties from those previously agdile tc

him,

provided, however, that “* Good Reasoshall not exist unless Employee has first provideitten notice to the Company of the occurrenc
one or more of the conditions under clauses (9uyh (iv) above within ninety (90) days of the cihioth’s initial occurrence, and such condii
is not fully remedied by the Company within thi(80) days after the Company’s receipt of writtetiacefrom Employee.

(e) Disability. “ Disability ” hereunder shall mean the inability of Employeep&rform on a fultime basis the duties a
responsibilities of his employment with the Compégyreason of his iliness or other physical or rakimpairment or condition, if such inabil
continues for an uninterrupted period of 180 daymore during any 360-day period. A period of itigbshall be “uninterruptedunless an
until Employee returns to full-time work, with oritwout an accommodation, for a continuous periodtdéast thirty (30) days.




® In the event of termination of Empé®s employment, the sole obligation of the Comparglldie its obligation to make t
payments called for by Section 8(a)Section 8(bhereof, as the case may be, and the Company stvalrto other obligation to Employee o
his beneficiary or his estate, except for compeénmsatarned for services performed through the Teation Date or as otherwise providec
law, under the terms of any other applicable agesgrhetween Employee and the Company or undeethestof any employee benefit plan:
programs then maintained by the Company in whiclpleyee participates.

(9) Notwithstanding the foregoing prowiss of this_Section 8the Company shall not be obligated to providedbesideratio
under_Section 8(b)(x), (y) or (Fereof unless Employee shall have signed a relelaskims in favor of the Company in a form readan
acceptable to the Company, all applicable consiergeriods and rescission periods provided by $tnall have expired and Employee i
strict compliance with the terms of this Agreemasiof the dates of the payments.

9. Confidential Information .

€)) Employee shall maintain the confiddity of all trade secrets, (whether owned or tised by the Company) and relate:
other interpretative materials and analyses ofGbenpanys projects, or knowledge of the existence of anyerie, information, analyse
projects, proposed joint ventures, mergers, adipnisi divestitures and other such anticipated amtemplated business ventures of
Company, and other confidential or proprietary infation of the Company (* Confidential Informatiand Materials’) obtained by Employe
from the Company.

(b) In the event that such Confidentiglotmation and Materials are memorialized on angpater hardware, software, CD-
ROM, disk, tape, or other media, Company shall haeeright, subject to the rights of third partiesder contract, copyright, or other law
view, use and copy for safekeeping or backup pepasich Confidential Information and Materials.riBy the period of confidentialit
Employee shall make no use of such Confidentiabrimftion and Materials for his own financial or ethbenefit, and shall not retain :
originals or copies, or reveal or disclose any @tarftial Information and Materials to any third {@s, except as otherwise expressly agres
the Company. Employee shall have no right to hgeQompanys corporate logos, trademarks, service marks, leerdntellectual proper
without prior written permission of the Company autject to any limitations or restrictions upoctsuse as the Company may require.

() Upon expiration or termination of¢bAgreement, Employee shall turn over to a des@gghegpresentative of the Company
property in Employea possession and custody and belonging to the Gompamployee shall not retain any copies or repctidns o
correspondence, memoranda, reports, notebooksirdisvphotographs or other documents relating ynvealy to the affairs of the Company i
containing Confidential Information and Materialshish came into Employee’s possession at any timeéngluthe term of Employee’
employment with the Company.




(d) Employee acknowledges that the Compara public company registered under the Exchakgeand that this Agreeme
may be subject to the filing requirements of thelange Act. Employee acknowledges and agreeshbatpplicable insider trading rules .
limitations on disclosure of nopublic information set forth in the Exchange Actlanles and regulations promulgated by the SEQ apaly tc
this Agreement and Employeseémployment with the Company. Employee (on bebfalfimself as well as his executors, heirs, adstiator:
and assigns) absolutely and unconditionally agreésdemnify and hold harmless the Company andfaills past, present and future affilia
executors, heirs, administrators, shareholders,|®mees, officers, directors, attorneys, accountaatgents, representatives, predeces
successors and assigns from any and all claimss,déémands, accounts, judgments, causes of aetjoiitable relief, damages, costs, cha
complaints, obligations, controversies, actiongssproceedings, expenses, responsibilities afiiliies of every kind and character whatso
(including, but not limited to, reasonable attorsidiges and costs) in the event of Emplogda'each or alleged breach of any obligation L
the Exchange Act, any rules promulgated by the 8&€any other applicable Federal or state lawssyuegulations or orders.

(e) The foregoing obligations of confitlatity shall not apply to any Confidential Infortian and Materials that: (i) are now ¢
subsequently become generally publicly known, othan as a direct or indirect result of the brebghEmployee of this Agreement, (ii) i
independently made available to Employee in godt fay a third party who has not violated a confiti@ relationship with the Company,
(iii) are required to be disclosed by law or legedcess. Employee understands and agrees thabfejsl obligations under this Agreemen
maintain the confidentiality of the Compasyconfidential information are in addition to anyligations of Employee under applicable stat.
or common law. The parties agree that the prowssiof this_Section $hall survive any termination of Employseémployment with tt
Company and this Agreement.

10. Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation .
(@ Employee agrees that he will not:
0] anywhere within the United Statesgage, directly or indirectly, alone or as a shaldéro(other than as a holder

less than ten percent (10%) of the common sto@ngfpublicly traded corporation), partner, officdirector, employee, consultant
advisor, or otherwise in any way participate inbecome associated with, any other business organmizhat is engaged or becor
engaged in any business that is the same or stibfi{aitlentical business of the Company, or idity competitive with, any busine
activity that the Company is conducting at the tiafehe Employees termination or has notified the Employee thgbritposes t
conduct and for which the Company has, prior to tihee of such termination, expended substantiabuees (the Designate
Industry”),

(i) divert to any competitor of the Coany any customer of the Company, or




(iii) solicit any employee, contributor faculty member of the Company to change its i@lahip with the Company,
hire or offer employment to any person to whomEngployee actually knows the Company has offeredi@ynpent.

(b) Employee agrees to be bound by thevigions of this_Section 1@h consideration for the Compamsy’employment ¢
Employee, payment of the compensation and bergfitdided under Section &d_Section @&bove and the covenants and agreements se
herein. The provisions of this Section difall apply during the term of Employseémployment with the Company and for a periodref ¢l
year following termination of Employ’s employment with the Company for any reason, wdrefuch termination is at the initiative
Employee or the Company or before or after exmiratif the Term; provided, howevethat the provisions of this Section 4ifall cease to apy
immediately upon any Change in Control as defime&éction 7of this Agreement or in the event that the Comptamninates Employeg’
employment for no reason or for any reason othan tBause during the Term. The parties agree tigapttovisions of this _Section Xhal
survive any termination of Employee’s employmenthwthe Company and this Agreement, Employee will continue to be boubydthe
provisions of this Section liintil their expiration and Employee shall not bétksd to any compensation from the Company wipeset theret
except as provided under this Agreement.

() Employee acknowledges that the promis of this_Section 1@re essential to protect the business and goodivithe
Company. If at any time the provisions of this tRet 10 shall be determined to be invalid or unenforcedljereason of being vague
unreasonable as to area, duration or scope ofitgctivis Section 1&hall be considered divisible and shall becomebentnmediately amend
to only such area, duration and scope of activityshall be determined to be reasonable and enfilecéy the court or other body hav
jurisdiction over the matter; and the Employee agrthat thisSection 10as so amended shall be valid and binding as thanghinvalid o
unenforceable provision had not been included herei

11. Non-Disparagement. Employee agrees that he will not, in any writteroral communication (regardless of whether
communication is intended to be private or publi)ticize or make any statement which disparageis alerogatory of the Company or i
current or former employee, officer, director ofilafte of the Company; provided, howevgethat nothing herein shall prevent Employee 1
testifying truthfully in connection with any litigg@n, arbitration or administrative proceeding whampelled by subpoena, regulation or ¢
order to do so. The parties agree that the pravdsiof this_Section 1%hall survive any termination of Employseémployment with tt
Company and this Agreement.

12. Notices . Any notice required or permitted under this Agneat shall be personally delivered or sent by reizeg
overnight courier or by certified mail, return rgerequested, postage prepaid, and shall be eféeathen received (if personally deliverec
sent by recognized overnight courier) or on thedtliay after mailing (if sent by certified mailtwen receipt requested, postage prepai
follows:

As to Employee, at the Employee’s home addresiewith the Company.




As to the Company:

hwoern Oil and Gas, Inc.
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
315 Manitoba Avenue — Suite 200
Wayzata, Minnesota 55391

Either party may designate a different person tomwmmotices should be sent at any time by notifyimgy other party in writing in accordat
with this Agreement.

13. Survival of Certain Provisions. Those provisions of this Agreement which by ttieims extend beyond the terminatio
non+enewal of this Agreement (including all represéates, warranties, and covenants of the partiea)l semain in full force and effect a
survive such termination or non-renewal.

14. Severability . Each provision of this Agreement shall be congdeseverable such that if any one provision ousz
conflicts with existing or future applicable law, may not be given full effect because of such lgnig shall not affect any other provision wt
can be given effect without the conflicting prowisior clause.

15. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreementuadérstanding between the parties, and supel
all prior agreements and understandings relatingh subject matter hereof. There are no understgsdconditions, representations
warranties of any kind between the parties excegixaressly set forth herein.

16. Assignability . Employee may not assign this Agreement to anyl ihérty for whatever purpose without the exprestien
consent of the Company. The Company may not asisigiigreement to any third party without the eegw written consent of Employee ex
by operation of law, or through merger, liquidatioacapitalization or sale of all or substantiallyof the assets of the Company, provided
the Company may assign this Agreement at any tinam taffiliate of the Company. The provisionsto§tAgreement shall inure to the benef
and be binding upon the parties and their respecéipresentatives, successors, and assigns.

17. Headings. The headings of the paragraphs and sectionsiofAtreement are inserted solely for the convergeol
reference. They shall in no way define, limit,ed, or aid in the construction of the scope, dxtnintent of this Agreement.

18. Waiver . The failure of a party to enforce the provisiafsthis Agreement shall not be construed as a waifean)
provision or the right of such party thereafteetdorce each and every provision of this Agreement.

19. Amendments. No amendments of this Agreement shall be bindjmgn the Company or Employee unless made in wy
signed by the parties hereto, and delivered tpéntes at the addresses provided herein.

20. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by and constumeter the internal laws of the State of Minne:

without regard to the principles of comity and/oe applicable conflicts of laws of any state thatuld result in the application of any laws o
than the State of Minnesota.
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21. Jurisdiction . This Agreement, including the documents, instmisi@nd agreements to be executed and/or delilbgréuk
parties pursuant hereto, shall be construed, gedeby and enforced in accordance with the intelanab of the State of Minnesota, with
giving effect to the principles of comity or comfis of laws thereof. Employee and the Companyeagnel consent that any legal action, st
proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of ggseement shall be instituted and adjudicatedlg@ed exclusively in any court of gene
jurisdiction in Minnesota, or in the United Staf@istrict Court having jurisdiction in Minnesota a&tdhployee and the Company agree that v
will be proper in such courts and waive any obfattivhich they may have now or hereafter to the gesfltany such suit, action or proceedin
such courts, and each hereby irrevocably consetsigrees to the jurisdiction of said courts in angh suit, action or proceeding. Emplc
and the Company further agree to accept and aclkulgel service of any and all process which may beedein any such suit, action
proceeding in said courts, and also agree thaicgeof process or notice upon them shall be deeémedgery respect effective service of prot
or notice upon them, in any suit, action, proceggdihgiven or made (i) according to applicable Jij by a person over the age of eighteen
who personally served such notice or service ofgse on Employee or the Company, as the case may (i) by certified mail, return recei
requested, mailed to employee or the Company,easabe may be, at their respective addressesreirfahis Agreement.

22. Counterparts and Electronic Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in two or morentayparts, each of whi
shall be deemed an original but all of which togethall constitute one and the same Agreement.

23. Taxes and Section409A. Company may withhold from any amounts payable utfie Agreement such federal, state
local income and employment taxes as Company stetérmine are required to be withheld pursuant my applicable law ¢
regulation. Employee shall be solely responsilde the payment of all taxes due and owing with eespgo wages, benefits, and ol
compensation provided to him hereunder.

This Agreement and the compensation payable heeeusiéhtended to satisfy, or be exempt from, gguirements of Section 409A(a)
(2)(3) and (4) of the Code, including current amdufe guidance and regulations interpreting suadvipions, and should be interpre
accordingly.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Agreement aseaddle first set forth above.

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

By /s/ Michael L. Reger
By: Michael L. Reger
Its: Chief Executive Officer

EMPLOYEE:

/s/ Brandon Elliott
Brandon Elliott
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EXHIBIT 10.11

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement’) is entered into effective the I0day of October, 2011 (theEffective
Date”) by and between Erik J. Romslo, a resident of $tate of Minnesota (* Employe®, and Northern Oil and Gas, Inc., a Minne:
corporation having its principal office at 315 M@hia Avenue, Suite 200, Wayzata, Minnesota (therh@any”).

WHEREAS , the Company is an oil and gas exploration andiystion company headquartered in Wayzata, Minne$otaised o
drilling exploratory and developmental wells in fRecky Mountain regions of the United States;

WHEREAS , the Company desires to employ Employee, and Byeplalesires to accept such employment, pursughetterms ar
conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS , during his employment with the Company, Employék have access to the Compasyconfidential, proprietary a
trade secret information. Employee and the Compeayrge that it is in the best interests of the Camgpto protect its confidential, propriet
and trade secret information, to prevent unfair petition by former executives following separatiofi their employment and to sec
cooperation from former executives with respechtiters related to their employment with the Congpand

WHEREAS , Employee acknowledges that his receipt of benefider this Agreement depends on, among otheyshitis agreeme
to abide by the confidentiality, non-competitioonpsolicitation and other covenants contained im Agreement in Sectionsahd_10below.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the foregoing recitals ane thspective agreements of the Company and Empkyse
forth below, the Company and Employee, intendingadegally bound, agree as follows:

1. Term . As of the Effective Date, the Company hereby eypEmployee, and Employee hereby accepts suctogmeht ol
the terms and conditions set forth herein, for pegiod commencing on the Effective Date and endmg (4) years later, unless soc
terminated pursuant hereto (the “ Initial Tef)n The Company and Employee shall provide one anatfiter written notice ninety (90) da
prior to the fourth anniversary of the EffectivetBaand on subsequent yearly anniversaries of fleetive Date, of their intention to termin.
this Agreement or to extend the Agreement undeteimas and conditions hereof for successive, aiditione (1) year periods, subject to €
termination pursuant hereto (each a “ Renewal T8rnThe Agreement will be extended only if both the @amy and Employee agree
extend the Agreement. The Initial Term togetheghwiny Renewal Term(s) is herein referred to as fherm.” If Employee remains employ
by the Company after the Term, then such employrsieall be according to such terms and conditionth@€ompany may establish from ti
to time.

2. Services. The Company hereby agrees to employ Employekeirrdle of the Company’Vice President, General Cour
and Secretary and Employee hereby accepts suctogmmght with the Company on the terms and conditgetsforth herein. Employee st
perform all activities and services as the ComparVice President, General Counsel and Secretarichwéhall include such duties ¢
responsibilities as the Company’s Board of Dirextiihe “_ Board’) and Chief Operating Officermay from time-totime reasonably prescri
consistent with the duties and responsibilitiethefVice President, General Counsel and SecrefahedCompany (the " Servicés Employe<
shall use his best efforts to make himself avadldblrender such Services to the best of his isilitThe Services shall be performed in a
professional and workmanlike manner by Employe¢héoCompany’s reasonable satisfaction.




3. Location . Employee’s position will be based at the Compamyincipal office, which is currently located &it53Manitob
Avenue, Suite 200, Wayzata, Minnesota.

4, At-Will Relationship . Employee’s employment with the Company shall ey “at-will,” meaning that either Employ
or the Company may terminate such employment cglsliip at any time for any reason or for no reasaal, subject to the provisions of t
Agreement. The date upon which Employee’s teation of employment with the Company occurs is‘tiermination Date” For purpose
of Section 8(b)(x) and (Wf this Agreement only, with respect to the timofgany payments thereunder, the * Termination Datkall mean tF
date on which a “separation from service” has astlifor purposes of Section 409A of the Internaldeie Code of 1986 (the “ Cotleand thi
regulations and guidance thereunder.

5. Compensation. In consideration for Employee entering into thigréement with the Company and performlng the Set
required hereunder during the Term, the Companl} pfavide Employee with the following compensatiahile Employee is employed by !
Company during the Term:

€)) Salary The Company shall pay Employee an annualized bakry according to this Section 5(tie “ Salary”),
which salary shall be payable to Employee in acacd with the Company’customary payroll practices. From the EffeciDege
through December 31, 2012, Employee’s annualizddrngahall be $220,000. Thereafter, Emplogeahnualized Salary shall
increased by 4% on January 1 of each year duria@éhm, starting January 1, 2013.

(b) Signing Bonus Upon Employees execution of this Agreement, the Company shsilléso Employee one thous:
five hundred (1,500) fully vested shares of the @any’s common stock.

(c) Annual Bonus For each calendar year during the Term Emplayedl be eligible to receive an annual incer
bonus in the discretion of the Companyompensation Committee or Board based upon Ermployeeting or exceeding mutu
agreed upon performance goals, with a target arinoahtive bonus equal to 50% of Employeahnualized Salary and to be pai
fully vested shares of the Compasyommon stock to be issued no later than Marcbf 1Be calendar year immediately following
calendar year for which such bonus is earned; deayihowever, that nothing herein shall obligate @mmpany to pay any bonus
Employee at any time. Notwithstanding the foregoifor calendar year 2011, Employgdarget annual incentive bonus shall e
16.7% of Employee’s annualized Salary for 2011 apdgy in fully vested shares of the Compangdbmmon stock to be issued no |
March 15, 2012.




(d) Restricted Stock GrantJpon execution of this Agreement, Employee stealeive a restricted stock grant of 25,
shares of the Company’s common stock (the * ResttiStock Award) in accordance with the terms and conditions of teatair
Restricted Stock Agreement between the CompanyEanployee dated the same date as Employee exetigeddreement (the
Restricted Stock Agreemerit. The restricted stock included in the RestrictedctAward shall vest ratably in sixteen quart
installments during the Initial Term, subject tcalerated vesting under certain circumstances esfgudl herein and in the Restric
Stock Agreement.

6. Benefits . In consideration for Employee entering into tligreement with the Company and performing the Set
required hereunder during the Term, the Companly gtavide Employee with the following employee leéits while Employee is employed
the Company during the Term:

@ Employee shall be entitled to paptite in all such employee benefit plans and prograintthe Company as are provided f
time to time by the Company to senior executivethef Company to the extent that Employee meetelibibility requirements for each st
individual plan or program. The Company providesassurance as to the adoption or continuanceyoparticular employee benefit plan
program for senior executives of the Company angl&yee’s participation in any such plan or program shalkbbject to the provisions, ru
and regulations applicable thereto.

(b) Employee shall be entitled to use anPanyleased vehicle during the Term, and the Companyl phavide a monthl
allowance to Employee for insurance, gasoline aatht@nance expenses, up to an aggregate maximuemsxfor the Company of Twe
Thousand Dollars ($12,000) per calendar year.

(c) Employee, Employee’s spouse and dnilgren of Employee (the “ EmployeeFamily”) shall be entitled to participate
health, hospitalization, disability, dental andestlsuch healthelated benefits and/or insurance plans that thegaoy may have in effect frc
time-to-time and provided the Employee and Employ&amily meets the eligibility requirements for leatich individual plan or program,
of which insurance premiums shall be paid by thenany on behalf of Employee and Employeeamily. The Company provides no assur
as to the adoption or continuance of any particdsaith, hospitalization, disability, dental andestsuch healthelated benefits and/or insura

plans or programs and Employee and Employee’s &plarticipation in any such plan or program shalkhbject to the provisions, rules
regulations applicable thereto.

(d) Employee shall be entitled to vagagoursuant to such general policies and procecfréise Company consistent with
practices as are from time-to-time adopted by theg@any.




(e Employee shall be reimbursed by them@any for all ordinary and customary business eseg including trave
communication costs and other disbursements inginyéehim, for and on behalf of the Company, in ation with the provision of the Servi
required under this Agreement. Employee shall ideguch appropriate documentation regarding supbhreses and disbursements as Com
may reasonably require. Reimbursement shall catcigast once per month and must be paid no laéerthe end of the Compasytaxable ye:
following the taxable year in which such expengesirzcurred.

7. Rights Upon A Change in Control.

€)) Upon a Change in Control of the Conypéas defined below) during the Term, any optiongsrants, restricted stor
restricted stock units or other equity interestsh@ Company (the “ Securiti€s held in the name of Employee, or any portion thirsbal
accelerate, become 100% vested and become immnigdiatted and, if applicable, exercisable upon @hgnge in Control of the Company
defined below).

(b) Any of the following shall constituée” Change in Contrdlfor the purposes of this Agreement:

0] The consummation of a reorganizatiorgrger, share exchange, consolidation or simitarsaction, or the sale
disposition of all or substantially all of the assef the Company, unless, in any case, the persensficially owning the votir
securities of the Company immediately before tretgaction beneficially own, directly or indirectiinmediately after the transacti
at least seventfive percent (75%) of the voting securities of thempany or any other corporation or other entisuling from o
surviving the transaction in substantially the sgoneportion as their respective ownership of théngosecurities of the Compa
immediately prior to the transaction;

(i) A majority of the members of the Bdashall not be Continuing Directors (* ContinuiBirectors” shall mean: (A
individuals who, on the Effective Date, are direstof the Company, (B) individuals elected as doexof the Company subsequer
the Effective Date for whose election proxies shalle been solicited by the Board, (C) individweésted as directors of the Comp
subsequent to the Effective Date pursuant to a matioin of board representation right of preferrextisholders of the Company, or |
any individual elected or appointed by the Boardfiltlwacancies on the Board caused by death agmasion (but not by removal) or
newly-created directorships); or

(i) The Company’s shareholders approeeraplete liquidation or dissolution of the Company

(c) The Company'’s obligations under fBéxtion 7of this Agreement are absolute and unconditiorad, ot subject to any set-
off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense, or othgitrthat the Company or any affiliate of the Comparay have against the Employee.
parties agree that the provisions of this Sectighall survive any termination of this Agreement.




8. Rights Upon Termination of Employment.

€)] If Employea’ employment with the Company is terminated byGbenpany or Employee for any reason upon or follgvhre
expiration of the Term, or if Employee’s employmeiith the Company is terminated during the Ternrénson of:

() Employee’s abandonment of his emplepmor Employee resignation for any reason other than Good Reées
defined below),

(i) termination of Employee’s employmédaytthe Company for Cause (as defined below), or
(iii) Employee’s death or Disability (defined below),

then: (A) the Company shall pay to Employee orb@seficiary or his estate, as the case may be, &meb Salary through the Terminat
Date, (B) the Company shall pay any unpaid expeasabursement that might have accrued prior to Theamination Date; and (C) a
Securities held in the name of Employee, or anytigmorthereof, may be exercised to the extent Engdowas entitled to do so as of
Termination Date in accordance with the terms efdpplicable grant agreements and plan documeya{grning such Securities.

(b) If Employee’s employment with the Caang is terminated during the Term by the Compamnyafty reason other than for
Cause, or by Employee as a result of his resigndioGood Reason (in either case, an “ Involunfizggmination”), then: (i) the Company shall
pay Employee’s Salary through the Termination Datel (ii) the Company shall pay any unpaid expeessbursement that might have accrued
prior to the Termination Date. In addition, if Bavoluntary Termination occurs during the Term #mgl Termination Date is before a Change in
Control or within twenty-four (24) months after a&hge in Control, then, subject to Section &gpw, (x) the Company shall pay Employee a
single lump sum payment equal to Employee’s anpeidiSalary as of the Termination Date, less afgpbcaithholdings, payable to Employee
on the sixtieth (6@") calendar day after the Termination Date, (y)@oenpany shall, no later than sixtieth (6pcalendar day after the
Termination Date, issue pre-payment of the remgitéase term of Employee’s Company vehicle to en&lohployee’s continued use of such
vehicle through the remaining lease term of sudficke, along with a lump sum payment to Employe¢hefestimated insurance premiums for
such vehicle through the remaining lease termsthEg if an Involuntary Termination occurs durithg Term and the Termination Date is be
a Change in Control, then, subject to Section B&pw, (z) all Securities held in the name of Ergple, or any portion thereof, as of the
Termination Date shall accelerate, become 100%#estd become immediately exercisable upon theifation Date. If an Involuntary
Termination occurs during the Term and the TernmaDate is after a Change in Control, then any8tes held in the name of Employee, or
any portion thereof, may be exercised to the eXemployee was entitled to do so as of the Termonabate in accordance with the terms of the
applicable grant agreements and plan document{@rgimg such Securities.

(c) CauseTermination of Employee for “ Causeshall mean any of the following acts by Employee:




0] an intentional act of fraud, emberaknt, theft or any other material violation of law

(i) intentional damage to the Compargssets;

(i) the willful and continued failur® substantially perform required duties for thex@any (other than as a resul
incapacity due to physical or mental illness); or

(iv) willful conduct that is demonstrgtdnd materially injurious to the Company, mondyasi otherwise.
(d) Good ReasaonResignation for “* Good Reasdrshall mean resignation by Employee based on anlyeofollowing acts b

the Company without the consent of Employee:
()  a material breach by the Company of any teand conditions of this Agreement;

(i) the relocation of Employee’s offibg more than 30 miles from the location identified&gection 3above; or

(iii) a material reduction of Employe&alary,
provided, however, that “* Good Reasoshall not exist unless Employee has first provideitten notice to the Company of the occurrenc
one or more of the conditions under clauses (ugh (iii) above within ninety (90) days of the dition’s initial occurrence, and such condi
is not fully remedied by the Company within thi(80) days after the Company’s receipt of writtetiacefrom Employee.

(e Disability. “ Disability " hereunder shall mean the inability of Employeepgrform on a fultime basis the duties a

responsibilities of his employment with the Compégyeason of his iliness or other physical or rakimpairment or condition, if such inabil

continues for an uninterrupted period of 180 daymore during any 360-day period. A period of itigbshall be “uninterruptedunless an
until Employee returns to full-time work, with oritwout an accommodation, for a continuous periodtdéast thirty (30) days.

® In the event of termination of Empémjs employment, the sole obligation of the Comparglldie its obligation to make t
payments called for by Section 8&)Section 8(bjereof, as the case may be, and the Company shvalrto other obligation to Employee o
his beneficiary or his estate, except for compeénmsatarned for services performed through the Teation Date or as otherwise providec
law, under the terms of any other applicable agesgrhetween Employee and the Company or undeethestof any employee benefit plan
programs then maintained by the Company in whiclpleyee participates.

(9) Notwithstanding the foregoing prouiss of this_Section 8the Company shall not be obligated to providedbesideratio
under_Section 8(b)(x), (y) or (hereof unless Employee shall have signed a reldfadaims in favor of the Company in a form to lregqeribe:
by the Company, all applicable consideration periadd rescission periods provided by law shall haxgired and Employee is in st
compliance with the terms of this Agreement asefdates of the payments.




9. Confidential Information .

€)) Employee shall maintain the confiddity of all trade secrets, (whether owned or tised by the Company) and relate:
other interpretative materials and analyses ofGbenpanys projects, or knowledge of the existence of anyens, information, analyse
projects, proposed joint ventures, mergers, adipnsi divestitures and other such anticipated amtemplated business ventures of
Company, and other confidential or proprietary infation of the Company (“Confidential InformationdaMaterials”)obtained by Employe
from the Company.

(b) In the event that such Confidentislormation and Materials are memorialized on anggater hardware, software, CD-
ROM, disk, tape, or other media, Company shall haeeright, subject to the rights of third partiesder contract, copyright, or other law
view, use and copy for safekeeping or backup pepasich Confidential Information and Materials.riBy the period of confidentialit
Employee shall make no use of such Confidentiabrinftion and Materials for his own financial or eéttbenefit, and shall not retain
originals or copies, or reveal or disclose any @tarftial Information and Materials to any third {@s, except as otherwise expressly agres
the Company. Employee shall have no right to heeGompanys corporate logos, trademarks, service marks, lwerdntellectual proper
without prior written permission of the Company autject to any limitations or restrictions upoctsuse as the Company may require.

(c) Upon expiration or termination ofgbAgreement, Employee shall turn over to a desgghegpresentative of the Compan)
property in Employea possession and custody and belonging to the Gompamployee shall not retain any copies or repctidns o
correspondence, memoranda, reports, notebooksirgdyawphotographs or other documents relating ynveay to the affairs of the Company
containing Confidential Information and Materialshish came into Employee’s possession at any timeéngluthe term of Employee’
employment with the Company.

(d) Employee acknowledges that the Comppara public company registered under the Seesriixchange Act of 1934,
amended (the “ Exchange A&}, and that this Agreement may be subject to thedfilrequirements of the Exchange Act. Emplc
acknowledges and agrees that the applicable insalding rules and limitations on disclosure of #pablic information set forth in the Exchat
Act and rules and regulations promulgated by th€ Skall apply to this Agreement and Emplogeemployment with the Company. Emplo
(on behalf of himself as well as his executorsyheddministrators and assigns) absolutely and ndittonally agrees to indemnify and h
harmless the Company and all of its past, presedt fature affiliates, executors, heirs, administrat shareholders, employees, offic
directors, attorneys, accountants, agents, repasars, predecessors, successors and assignafipeind all claims, debts, demands, accc
judgments, causes of action, equitable relief, dgwacosts, charges, complaints, obligations, ceetsies, actions, suits, proceedings, expe
responsibilities and liabilities of every kind aodaracter whatsoever (including, but not limitedreasonable attorneyes and costs) in t
event of Employea breach or alleged breach of any obligation uniderExchange Act, any rules promulgated by the SB& any othe
applicable Federal or state laws, rules, regulat@rorders.




(e) The foregoing obligations of confitlatity shall not apply to any Confidential Infortian and Materials that: (i) are now ¢
subsequently become generally publicly known, othan as a direct or indirect result of the brebgrEmployee of this Agreement, (ii)
independently made available to Employee in godt fay a third party who has not violated a confiti@l relationship with the Company,
(iii) are required to be disclosed by law or legedcess. Employee understands and agrees thabiejsl obligations under this Agreemen
maintain the confidentiality of the Compasyconfidential information are in addition to arfyligations of Employee under applicable stat.
or common law. The parties agree that the prowssiof this_Section $hall survive any termination of Employseémployment with tt
Company and this Agreement.

10. Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation .
(@ Employee agrees that he will not:
0] anywhere within the United Statesgage, directly or indirectly, alone or as a shaladro(other than as a holdetr

less than ten percent (10%) of the common stocngfpublicly traded corporation), partner, officdirector, employee, consultani
advisor, or otherwise in any way participate inbecome associated with, any other business orgmmizihat is engaged or becor
engaged in any business that is the same or stibfi{ainlentical business of the Company, or isedity competitive with, any busine
activity that the Company is conducting at the tiofethe Employees termination or has notified the Employee thgtritposes t
conduct and for which the Company has, prior to tihee of such termination, expended substantiabue®s (the Designate

Industry”),
(i) divert to any competitor of the Coany any customer of the Company, or
(iii) solicit any employee, contributor faculty member of the Company to change its i@lahip with the Company,

hire or offer employment to any person to whomEngployee actually knows the Company has offered@mnpent.

(b) Employee agrees to be bound by thevigions of this_Section 1@h consideration for the Compasy'employment ¢
Employee, payment of the compensation and bermfitdded under Section &d_Section @bove and the covenants and agreements se
herein. The provisions of this Section difall apply during the term of Employseémployment with the Company and for a periodref ¢l
year following termination of Employ’s employment with the Company for any reason, wdrefuch termination is at the initiative
Employee or the Company or before or after exgratif the Term; provided, howevethat the provisions of this Section 4i8all cease to apg
immediately upon any Change in Control as defime&éction 7of this Agreement or in the event that the Compeamninates Employeg’
employment for no reason or for any reason othen fBause during the Term. The parties agree igapitovisions of this Section Khal
survive any termination of this Agreement, Employéh continue to be bound by the provisions ofsti$ection 1Quntil their expiration an
Employee shall not be entitled to any compensdtimm the Company with respect thereto except agiged under this Agreement.




(9] Employee acknowledges that the piomis of this_Section 1@re essential to protect the business and goodivithe
Company. If at any time the provisions of this t®et 10 shall be determined to be invalid or unenforcedljlereason of being vague
unreasonable as to area, duration or scope ofitgctivis Section 1&hall be considered divisible and shall becomebentinmediately amend
to only such area, duration and scope of activityshall be determined to be reasonable and enfdecég the court or other body hav
jurisdiction over the matter; and the Employee agrthat thisSection 10as so amended shall be valid and binding as thanghinvalid o
unenforceable provision had not been included herei

11. Non-Disparagement. Both the Company and Employee agree that nettiey nor any of their respective affiliat
predecessors, subsidiaries, partners, princip#ficeis, directors, authorized representatives ntgyjeemployees, successors, assigns, he
family members shall disparage or defame any qthey hereto relating in any respect to this Agreemtheir relationship or the Compasy’
employment of Employee.

12. Notices . Any notice required or permitted under this Agneat shall be personally delivered or sent by retzag
overnight courier or by certified mail, return rgerequested, postage prepaid, and shall be eféeathen received (if personally deliverec
sent by recognized overnight courier) or on thedtitiay after mailing (if sent by certified mail,tuen receipt requested, postage prepai
follows:

As to Employee, at the Employee’s home addresdewith the Company.
As to the Company:

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc.
Attn: Board of Directors
315 Manitoba Avenue — Suite 200
Wayzata, Minnesota 55391

Either party may designate a different person tomwmmotices should be sent at any time by notifyimgy other party in writing in accordat
with this Agreement.

13 Survival of Certain Provisions. Those provisions of this Agreement which by theims extend beyond the terminatio
non+enewal of this Agreement (including all represéates, warranties, and covenants of the partiea)l semain in full force and effect a
survive such termination or non-renewal.

14. Severability . Each provision of this Agreement shall be congdeseverable such that if any one provision ousz
conflicts with existing or future applicable law, may not be given full effect because of such g shall not affect any other provision wt
can be given effect without the conflicting proweisior clause.




15. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreemenuanérstanding between the parties, and supersd
prior agreements and understandings relating tetbgct matter hereof. There are no understandaoagglitions, representations or warrar
of any kind between the parties except as exprassiforth herein.

16. Assignability . Employee may not assign this Agreement to aing fharty for whatever purpose without the expresgen
consent of the Company. The Company may not assigigreement to any third party without the egqs written consent of Employee ex
by operation of law, or through merger, liquidatioacapitalization or sale of all or substantiallyof the assets of the Company, provided
the Company may assign this Agreement at any tinam taffiliate of the Company. The provisionsto§tAgreement shall inure to the benef
and be binding upon the parties and their respectipresentatives, successors, and assigns.

17. Headings. The headings of the paragraphs and sectionsi®fAtireement are inserted solely for the converdeot
reference. They shall in no way define, limit,end, or aid in the construction of the scope, dxtarintent of this Agreement.

18. Waiver . The failure of a party to enforce the provisiaisthis Agreement shall not be construed as a waifean)
provision or the right of such party thereafteetdorce each and every provision of this Agreement.

19. Amendments. No amendments of this Agreement shall be bindipon the Company or Employee unless made in wy
signed by the parties hereto, and delivered tpéntes at the addresses provided herein.

20. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by and constwmeter the internal laws of the State of Minne:
without regard to the principles of comity and/oe &applicable conflicts of laws of any state thatid result in the application of any laws ol
than the State of Minnesota.

21. Jurisdiction . This Agreement, including the documents, instmitm@nd agreements to be executed and/or delitsréuk
parties pursuant hereto, shall be construed, gedeby and enforced in accordance with the intelaab of the State of Minnesota, with
giving effect to the principles of comity or comfi§ of laws thereof. Employee and the Companyeagnel consent that any legal action, st
proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of &gseement shall be instituted and adjudicatedip@ed exclusively in any court of gene
jurisdiction in Minnesota, or in the United Staf@istrict Court having jurisdiction in Minnesota aktdhployee and the Company agree that v
will be proper in such courts and waive any obgattivhich they may have now or hereafter to the gesflany such suit, action or proceedin
such courts, and each hereby irrevocably consewntsagrees to the jurisdiction of said courts in angh suit, action or proceeding. Emplc
and the Company further agree to accept and ackupel service of any and all process which may beedein any such suit, action
proceeding in said courts, and also agree thaicgeof process or notice upon them shall be deémedery respect effective service of prot
or notice upon them, in any suit, action, proceggdihgiven or made (i) according to applicable J§ij by a person over the age of eighteen
who personally served such notice or service ofgss on Employee or the Company, as the case may &) by certified mail, return recei
requested, mailed to employee or the Company,easabe may be, at their respective addresseseirfahis Agreement.
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22. Counterparts and Electronic Signatures. This Agreement may be executed in two or morentaparts, each of whi
shall be deemed an original but all of which togethall constitute one and the same Agreement.

23. Taxes and Section 409A. Company may withhold from any amounts payabléeuithis Agreement such federal, state
local income and employment taxes as Company stetérmine are required to be withheld pursuant my applicable law ¢

regulation. Employee shall be solely responsilge the payment of all taxes due and owing with eesgo wages, benefits, and ol
compensation provided to him hereunder.

This Agreement and the compensation payable heeeusidhtended to satisfy, or be exempt from, gguirements of Section 409A(a)

(2)(3) and (4) of the Code, including current amdufe guidance and regulations interpreting suadvipions, and should be interpre
accordingly.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Agreement aseaddle first set forth above.
NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

By /s/ James R. Sankovitz
By: James R. Sankovitz
Its: Chief Operating Officer

EMPLOYEE:

/sl Erik J. Romslo
Erik J. Romslo
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EXHIBIT 10.14

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

AMENDED AND RESTATED
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

AMENDMENT NO. 1

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 1 (this “ Amendmeri}) to the Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. Amended and Rest2009 Equity Incentive Pl
(the “ Plan”) is made by Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. (the * Grany"), pursuant to Article XIV of the Plan, as follows

WHEREAS, the Company sponsors the Plan to provide a meamastrixct, retain and motivate capable and loyal leyges, non-
employee directors, consultants and advisors o€thrapany and its subsidiaries;

WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend the Plan to elimicat&in provisions that require accelerated vestihgquity award
upon a change in control, and to address suchgooviif at all, in the applicable award agreement;

WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend the Plan to clargyd#finition of “Continuing Directors” of the Compg and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to amend the Plan to raispetfientage threshold that is required to be atlaimeertain instanc
before triggering a change in control of the Conypan

NOW, THEREFORE , pursuant to the powers reserved to it under tae, Fhe Company hereby amends the Plan as follows:

1. Effect of Change in ControlArticle V of the Plan shall be deleted in itdisgty and replaced with the following:

CHANGES IN PRESENT STOCK AND EFFECT OF CHANGE OF TROL

@ In the event of a recapitalizationerger, consolidation, reorganization, stock divilestock split or other change
capitalization affecting the Compaypresent capital stock, appropriate adjustmerit kbanade by the Committee in the number and ki
shares included in any Award, and the exerciseiartyase price of any Award.

(b) Upon a Change in Control of the Compéas defined below) the vesting of any outstagpdptions and grants of Restric
Stock shall be set forth in the agreement documgrttie Award, including any provision addressirghts to accelerated vesting. Any of
following shall constitute a “Change in Control'tfine purposes hereof:




0] The consummation of a reorganizatiorerger, share exchange, consolidation or simitansaction, tr
acquisition of a majority of the outstanding Comn&tock by a person or group acting in concert ergale or disposition
all or substantially all of the assets of the Compainless, in any case, the persons beneficiallyirny the voting securities
the Company immediately before that transactiorefieially own, directly or indirectly, immediatelgfter the transaction,
least fifty percent (50%) of the voting securitigsthe Company or any other corporation or othdityemesulting from o
surviving the transaction in substantially the sapneportion as their respective ownership of théingp securities of tt
Company immediately prior to the transaction;

(i) A majority of the individuals who ostitute the Board of Directors shall not be Camitig Directors
“Continuing Directors”shall mean: (A) individuals who, on the effectivat@ of the Plan, are directors of the Company
individuals elected as directors of the Companyssgbent to the effective date of the Plan for whedsetion proxies sh:
have been solicited by the Board of Directors, if@)jviduals elected as directors of the Companyssghent to the effecti
date of the Plan pursuant to a nomination of boepdesentation right of preferred stockholdershef Company, or (D) al
individual elected or appointed by the Board ofeiors to fill vacancies on the Board of Directoeised by death
resignation (but not by removal) or to newly-creadigrectorships; or

(iii) The Company’s shareholders apprav@mplete liquidation or dissolution of the Comypan

2. Effect on Plan. Except as otherwise set forth in this Amendmtrt,Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

3.  Effective Date of this AmendmenfThis Amendment shall become effective as of Dewr 20, 2012 and shall not apply to any
Award granted prior to such effective date unlegten consent is provided by the recipient of shevard.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has executed thiAdment No. 1 on this 20day of December 2012.

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.:

By: /s/ Michael L. Reger
Name: Michael L. Reger
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer







EXHIBIT 10.17

[FORM: Double Trigger Grants After December 20, 2D
NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

AMENDED AND RESTATED
2009 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

RESTRICTED StOCK AGREEMENT

Name of Grantee
No. of Shares Covere Date of Issuance

Vesting Schedule pursuant to Sectiol
Vesting Date(s) Shares Released From Restriction

This REsTRICTED Stock AGREEMENT (“ Agreement) has been made as of the Date of Issuance setdiootie between Northern 1
and Gas, Inc., a Minnesota Corporation (tt@o'mpany’), and the above-named Grantee.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Company maintains the Northern Oil &, Inc. Amended and Restated 2009 Equity Inseflan (as amend
from time to time, the Plan”);

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (theBoard”) of the Company has appointed the Compensatiomr@ittee (the “Committee’)
with the authority to determine the awards to ntgd under the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Committee or its designee has det@&unihat the Grantee is eligible to receive an awadkr the Plan in the form
restricted stock and has set the terms thereof.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Grantee mytagllee as follows:




Terms and Conditions”

1. Grant of Restricted Shares.

(a) Grant. The Company hereby issues to the Grantee the nuofilsrares specified at the beginning of this Agreset (the" Restricte:
Shares’) on the terms and conditions and subject to ##rictions set forth in this Agreement. The teRRestricted Shareslso refer
to all securities received by the Grantee in regpiaent of or in connection with the Restricted Sbagented hereby pursuant t
recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividesthck split, stock combination or other relevarerd.

(b) Certificate. Within a reasonable time after the execution & thjreement by the Grantee and the Company, thep@ayrshall cause
book entry representing the Restricted Shares tmdme in the name of the Grantee by the Comgatngthsfer agent and registrar
have a certificate or certificates representingRlestricted Shares issued in the name of the Graad held by the Company or
designee, until the vesting and other conditiondaséh in this Agreement have been satisfied. Toenpany shall pay all original iss
or transfer taxes, if any, with respect to theassutransfer of the Restricted Shares and alldedsexpenses necessarily incurred by
Company in connection therewith. All Restricted ®isas0 issued shall be fully paid and nonassesddbteithstanding anything to t
contrary in this Agreement, the Company shall retrdquired to deliver a certificate or certificatepresenting any Restricted Sh
prior to (i) the vesting of such Restricted Sharesccordance with Section 3 and (ii) the comptetal such registration or ott
qualification of such Restricted Shares for saldanrthe laws, rules or regulations of any stateter jurisdiction as the Company s
determine to be necessary or desirable. Upon thengeof Restricted Shares in accordance with 8e®iand provided that the ot
conditions set forth in the previous sentence dsewere in this Agreement have been satisfiedCtmapany shall deliver such ves
Restricted Shares in uncertificated format, on@ela certificate or certificates representing suested Restricted Shares, to the Gre
as promptly as practicabl

2. Shareholder Rights.As the owner of record of the shares of CommonIiSisgued pursuant to this Restricted Stock Awdrd,Grantee
entitled to all the rights of a shareholder of @@mpany, including the right to vote, the rightégeive cash or stock dividends, and the
to receive shares in any recapitalization of then@any. If the Grantee receives any additional shbyereason of being the holder of
shares of Common Stock issued or transferred uthiteiRestricted Stock Award or of the additionahigs previously distributed to
Grantee, all the additional shares shall be sulbjeitte provisions of this Agreeme

3. Vesting. The Restricted Shares shall cease to be subjémtféiture under Sectiot4 hereof in the numbers and on the dates specifidt
vesting schedule at the beginning of this Agreemamivided, however, that the Restricted Sharel shmediately cease to be subjec
forfeiture under Sectior hereof (i) if, within twenty-four (24) months aftarChange in Control of the Company the Grasteeiploymer
with the Company is terminated (a) by the Compamyahy reason other than for Cause (as definedvpealp (b) by the Grantee as a re
of the Grantee’s resignation for Good Reason (&eeatkbelow) or (ii) if the Grantes’employment with the Company terminates becat
death or disability. Notwithstanding the foregoangd anything else in this Agreement to the contiéwithin twelve (12) months prior tc
Change in Control the Grantseemployment with the Company is terminated (ajnleyCompany for any reason other than for Caugb)
by the Grantee as a result of the Grargt@esignation for Good Reason, then for purposethefaccelerated vesting provisions of
Section, the Grantee will be deemed to have temeihamployment on the day immediately following tieange in Control. Restrici
Shares that have so ceased to be subject to todete sometimes referred tc*vester” or as" Vested Share” in this Agreement

Unless the context indicates otherwise, termsahanot defined in this Agreement shall have thanimg set forth in the Plan as it curre
exists or as it is amended in the future. If thraree hereunder is a director of the Companyerdttan an employee, all references he
to “employment with the Compa” and similar phrases shall be deemed to n“service as a director of the Compé’




(@)

(b)

Cause. Termination of Grantee f¢* Cause” shall mean any of the following acts by Gran
0] an intentional act fraud, embezzlement, theft gr@her material violation of lav
(i)  intentional damage to the Comp/’s assets

(iii)  the willful and continued failure to substantiafigrform required duties for the Company (other tham result of incapacity ¢
to physical or mental iliness);

(iv)  willful conduct demonstrably and materially injun®to the Company, monetarily or otherw

Good Reasor. Resignation fo“ Good Reaso” shall mean resignation by Grantee based on aryedfollowing acts by the Comps
without the consent of Grante

0] a material breach of the Company of any of the rateerms and conditions of the Grar's employment agreement, if at

(i)  the relocation of Grant’s office by more than 30 miles from the Gra’s office location on the Date of Issuance of thiga#d;
(i)  a material reduction of the Gran's base salary; «

(iv) a material reduction in the nature or scope of €&'s authorities or duties from those previously agatile to Grante¢
provided, however, that Good Reason shall not exikiss Grantee has first provided written noticthe Company of the occurrenct

one or more of the conditions under clauses (Quph (iv) above within ninety (90) days of the cibioth’ s initial occurrence, and st
condition is not fully remedied by the Company witthirty (30) days after the Company’s receiptwitten notice from Grantee.




4. Forfeiture Events and Transfer Restrictions.

(a) Forfeiture Events. Upon the occurrence of* Forfeiture Even” (as defined below), the Grantee shall forfeit to@wenpany all of th
Restricted Shares that have not become vestedgmirsuSection3 , and upon such forfeiture the Grantee shall imatetli return an
stock certificates representing any unvested R#striShares then held by the Grantee and execdtdediner such stock powers as
Company may request. The Restricted Shares thdbidedted pursuant to the previous sentence diwdbme authorized but uniss
shares of the Compa’s capital stock. A Forfeiture Event means any efftllowing events

(i)  termination of the Grant’s status as an employee of the Company for anpme@sher than death or disability), whether by
Company with or without cause, voluntarily or inwotarily by the Grantee or otherwis* Termination of Employme™); or

(i) any attempt to transfer or otherwise dispose of afnthe Restricted Shares, or to levy any attactimerpursue any simil
involuntary process with respect to any Restri@hdres, in violation of Sectio4 (b) of this Agreemen

For purposes of this Agreement, a leave of absgresged by the Board shall not be deemed a Terimimat Employment.

(b) Limitation on Transfer. Until such time as the Restricted Shares have beoasted under Sectio3 , the Grantee shall not trans
the Restricted Shares and the Restricted Sharéssh&e subject to pledge, hypothecation, exeaytattachment or similar proce
Any attempt to assign, transfer, pledge, hypotteeoaibtherwise dispose of any Restricted Sharesargrto the provisions hereof, ¢
any attempt to levy any attachment or pursue amylagi process with respect to them, shall be mul oid.

5. Tax Withholding; Surrender for Tax Payments. The parties hereto recognize that the Company reagbbigated to withhold federal &
state taxes or other taxes upon the vesting oR#stricted Shares, or, in the event that the Geagitects under Code Section 83(b) to re
the receipt of the Restricted Shares as incomeery¢ar of receipt, upon the Granteegceipt of the Restricted Shares. The Granteset
that, at such time, if the Company is required fthlwold such taxes, the Grantee will promptly peycash or through the forfeiture
Vested Shares or other unencumbered shares of @gngmmmon stock to the Company (or in any other mearpermitted by tt
Committee in accordance with the terms of the Rlapdn demand, to the Company or the subsidiaringasuch obligation, such amou
as shall be necessary to satisfy such obligatiathadt limiting the foregoing, to the extent ther@oany is required to withhold taxes or
Grantee is required to pay taxes in connection ighvesting or receipt of shares of Company comstook granted through any Awi
under the Plan, the Grantee shall have the optiggay to the Company all amounts necessary tdisatish tax obligations through eitl
(a) cash payment or (b) the forfeiture of unencumtehares of Company common stock, including bttimited to shares of the vest
or received Company common stock. The Grantedduracknowledges that the Company has directedsthatee to seek indepenc
advice regarding the applicable provisions of tlel& the income tax laws of any municipality, statéoreign country in which the Gran
may reside, and the tax consequences of the G’s death




6.

10.

Restrictive Legends and Sto-Transfer Orders.

(a) Legends.Any stock certificate or certificates issued toderice ownership of the Restricted Shares pursadhist Agreement shall be
the following legend on the reverse si

THESE SHARESHAVE BEEN ISSUED OR TRANSFERREDSUBJECTTO A RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT AND ARE SUBJECTTO
SUBSTANTIAL RESTRICTIONS INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, A PROHIBITION AGAINST TRANSFER EITHER VOLUNTARILY OR
INVOLUNTARILY , AND A PROVISION REQUIRING TRANSFER OF THESE SHARES TO NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC. WITHOUT
ANY PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF TERMINATION OF THE EMPLOYMENT OF THE REGISTERED OWNER, ALL AS MORE
PARTICULARLY SETFORTHIN A RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE WITH OUR COMPANY.

(b) Stop-Transfer Notices.The Grantee agrees that, in order to ensure congglivith the restrictions referred to herein, tlenpany ma
issue appropriate “stop transfaristructions to its transfer agent, if any, andtifathe Company transfers its own securitiegnday
make appropriate notations to the same effecsioviin records

(c) Refusal to Transfer. The Company shall not be required (i) to transferits books any Restricted Shares that have belenaos
otherwise transferred in violation of any of theysions of this Agreement or (ii) to treat as owokthe Restricted Shares or to act
the right to vote or pay dividends to any purchaseasther transferee to whom the Restricted Stetralb have been so transferr

. Specific Performance. By accepting this Restricted Stock Award andiiseance and delivery of the shares of common gtackuant t

this Agreement, the Grantee acknowledges that tmpany does not have an adequate remedy in darftagee breach by the Grantee
the conditions and covenants set forth in this Agrent and agrees that the Company is entitled torder or a decree of spec
performance against the Grantee issued by any bauig jurisdiction

. No Guarantee of Employment. Nothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shalhfes upon the Grantee the right to continued emplay

with the Company

. Acknowledgment of Receipt of Copy. By execution hereof, the Grantee acknowledgesgaeceived a copy of the Ple

Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Plan set forth the ewmtiyeeement and understanding of the parties herigorespect to tt
issuance and sale of the Restricted Shares anadthaistration of the Plan and supersede all mgreements, arrangements, plans,
understandings relating to the issuance and sdleesé Restricted Shares and the administratitimeoPlanprovided, however, that to th
extent any term of this Agreement is inconsisteitth the terms of any employment or similar agreenh@tween Grantee and the Comp
such employment or similar agreement shall goveorigng as not in violation of the Pla




11.

12.

13.

14.

Amendment and Waiver. Except as provided in the Plan, this Agreement beasamended, waived, modified, or canceled onlg kyritter
instrument executed by the parties or, in the chsewaiver, by the party waiving compliance. A weiby the Company of any provisior
this Agreement shall not operate as a waiver ofstmae or any other provision of this Agreementrgt subsequent time for any ot
purpose

Interpretation of This Agreement . All decisions and interpretations made by the @dttee with regard to any question arising heret
or under the Plan shall be binding and conclusp@nithe Company and the Grantee. If there is atgnisistency between the provision
this Agreement and the Plan, the provisions ofRtam shall goverr

Binding Effect . This Agreement shall be binding in all respectsh® heirs, representatives, successors and assigine Grantee

Choice of Law. This Agreement is entered into under the lawthefState of Minnesota and shall be construed @etpreted thereunc
(without regard to its confli-of-law principles).

[ Signature Page Followjs




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantee and the Company lexecuted this Agreement as of the Date of Issuspecified at the beginni
of this Agreement.

GRANTEE

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

By

Its







Exhibit 12
Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Northern Oil and Gas, Inc.

Year Ended December 31

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
Earnings Before Income Taxe! $ 159434 $ 4,26495 $ 11,336,30 $ 67,446,79 $ 115,286,39
Add:

Fixed Charge 32,10¢ 1,169,43! 655,11¢ 1,006,301 19,819,59
Subtract:

Capitalized Interes - 624,71 59,71: 405,98« 5,929,47.
Total Earnings Before Fixed Charg 1,626,441 4,809,67! 11,931,70 68,047,11 141,035,46
Fixed Charges

Interest Expens 28,97¢ 535,09 583,37t 585,98: 13,874,90

Capitalized Interes - 624,71 59,71 405,98« 5,929,47.

Estimated Interest Component of R 3,13( 9,624 12,02¢ 14,34( 15,21¢
Total Fixed Charge 32,10¢ 1,169,43! 655,11¢ 1,006,301 19,819,59
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges®) 50.7x 4.1x 18.2x 67.6x 7.1x

(1) The Company had no preferred stock outstandingufgrperiod presented, and accordingly, the ratieashings to combined fixed char
and preferred stock dividends is the same as tleeafearnings to fixed charge



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ini®egion Statement Nos. 333-146596, 333-158328;1%3779, and 333-167049 on Forn3 S-
and Nos. 333-148333, 333-160602 and 333-1751000o0m S8 of our reports dated March 1, 2013, relatinghte financial statements
Northern Qil and Gas, Inc., and the effectivendgsasthern Oil and Gas, Ir's internal control over financial reporting, appegiin this Annue
Report on Form 10-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Ime.the year ended December 31, 2012.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 1, 2013



EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémeegistration statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 383383, 333-160602 and 3335100) an
on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-146596, 333-158320, 333-183did 333t67049) of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. our repotedaMarch 4, 2011, wi

respect to the statements of operations, stocki®ldguity, and cash flows of Northern Oil and Gas, for the year ended December 31, 2
which report appears in this Form 10-K of North&ihand Gas, Inc.

/s/Mantyla McReynolds LLC
Mantyla McReynolds

Salt Lake City, Utah
March 1, 2013



EXHIBIT 23.3
CONSENT OF RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, L.P.

Northern Oil and Gas, In
315 Manitoba Avenue — Suite 200
Wayzata, Minnesota 55391

Gentlemen:

The undersigned hereby consents to the referencesrtfirm in the form and context in which theypapr in the Annual Report
Form 10-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the yemded December 31, 2012 (the “Annual Repoie hereby further consent to
inclusion in the Annual Report of estimates of aild gas reserves contained in our repddofthern Oil and Gas, Inc. Estimated Futur
Reserves and Income Attributable to Certain Ledsehderests— SEC Parameters — As of December 31, 204Rd to the inclusion of o
report dated February 26, 2012 as an exhibit tcAtieual Report. We further consent to the incorporaby reference thereof into Northern
and Gas, Inc.’s Registration Statements on Form(I8e8. 333-148333, 333-160602 and 333-175100) andoom S-3 (Nos. 333-146596, 333-
158320, 333-163779, and 333-167049).

RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, L.P.
/sl Ryder Scott Company, L.P.

Denver, Colorado
February 28, 2013



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Michael L. Reger, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the year enfletember 31, 201:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitébe a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not mislgadih respect to the period covered
by this report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégas presented in this repa

4. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiloleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdastemd procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a)

b)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepa

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@@gorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurarmgagdang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegaitierally accepted accounting princip

Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presenthid report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the regit’s internal control over financial reporting thatored during the registré' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) las materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internafrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaz@mmittee of registrant’s board of directors gersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesthe design or operation of internal control ofieancial reporting which ar
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpwnhcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a signifiodain the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin
Dated: March 1, 201 By: /[s/Michael L. Rege

Michael L. Rege
Chief Executive Office



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas W. Stoelk, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Northern Oil and Gas, Inc. for the year enfletember 31, 201:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitébe a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not mislgadih respect to the period covered
by this report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsofimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégas presented in this repa

4. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiloleestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdastemd procedures (i
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a)

b)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepa

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@@gorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurarmgagdang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegaitierally accepted accounting princip

Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presenthid report our conclusions abc
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgutures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such
evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the regit’s internal control over financial reporting thatored during the registré' s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) las materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internafrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaz@mmittee of registrant’s board of directors gersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesthe design or operation of internal control ofieancial reporting which ar
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpwnhcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a signifiodain the registra’s
internal control over financial reportin
Dated: March 1, 201 By: /s/ Thomas W. Stoel

Thomas W. Stoel
Chief Financial Office!



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Northerd @id Gas, Inc., on Form {or the period ended December 31, 2012, as

with the United States Securities and Exchange Csgiom on the date hereof, (the “Reporéch of the undersigned officers of our comy

hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectior0D135 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sesliaxiey Act of 2002, that to the best of
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementseétion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctbodiand results of operations
our company

Dated: March 1, 201 By: /s/Michael L. Rege
Michael L. Rege
Chief Executive Officer and Directi

Dated: March 1, 201 By: /s/ Thomas W. Stoel
Thomas W. Stoel
Chief Financial Office!

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®y Section 906 of the Sarbar@sley Act of 2002 has been provided to our comg
and will be retained by our company and furnistethe Securities and Exchange Commission or ifEigtan request.



REPORT OF RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, L.P.

NORTHERN OIL AND GAS, INC.

Estimated
Future Reserves and Income
Attributable to Certain

Leasehold Interests

SEC Parameters

As of

December 31, 2012

/s/ James L. Bair
James L. Baird, P.t
Colorado License No. 415:
Managing Senior Vice Preside

RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, L.P.
TBPE Firm Registration No. F-1580

EXHIBIT 99.1




February 26, 2013

Northern Oil and Gas, In
315 Manitoba Avenue, Suite 200
Wayzata, Minnesota 55391

Gentlemen:

At your request, Ryder Scott Company, L.P. (Rydeoty has prepared an estimate of the proved resgfuture production, a
income attributable to certain leasehold intere$tdlorthern Oil and Gas, Inc. (NOG) as of DecemB&r 2012. The subject properties
located in the states of Montana and North Dakdtee reserves and income data were estimated lmasede definitions and disclosi
guidelines of the United States Securities and Bmgh Commission (SEC) contained in Title 17, Cddeeoleral Regulations, Modernizatior
Oil and Gas Reporting, Final Rule released Jantdry2009 in the Federal Register (SEC regulatio@s)r third party study, completed
February 26, 2013 and presented herein, was piegarepublic disclosure by NOG in filings made withe SEC in accordance with
disclosure requirements set forth in the SEC reipuis.

The properties evaluated by Ryder Scott represghipércent of the total net proved liquid hydrocaribeserves and 100 percent of
total net proved gas reserves of NOG as of DeceBihe2012.

The estimated reserves and future net income amguasented in this report, as of December 31, 282 related to hydrocark
prices. The hydrocarbon prices used in the préparaf this report are based on the average pdcesg the 12nonth period prior to tf
ending date of the period covered in this repatemmined as the unweighted arithmetic averagekeoprices in effect on the first-day-of-the-
month for each month within such period, unlessgwiwere defined by contractual arrangements,casregl by the SEC regulations. Act
future prices may vary significantly from the pdceequired by SEC regulations; therefore, volumiseserves actually recovered and
amounts of income actually received may differ gigantly from the estimated quantities presentedhis report. The results of this study
summarized below.

SEC PARAMETERS
Estimated Net Reserves and Income Data
Certain Leasehold Interests of
Northern Oil and Gas, Inc.
As of December 31, 2012

Proved
Developec Total
Non-
Producing Producing Undevelopec Proved

Net Remaining Reserve

Oil/Condensat- Barrels 23,679,13 3,666,69! 33,368,45 60,714,28

Gas- MMCF 15,01« 2,33¢ 23,92¢ 41,27¢
Income Data M$

Future Gross Reveni $ 1,866,559 $ 289,73t $ 2,629,388 $ 4,78571

Deductions 391,36( 152,77. 1,171,48! 1,715,622,

Future Net Income (FN $ 1,47523 $ 136,96 $ 1,457,89: $ 3,070,09

Discounted FNI @ 10¢ $ 795,69¢ $ 42,837 $ 448,87 $ 1,287,40




Liquid hydrocarbons are expressed in standard 4Brgaarrels. All gas volumes are reported on am $old basisexpressed |
millions of cubic feet (MMCF) at the official tempure and pressure bases of the areas in whidetheeserves are located. In this repor
revenues, deductions, and income data are exprasgadusands of U.S. dollars (M$).

The estimates of the reserves, future productiod,iacome attributable to properties in this repeere prepared using the econa
software package Arié$! System Petroleum Economic Evaluation Software pyrighted program of Halliburton. The program wiaed at th
request of NOG. Ryder Scott has found this progi@ime generally acceptable, but notes that cesiainmaries and calculations may vary
to rounding and may not exactly match the sum ef gloperties being summarized. Furthermore, ame diconomic summaries may v
slightly from the more detailed cash flow projeasmf the same properties, also due to roundirige rdunding differences are not material.

The future gross revenue is after the deductioprofluction taxes. The deductions incorporate trenal direct costs of operating
wells, development costs, and certain abandonnusts et of salvage. The future net income isreefte deduction of state and federal inc
taxes and general administrative overhead, andhdiaseen adjusted for outstanding loans that mést,exor does it include any adjustment
cash on hand or undistributed income. Liquid hydrbon reserves account for approximately 96 pereedt gas reserves account for
remaining 4 percent of total future gross revemamfproved reserves.

The discounted future net income shown above wasuleted using a discount rate of 10 percent paruan compounde
monthly. Future net income was discounted at fathier discount rates which were also compoundedtihonThese results are showr
summary form below.

Discounted Future Net Income, N
SEC Paramete!
As of December 31, 201

Discount Rate Total
Percen Proved
5 $1,866,60
8 $1,477,08
12 $1,135,35
15 $957,141

The results shown above are presented for youmrEtion and should not be construed as our estiofdter market value.
Reserves Included in This Repc

The proved reserves included herein conform tal#gfmition as set forth in the Securities and Exg@Commissiors Regulations Pe
210.4-10(a). An abridged version of the SEC re=erlefinitions from 210.4-10(a) entitled “Petrole®aserves Definitionsis included as ¢
attachment to this report.

The various proved reserve status categories dieedeunder the attachment entitleBétroleum Reserves Status Definitions
Guidelines” in this report. The proved developed-producing reserves included herein consist@bithind pipe category.




No attempt was made to quantify or otherwise acttamany accumulated gas production imbalancesrtay exist. The provedgas
volumes presented herein do not include volumegmsfconsumed in operations as reserves.

Reserves areestimated remaining quantities of oil and gas afdted substances anticipated to be economicadigygible, as of
given date, by application of development projeot&known accumulations.All reserve estimates involve an assessment olutieertaint
relating the likelihood that the actual remainingaqtities recovered will be greater or less thang$timated quantities determined as of the
the estimate is made. The uncertainty dependdlytia the amount of reliable geologic and engiimagrdata available at the time of
estimate and the interpretation of these data. rélaive degree of uncertainty may be conveyeglbaging reserves into one of two princi
classifications, either proved or unproved. Unpibveserves are less certain to be recovered ttoved reserves, and may be further sub-
classified as probable and possible reserves totelgmogressively increasing uncertainty in theaverability. At NOGS request, this rept
addresses only the proved reserves attributatifetproperties evaluated herein.

Proved oil and gas reserves atieose quantities of oil and gas which, by analg$igeoscience and engineering data, can be est
with reasonable certainty to be economically prdoedrom a given date forward"The proved reserves included herein were estimadet
deterministic methods. The SEC has defined reddereartainty for proved reserves, when based termiénistic methods, as &igh degree «
confidence that the quantities will be recovered.”

Proved reserve estimates will generally be revised onhadditional geologic or engineering data becomalabla or as econorr
conditions change. For proved reserves, the S&Essthat 4s changes due to increased availability of gensei¢geological, geophysical, ¢
geochemical), engineering, and economic data adern@the estimated ultimate recovery (EUR) withetj reasonably certain EUR is m
more likely to increase or remain constant thardeécrease."Moreover, estimates of proved reserves may be gdvés a result of futL
operations, effects of regulation by government@nzies or geopolitical or economic risks. Themefdhe proved reserves included in
report are estimates only and should not be caetas being exact quantities, and if recoveredrekienues therefrom, and the actual ¢
related thereto, could be more or less than theattd amounts.

NOG's operations may be subject to various levels afegumental controls and regulations. These contasld regulations m
include, but may not be limited to, matters relgtin land tenure and leasing, the legal rightsramipce hydrocarbons, drilling and produc
practices, environmental protection, marketing priding policies, royalties, various taxes and ésvincluding income tax and are subjet
change from time to time. Such changes in goventaheegulations and policies may cause volumgs@fed reserves actually recovered
amounts of proved income actually received to dsfgnificantly from the estimated quantities.

The estimates of proved reserves presented hersim vased upon a detailed study of the properti@ghich NOG owns an interes
however, we have not made any field examinatiorthef properties. No consideration was given in tieigort to potential environmen
liabilities that may exist nor were any costs imgd for potential liabilities to restore and clagn damages, if any, caused by past oper
practices.

Estimates of Reserve

The estimation of reserves involves two distindiedminations. The first determination results lie estimation of the quantities
recoverable oil and gas and the second determimatisults in the estimation of the uncertainty eisged with those estimated quantitie
accordance with the definitions set forth by theusities and Exchange Commission’s Regulations PE0t410(a). The process of estimal
the quantities of recoverable oil and gas resemiéss on the use of certain generally acceptetytice procedures. These analytical proced
fall into three broad categories or methods: (Yjgpmance-based methods; (2) volumebased methods; and (3) analogy. These method
be used singularly or in combination by the resesvaluator in the process of estimating the guastivf reserves. Reserve evaluators
select the method or combination of methods whictheir professional judgment is most appropriatemy the nature and amount of relie
geoscience and engineering data available at it @f the estimate, the established or anticipptbrmance characteristics of the rese:
being evaluated, and the stage of developmentooluping maturity of the property.

In many cases, the analysis of the available genseiand engineering data and the subsequentrittipn of this data may indicat
range of possible outcomes in an estimate, irrésgeof the method selected by the evaluator. Waeange in the quantity of reserve
identified, the evaluator must determine the uriety associated with the incremental quantitieshef reserves. If the reserve quantities
estimated using the deterministic incremental agghipthe uncertainty for each discrete incremequahtity of the reserves is addressed b
reserve category assigned by the evaluator. Torexeit is the categorization of reserve quantiissproved, probable and/or possible
addresses the inherent uncertainty in the estimgtiedhtities reported. For proved reserves, uniogytés defined by the SEC as reason
certainty wherein the “quantities actually recoeeege much more likely than not to be achievedie BEC states thapfobable reserves ¢
those additional reserves that are less certdbe t@covered than proved reserves but which, tegetfth proved reserves, are as likely as n
be recovered.” The SEC states thaissible reserves are those additional reservearhdess certain to be recovered than probabésvres an
the total quantities ultimately recovered from ajgct have a low probability of exceeding provedspprobable plus possible reserveall
guantities of reserves within the same reservegoagemust meet the SEC definitions as noted above.




Estimates of reserves quantities and their assatiegserve categories may be revised in the fuigredditional geoscience
engineering data become available. Furthermotena&®s of reserves quantities and their associag®elve categories may also be revisec
to other factors such as changes in economic gondjt results of future operations, effects of fagjon by governmental agencies
geopolitical or economic risks as previously ndtedein.

The proved reserves for the properties includedihevere estimated by performance methods or apafdbof the proved producir
reserves attributable to producing wells and/oemesirs were estimated by performance methods.sé performance methods include, but
not be limited to, decline curve analysis whicHizgid extrapolations of historical production dateailable through December 2012 in tt
cases where such data were considered to be de&finithe data utilized in this analysis were fah@d to Ryder Scott by NOG or obtained f
public data sources and were considered suffifterthe purpose thereof.

All of the proved developed nagroducing and undeveloped reserves included hereie estimated by analogy. The analysis uti
pertinent daily and/or monthly production data framalogy wells furnished to Ryder Scott by NOG biicls we have obtained from public d
sources that were available through December 20h2. data utilized from the analogues were consitlsufficient for the purpose thereof.

To estimate economically recoverable proved oil gad reserves and related future net cash flowscomsider many factors a
assumptions including, but not limited to, the ofeeservoir parameters derived from geologicabpisical and engineering data that ca
be measured directly, economic criteria based orenticosts and SEC pricing requirements, and &stsoof future production rates. Under
SEC regulations 210.20(a)(22)(v) and (26), proved reserves must beipatied to be economically producible from a gidewe forward bast
on existing economic conditions including the psi@nd costs at which economic producibility fromeaervoir is to be determined. Whil
may reasonably be anticipated that the future prieeeived for the sale of production and the djmeyacosts and other costs relating to ¢
production may increase or decrease from thoserwgxgting economic conditions, such changes weragcordance with rules adopted by
SEC, omitted from consideration in making this eatibn.

NOG has informed us that they have furnished uefathe material accounts, records, geological @mgineering data, and reports
other data required for this investigation. Inganeng our forecast of future proved production arodme, we have relied upon data furnishe
NOG with respect to property interests owned, petida and well tests from examined wells, normaédi costs of operating the wells or lea
other costs such as transportation and/or proges$ees, production taxes, development costs, alenelot costs after salvage, product pi
based on the SEC regulations, and adjustmentdferatitials to product prices. Ryder Scott revidvgeich factual data for its reasonabler
however, we have not conducted an independenticadidin of the data furnished by NOG. We consitter factual data used in this rej
appropriate and sufficient for the purpose of priggggthe estimates of reserves and future net teeeherein.

In summary, we consider the assumptions, data,adstAnd analytical procedures used in this regtogriate for the purpose here
and we have used all such methods and procedwtséhconsider necessary and appropriate to preéparestimates of reserves herein.
proved reserves included herein were determinedoinformance with the United States Securities amdh&hge Commission (SE
Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting; Final Ruiecluding all references to Regulation S-X and Ration SK, referred to here
collectively as the “SEC Regulationslfi our opinion, the proved reserves presented igréport comply with the definitions, guidelinesd
disclosure requirements as required by the SEQatgus.

Future Production Rates

For wells currently on production, our forecastsfudfire production rates are based on historicelopmance data. If no producti
decline trend has been established, future prastuctites were held constant, or adjusted for tfeetsf of curtailment where appropriate, un
decline in ability to produce was anticipated. déstimated rate of decline was then applied to diepl®f the reserves. If a decline trend
been established, this trend was used as thefbasistimating future production rates.




Test data and other related information were usezstimate the anticipated initial production reftasthose wells or locations that
not currently producing. For reserves not yet mdpction, sales were estimated to commence ahcipated date furnished by NOG. W
or locations that are not currently producing mi@ytgproducing earlier or later than anticipatedim estimates due to unforeseen factors ca
a change in the timing to initiate production. Bdiactors may include delays due to weather, thalahility of rigs, the sequence of drillir
completing and/or recompleting wells and/or coristsaset by regulatory bodies.

The future production rates from wells currentlypsnduction or wells or locations that are not ently producing may be more or |
than estimated because of changes including, butlimited to, reservoir performance, operating dtiods related to surface facilitic
compression and artificial lift, pipeline capacégyd/or operating conditions, producing market dedreamd/or allowables or other constraints
by regulatory bodies.

Hydrocarbon Prices

The hydrocarbon prices used herein are based onpHE£ parameters using the average prices duneg 2month period prior to tt
ending date of the period covered in this repatemnined as the unweighted arithmetic averageélseoprices in effect on the first-day-of-the-
month for each month within such period, unlessgzriwere defined by contractual arrangements.hydnocarbon products sold under cont
the contract prices, including fixed and determieabscalations, exclusive of inflation adjustmentsre used until expiration of t
contract. Upon contract expiration, the pricesensatjusted to the 12-month unweighted arithmetaraye as previously described.

NOG furnished us with the above mentioned average piiceeffect on December 31, 2012. These initiaCStydrocarbon pric
were determined using the 12-month average firgtedahe-month benchmark prices appropriate to the geogtagueia where the hydrocarb
are sold. These benchmark prices are prior tadfiestments for differentials as described her&ine table below summarizes tHeehchmar
prices” and “price referenceaised for the geographic area included in the regdartertain geographic areas, the price referamcebenchma
prices may be defined by contractual arrangements.

The product prices that were actually used to detex the future gross revenue for each propertgeeadjustments to the benchnr
prices for gravity, quality, local conditions, aad/distance from market, referred to herein asfédintials.” The differentials used in t
preparation of this report were furnished to uNGG.

In addition, the table below summarizes the netima weighted benchmark prices adjusted for diffgmenand referred to herein as
“average realized pricesThe average realized prices shown in the tablevbelere determined from the total future gross rereehefor
production taxes and the total net reserves fogdugraphic area and presented in accordance ®ithdisclosure requirements for each of
geographic areas included in the report.

Average
Price Benchmark Average Realize
Geographic Arei Product Reference Prices Prices
North America
United State Oil/Condensat WTI Cushing $94.71/Bbl $84.92/Bbl
Gas Henry Hub $2.76/MMBTU $4.78/MCF

The effects of derivative instruments designategrae hedges of oil and gas quantities are ndéctfd in our individual proper
evaluations

Costs

The operating costs furnished to us were accemedcual data and reviewed by us for their reasiemass; however, we have
conducted an independent verification of the ofrggatost data used by NOG. No deduction was madiedn repayments, interest expense
exploration and development prepayments that watrelmarged directly to the leases or wells.

Development costs were furnished to us by NOG aadased on authorizations for expenditure forpttogposed work or actual co
for similar projects. The development costs furaito us were accepted as factual data and redibyes for their reasonableness; howe
we have not conducted an independent verificatibthese costs. The estimated net cost of abandunafter salvage was included
properties where abandonment costs net of salvage significant. The estimates of the net abandémingosts furnished by NOG w
accepted without independent verification.




The proved developed non-producing and undeveloggatves in this reporhave been incorporated herein in accordance witNO
plans to develop these reserves as of Decemb&032, The implementation of NOS&tevelopment plans as presented to us and ineeg
herein is subject to the approval process adopted@G’s management. As the result of our inquiries dytire course of preparing this rep
NOG has informed us that the development activitietuded herein have been subjected to and retdhe internal approvals required
NOG's management at the appropriate local, regionabamdrporate level. In addition to the internppeovals as noted, certain developn
activities may still be subject to specific partAéiE processes, Joint Operating Agreement (JOA)irements or other administrative appro
external to NOG. Additionally, NOG has informedthat they are not aware of any legal, regulatpojitical or economic obstacles that wc
significantly alter their plans.

Current costs used by NOG were held constant tiautghe life of the properties.
Standards of Independence and Professional Quadfion

Ryder Scott is an independent petroleum engineeamgulting firm that has been providing petroleconsulting services throught
the world for over seventy-five years. Ryder S#gmployesswned and maintains offices in Houston, Texas; Ben@olorado; and Calga
Alberta, Canada. We have over eighty engineersggandcientists on our permanent staff. By virtiithe size of our firm and the large numr
of clients for which we provide services, no singient or job represents a material portion of aanual revenue. We do not serve as office
directors of any privately-owned or publidsaded oil and gas company and are separate asgdndent from the operating and investr
decisionmaking process of our clients. This allows us tindthe highest level of independence and objégtio each engagement for
services.

Ryder Scott actively participates in industglated professional societies and organizes anamublic forum focused on the subjec
reserves evaluations and SEC regulations. Manyuofstaff have authored or emtthored technical papers on the subject of resemlate:
topics. We encourage our staff to maintain andeoé their professional skills by actively partatipg in ongoing continuing education.

Prior to becoming an officer of the Company, Ry8eott requires that staff engineers and geoscisrfieve received professio
accreditation in the form of a registered or cetifprofessional engineer’s license or a registereckrtified professional geoscientssticense
or the equivalent thereof, from an appropriate govental authority or a recognized self-regulatingfessional organization.

We are independent petroleum engineers with redpeldOG. Neither we nor any of our employees hamg interest in the subje
properties and neither the employment to do thikwmr the compensation is contingent on our edémaf reserves for the properties wi
were reviewed.

The results of this study, presented herein, asedan technical analysis conducted by teams afogEtists and engineers from Ry
Scott. The professional qualifications of the usdmed, the technical person primarily respondibleoverseeing the evaluation of the rese
information discussed in this report, are includsdin attachment to this letter.

Terms of Usage

The results of our third party study, presentedejport form herein, were prepared in accordanch thi¢ disclosure requirements
forth in the SEC regulations and intended for pubisclosure as an exhibit in filings made with 8#C by NOG.

NOG makes periodic filings on Form 10-with the SEC under the 1934 Exchange Act. Funtoee, NOG has certain registrat
statements filed with the SEC under the 1933 Seesirhct into which any subsequently filed FormK.@s incorporated by reference. We h
consented to the incorporation by reference irrdigestration statements on Form S-3 an8l &-NOG of the references to our name as welb
the references to our third party report for NOGijol appears in the December 31, 2012 annual regpoForm 10K of NOG. Our writtel
consent for such use is included as a separatbietdithe filings made with the SEC by NOG.

We have provided NOG with a digital version of thriginal signed copy of this report letter. In tbeent there are any differen
between the digital version included in filings rady NOG and the original signed report letter,dtiginal signed report letter shall control .
supersede the digital version.




The data and work papers used in the preparatitinfeport are available for examination by atittes parties in our offices. Plei
contact us if we can be of further service.

Very truly yours,

RYDER SCOTT COMPANY, L.P.
TBPE Firm Registration No. F-1580

\s\ James L. Baird

James L. Baird, P.E.

Colorado License No. 41521
Managing Senior Vice President




Professional Qualifications of Primary Technical Peson

The conclusions presented in this report are theltref technical analysis conducted by teams ofgentists and engineers from Ryder ¢
Company L.P. James Larry Baird was the primaryrieeth person responsible for overseeing the estirofithe reserves.

Mr. Baird, an employee of Ryder Scott Company I(Eder Scott) since 2006, is a Managing Senior Voesident and also serves as Mar
of the Denver office, responsible for coordinatangl supervising staff and consulting engineerdhi®fcompany in ongoing reservoir evalua
studies worldwide. Before joining Ryder Scott, N&aird served in a number of engineering positiaith Gulf Oil Corporation, Northe!
Natural Gas and Questar Exploration & Productiar. fRore information regarding Mr. Ba's geographic and job specific experience, p
refer to the Ryder Scott Company website at wwvergdott.com/Experience/Employees.

Mr. Baird earned a Bachelor of Science degree inoReim Engineering from the University of Missoati Rolla in 1970 and is a registe
Professional Engineer in the States of Coloradol#tatl. He is also a member of the Society of Petiol Engineers.

In addition to gaining experience and competencpuhh prior work experience, the Colorado and Usatard of Professional Engine
recommend continuing education annually, includibdeast one hour in the area of professional gthihich Mr. Baird fulfills. As part of h
2011 continuing education hours, Mr. Baird attendadnternally presented sixteehours of formalized training as well as a day Iqudplic
forum. Mr. Baird attended the 2011 RSC Reservesfé@ence and various professional society presemstspecifically on the new Sl
regulations relating to the definitions and disatesguidelines contained in the United States $&esiand Exchange Commission Title 17, C
of Federal Regulations, Modernization of Oil andsGQeeporting, Final Rule released January 14, 280the Federal Register. Mr. Be
attended an additional sixteen hours of formalietlouse training as well as three days of formalieegrnal training during 2011 cover
such topics as the SPE/WPC/AAPG/SPEE Petroleum URes® Management System, reservoir engineeringscggwe and petrolet
economics evaluation methods, procedures and seftarad ethics for consultants. Mr. Baird was a kéyrspeaker, presenting the Chan
Landscape of the SEC Reporting, at the 2009 Ungtioreal Gas International Conference held in FodrilV, Texas.

Based on his educational background, professioaaliig and more than 40 years of practical expegein the estimation and evaluatiot
petroleum reserves, Mr. Baird has attained theggsibnal qualifications as a Reserves EstimatoRasgrves Auditor set forth in Article IlI
the “Standards Pertaining to the Estimating andittagl of Oil and Gas Reserves Informatiopfomulgated by the Society of Petrole
Engineers as of February 19, 2007.







